
 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, OX28 1NB 
www.westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000 

 

Tuesday, 19 April 2022 

 

Tel: 01993 861522 

e-mail - democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

COUNCIL 
 

You are summoned to a meeting of the Council which will be held in the Council Chamber, 

Woodgreen, Witney OX28 1NB on Wednesday, 27 April 2022 at 2.00 pm. 

 

 
Giles Hughes 

Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Council 

 

 

 Councillors: Martin McBride (Chairman), Alex Postan (Vice-Chair), Jake Acock, Joy Aitman, Alaa 

Al-Yousuf, Luci Ashbourne, Andrew Beaney, Rosa Bolger, Jill Bull, Mike Cahill, Laetisia 

Carter, Nathalie Chapple, Andrew Coles, Owen Collins, Julian Cooper, Derek 

Cotterill, Suzi Coul, Maxine Crossland, Merilyn Davies, Rupert Dent, Colin Dingwall, 

Jane Doughty, Harry Eaglestone, Duncan Enright, Ted Fenton, Steve Good, Andy 

Goodwin, Andy Graham, Jeff Haine, David Harvey, Gill Hill, David Jackson, Mark 

Johnson, Richard Langridge, Liz Leffman, Nick Leverton, Dan Levy, Norman MacRae 

MBE, Michele Mead, Lysette Nicholls, Mathew Parkinson, Elizabeth Poskitt, Andrew 

Prosser, Carl Rylett, Geoff Saul, Harry St John, Dean Temple, Alex Wilson and Ben 

Woodruff. 

 

Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Cabinet, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. By participating in this meeting, you are consenting to be filmed. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Democratic Services officers know prior to the start of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 18) 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2022. 

 

2.   Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations from Members of the Committee on any items to be 

considered at the meeting 

 

4.   Receipt of Announcements  

To receive any announcements from The Chairman, Leader, Members of the Cabinet or 

the Head of Paid Service. 

 

5.   Participation of the Public  
To receive any submissions from members of the public, in accordance with the 

Council’s Rules of Procedure. 

 

6.   Recommendations from the Executive and the Council's Committees or Sub-

Committees (Pages 19 - 22) 

Purpose: 

To receive and consider recommendations made by the Cabinet and the Council’s 

Committees in the period since 23 February 2022. 

Recommendation: 

That the recommendations set out in Annex 1 to the report be adopted. 

 

7.   Constitution of the Council (Pages 23 - 188) 

Purpose 

This reports provides Council with a summary of the work of the Constitution Working 

Group and asks Council to approve the amended Constitution with effect from Annual 

Council in May 2022. 

 

Recommendation 

Council are asked to approve the revised Constitution with effect from Annual Council 

in May 2022. 

 

8.   Motion - Water and Sewage Infrastructure Funding  

 

The following motion has been proposed by Councillor Langridge with a seconder to be 

sought at the meeting: 

 

“This Council invites the Government to change the appropriate legislation relating to 

the funding of water and sewage infrastructure with the direct objective of speeding up 

the upgrading of our water and sewage infrastructure that has fallen way below the 

standards required today and resulted in serious deterioration of the quality of water in 
our rivers Windrush and Evenlode. 

 

Page 2



 

The motion requests that the law be changed so that developers/landowners have to 

meet, via a S106 agreement or CIL,  the cost of any new or enlarged water main, sewer 

pipe or surface water pipes and STW (Sewage Treatment Works) upgrade that their 

development requires to ensure that the additional dwellings effluent can be dealt with 

without flooding/surcharges, storm event overflows etc from the relevant sewers or 

STWs. 

 

We ask the Leader of the Council to write to the appropriate Government Minister on 

behalf of the Council to request this action be taken. 

 

The current state of affairs is generally accepted as a national disgrace even on the 

admission of the water companies.” 

 

9.   Emergency / Urgency Delegated Decisions (Pages 189 - 192) 

Purpose 

To advise of the decisions taken under the emergency and urgency delegation 

arrangements approved by Council on 13 May 2020. 

 

Recommendation 

That the report be noted. 

 

Page 3



 

 
10.   Report of the Cabinet and the Council's Committees (Pages 193 - 216) 

To receive the reports of the following meetings of the Cabinet and the Council’s 

Committees.  Unless otherwise stated, copies are attached: 

a) Economic & Social 
Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee 

27 January 2022   To follow 

b) Environment Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee 

3 February 2022 Attached 

c) Finance & Management 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

9 February 2022 Attached 

d) Economic & Social 

Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee 

10 February 2022 To follow 

e) Cabinet 16 February 2022 Attached 

f) Audit & General 

Purposes 

17 February 2022 Attached 

g) Economic & Social 

Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee 

31 March 2022 None – meeting 

cancelled 

h) Joint Climate & 

Environment Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee 

7 April 2022 To follow 

i) Finance & Management 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

13 April 2022 To follow 

j) Cabinet 20 April 2022 Meeting still to 

take place 

k) Audit & General 

Purposes 

 

20 April 2022 

Meeting still to 

take place 

 

 

11.   Sealing of Documents (Pages 217 - 220) 

Purpose: 

To note the documents sealed since the last report. 

Recommendation: 

That the report be noted 

 

 

Page 4



WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Council 

Held in the Council Chamber at 2.00 pm on Wednesday, 23 February 2022 

PRESENT 

Councillors: Martin McBride (Chairman), Alex Postan (Vice-Chair),  Alaa Al-Yousuf, Andrew 

Beaney, Jill Bull, Mike Cahill, Andrew Coles, Owen Collins, Julian Cooper, Derek Cotterill, 

Suzi Coul, Maxine Crossland, Merilyn Davies, Rupert Dent, Colin Dingwall, Jane Doughty, 

Harry Eaglestone, Ted Fenton, Andy Goodwin, Andy Graham, Jeff Haine, David Harvey, Gill 

Hill, David Jackson, Mark Johnson, Richard Langridge, Liz Leffman, Dan Levy, Norman MacRae 

MBE, Michele Mead, Lysette Nicholls, Mathew Parkinson, Elizabeth Poskitt, Andrew Prosser, 

Geoff Saul, Harry St John, Dean Temple, Alex Wilson and Ben Woodruff. 

Officers:  Elizabeth Griffiths (Chief Finance Officer, Deputy Chief Executive and Section 151 

Officer), Giles Hughes (Chief Executive), Frank Wilson (Group Finance Director - Publica), 

Amy Bridgewater-Carnall (Democratic Services Manager) and Angela Claridge (Interim 

Monitoring Officer). 

CL.24 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2022 were approved and signed by the 

Chairman as a correct record. 

CL.25 Apologies for Absence  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jake Acock, Joy Aitman,  Rosa Bolger, 

Laetisia Carter, Nathalie Chapple, Duncan Enright, Steve Good, Nick Leverton, and Carl 

Rylett. 

CL.26 Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest received. 

CL.27 Receipt of Announcements  

Evelyn Mary Coles 

The Chairman advised the meeting of the sad passing of former District and Town Councillor 

Evelyn Mary Coles who passed away at the age of 81 at the end of January 2022. 

 

Eve was first elected as a District Councillor representing the Chipping Norton Ward in 1994 

and served up until 2015.  She was also a Chipping Norton Town Councillor for 39 years.  Eve 

was the sole Labour Councillor for many years at the Council until the arrival of Councillors 

Duncan Enright, Andrew Coles and the late Rob Evans, a fellow Chipping Norton Councillor 

and friend, in 2012. 

 

During her time at the Council she was a member of a number of Committees, beginning on 

the Public Health and Recreation Committees before moving on to the Environment, Leisure 

and Tourism and Waste Management Committees.  Eve was also a valued member of a 

number of working groups including the Refuse Collection / Recycling Best Value Service 

Review Group. 

 

Aside her District and Town responsibilities, Mrs Coles was very active in supporting the 

Greenham Women in the peace movement, protested against the bombing of Libya and 

supported the South Wales miners during the Miners Strike of 1984-1985.   

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Council 

23/February2022 

Councillors Saul, Cahill and Harvey shared memories with the Committee and the Chair 

concluded with a moments silence. 

 

Customer Services Move 

The Leader Michele Mead announce that the Customer Service Team were now operating 

from the refurbished site at Welsh Way and were open to the public. 

 

Welcome Back Fund 

Councillor Coul announced that £200,000.00 had been allocated from the Welcome Back fund 

with various projects benefitting including Loyal Free as well as the ice skating facility in 

Witney and Carterton.  The ice skating sessions had been fully booked, which was testament 

to the appreciation felt by residents and families during half term. 

CL.28 Participation of the Public  

Ashley Smith from the Windrush Wasp Group attended and addressed the Committee in 

relation to Agenda Item 8, the Thames Water Motion. 

 

Following the conclusion of Mr Smith’s address, the Chairman of the Environment Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Al-Yousuf, thanked him and Professor Hammond for 

attending and welcomed the offer of collaborative working. 

 

The Cabinet Member for Environment, Councillor MacRae, recognised the work of Mr Smith 

and Professor Hammond, along with the support from Philip Dunn MP.  He expressed his 

gratitude for their expertise in analysing the data and thanked them for their input and 

attendance. 

CL.29 Recommendations from the Executive  

Council were asked to consider the recommendations made by Cabinet and the Council’s 

Committee since its last meeting.  A list of the recommendations was attached at Annex 1 to 

the report. 

 

Councillor Mead introduced the report and requested that the recommendations relating to 

the budget for 2022/23 be considered after agenda item number 16 relating to the reports of 

the Cabinet and the Council’s Committees.  Therefore, Members noted that they were 

looking at the decision relating to the External Auditor contract. 

 

The Leader therefore proposed that the two recommendations from the Audit & General 

Purposes Committee be approved as laid out and this was duly seconded by Councillor Coul. 

 

Resolved that the following recommendations, as set out in Annex 1 to the report be agreed: 

 

a) the options for procuring the Council’s external audit service for the period from 2023/24 

are noted; and 

b) procurement through the National Procurement Framework using Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Ltd, is approved. 

CL.30 Budget 2022/2023  

The Council considered the recommendations made by Cabinet at its meeting held on 

16 February 2022 relating to 2022/23 Budget.   

 

Page 6



Council 

23/February2022 

The Leader, Councillor Mead introduced the report and outlined her proposals in the 

traditional budget speech.  A copy of the speech is attached as an appendix to the minutes. 

 

Councillor Mead acknowledged the events, turmoil and impact of the last year.  She advised 

on the number of support grants provided along with the processing of £49 million to a broad 

spectrum of businesses in West Oxfordshire.  Councillor Mead went on to confirm sufficient 

funding to cover the Council’s revenue expenditure and was pleased to be able to present a 

balanced budget despite the alterations to funding made by government just before Christmas. 

 

The Council Adopted Recovery Investment Strategy and the difficulties encountered in finding 

suitable investments was referred to with reassurances that opportunities were always being 

investigated.  Councillor Mead reminded the meeting that free parking was still committed to 

along with grants to the voluntary sector and community facilities grants.  New ways of 

working were actively being explored with Ubico to find ways of reducing the cost of 

delivering the waste service and the Council Tax was still the second lowest shire district in 

England. 

 

Councillor Mead concluded by thanking the Cabinet Member for Finance, the scrutiny 

committees and the Chief Finance officer and her team for their huge efforts in bringing the 

budget together.  She therefore proposed the recommendations as laid out.  These were 

seconded by Councillor Coul who reserved her right to speak until after the debate. 

 

Councillor Graham addressed the meeting and reiterated the compliments to all staff for 

keeping services running.  He thanked officers for responding to his queries and felt that the 

budget contained some good proposals.  He referred to the difficulties encountered in keeping 
the planning system on the road but was concerned at the number of staff that had left the 

authority for more competitive salaries.  Councillor Graham did not feel that the Council had 

looked after its staff as well as it could have done and criticised the lack of planning that had 

gone into replacing the Monitoring Officer role.  He concluded by referring to the £5 uplift to 

the Council Tax which he did not feel would help residents and advised that the Liberal 

Democrats were not satisfied there was a long term strategy in place.  For that reason, he 

advised that the Liberal Democrat members would be abstaining from the vote. 

 

Councillor Saul spoke and repeated the thanks to the finance team for their patience and 

understanding when explaining processes to Members.  He reminded the meeting of the 

financial ‘cliff edge’ that had been lurking for some time and despite this the Council had 

retained its core services.  Councillor Saul stated that this was a cautious budget but that the 

funding streams were problematic and would be difficult for any administration to deal with.  

However, he felt that central government needed to provide greater autonomy, and the 

resultant council tax rise was inevitable.  He stated that the Labour Party believed this to be a 

regressive tax and for that reason would be abstaining from the vote. 

Councillor Prosser echoed his thanks to the finance department and advised that he did not 

feel that Planning was keeping pace with the growing population.  He felt that the Capital 

Programme should be scrutinised properly and he would not be able to vote until that 

happened.  

 

A number of Members added their gratitude to the staff who had carried out a good job under 

difficult circumstances.  Councillor Coles noted the helpful briefing that the Labour Group had 

received from the finance officers and requested more investment to deal with Air Quality 

issues and sewerage pollution. 

 

Page 7



Council 

23/February2022 

Councillor Al-Yousuf reminded the meeting that despite the challenges faced the Council had 

kept the cost of services down and the operating expenditure was down on last year.  He 

provided a breakdown of the Council Tax levels residents in his Ward were paying and 

highlighted the levels being paid to Thames Valley Police and the County Council.  Councillor 

Al-Yousuf felt this was a prudent budget and should be approved. 

 

The Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Councillor Haine expressed disappointment in the 

comments being made about the Planning Service because there was a gross shortage of 

students in this field of work.  He recognised that this was a nationwide issues and work had 

been completed to ensure that competitive salaries were being offered. 

 

Councillor Cooper expressed his views on Council Tax which he reminded the meeting was 

unfair because it was not related to the ability to pay but related to the property lived in.  He 

reiterated his frustrations at being unable to amend the funding for solar energy and solar 

panels and did not feel the Council was progressing in line with partner Councils.  He 

concluded by referring to the funding for parish and town councils in relation to car parking. 

 

Councillor Davies expressed her disappointment in the level of dissent in the chamber and had 

hoped the work completed over the past two years could be voted on together.  She 

recognised that the focus should be on residents and stated that it was shame the Council was 

not united. 

 

In seconding the proposal, Councillor Coul echoed the comments made by Councillor Davies, 

and reminded the meeting that Cotswold District Council had no reserves left due to a lack of 

prudence.  Having heard the comments made by the opposition groups, she was disappointed 
that no alternatives had been put forward.  However, she noted that the lack of alternatives 

was due to the fact that there were none available. 

 

Councillor Coul reminded the meeting that there were many Councils across the country 

who would be envious of the financial position West Oxfordshire found itself in.  She assured 

the meeting that all savings, efficiencies and grants were continuously being investigated in full 

and checks and balances repeatedly carried out.  She concluded by recommending the budget 

which was prudent and allowed the Council to continue to deliver for its residents. 

 

As required by statute, voting on the proposition was recorded, and the voting was as follows: 

 

For the proposition: Councillors Al-Yousuf, Beaney, Bull, Cotterill, Coul, Crossland, Davies, 

Dent, Dingwall, Doughty, Eaglestone, Fenton, Haine, Harvey, Hill, Johnson, Langridge, MacRae, 

McBride, Mead, Nicholls, Postan, St John, Temple, Wilson and Woodruff (26). 

 

Abstentions: Councillors Cahill, Coles, Collins, Cooper, Goodwin, Graham, Jackson, Leffman, 

Levy, Parkinson, Poskitt, Prosser and Saul (13). 

 

There being 26 votes in favour, none against and 13 abstentions, the proposition was carried. 

 

Resolved that the following be approved: 

 

(i) The updated Medium Term Financial Strategy in Annex A  

(ii) General Fund revenue budgets as summarised in Annex B  

(iii) The Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2030/31 set out in Annex E  

(iv) Fees and Charges for 2022/23 as set out in Annex D  

Page 8



Council 

23/February2022 

(v) The Council’s Pay Policy Statement as set out in Annex F  

(vi) The Council’s Capital Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Annex G  

(vii) The Council’s Investment Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Annex H  

(viii) The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Annex I  

CL.31 Council Tax 2022/2023  

Members received a report from the Chief Finance Officer which would enable the Council to 

calculate and set the Council Tax for 2022/23, as set out at Annex A to the report. 

 

The Leader introduced the report and proposed the recommendations as written.  These 

were seconded by Councillor Coul. 

 

As per legislation, a recorded vote was taken and the result was as follows: 

 

For the proposition: Councillors Al Yousuf, Beaney, Bull, Cahill, Coles, Collins, Cotterill, Coul, 

Crossland, Davies, Dent, Dingwall, Doughty, Eaglestone, Fenton, Haine, Harvey, Hill, Jackson, 

Johnson, Langridge, MacRae, McBride, Mead, Nicholls, Postan, Prosser, Saul, St John, Temple, 

Wilson and Woodruff (32). 

 

Abstentions: Councillors Cooper, Goodwin, Graham, Leffman, Levy, Parkinson, Poskitt (7). 

 

There being 32 votes in favour, none against and 7 abstentions, the proposition was carried. 

 

Resolved that the following be approved: 

 

1) for the purpose of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 Section 35(2), there are no 

special expenses for the District Council in 2022/23; 

2) it be noted that at its meeting held on 19 January 2022 the Cabinet acknowledged the 

calculation of the Council Tax Base for 2022/23: 

a) for the whole Council area as 46,172.41 [item T in the formula in Section 31B of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the “Act”)]; and 

b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish Precept relates as in the 

attached Schedule 1. 

3) the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 2022/23 (excluding Parish 

Precepts and Special Expenses) is £114.38; 

4) the following amounts be calculated for the year 2022/23 in accordance with Sections 31 to 

36 of the Act: 

a) £50,442,736  being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 

items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act, taking into account all precepts issued to it 

by Parish Councils and any additional special expenses. 

b) £40,736,882 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (3) of the Act. 

c) £9,705,854 being the amount by which the aggregate at 4(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at 4(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31A(4) 
of the Act, as its Council Tax requirement for the year (Item R in the formula in 
Section 31B of the Act). 

d) £210.21  being the amount at 4(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (2(a) above), 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish Precepts and Special 
Expenses); 

Page 9



Council 

23/February2022 

e) £4,424,653 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish Precepts and Special 
Expenses) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act as per the attached Schedule 2; 

f) £114.38 being the amount at 4(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 

4(e) above by Item T(2(a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 

34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in 

those parts of its area to which no Parish Precept or special item relates; 

g) the amounts shown in Schedule 2 being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 

4(f) above, the amounts of the special item or items relating to dwellings in those parts 

of the Council’s area shown in Schedule 2 divided in each case by the amount at 2(b) 

above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the 

basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to 

which one or more special items relate; 

h) the amounts shown in Schedule 3 being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts 

at 4(f) and 4(g) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of 

the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the 

number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation Band D, 

calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts 

to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in 

different valuation bands; 

5) it be noted that for the year 2022/23 the Oxfordshire County Council and the Police and 

Crime Commissioner for the Thames Valley have issued precepts to the Council, in 

accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each category 

of dwellings in the Council’s area as indicated below: 

 

Valuation 
band 

Oxfordshire County 
Council £ 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner for 
Thames Valley £ 

A £1,101.07 £160.85 
B £1,284.59 £187.66 
C £1,468.10 £214.47 
D £1,651.61 £241.28 
E £2,018.63 £294.90 
F £2,385.66 £348.52 
G £2,752.68 £402.13 
H £3,303.22 £482.56 

 
6) the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 

1992, hereby sets the amounts shown in Schedule 4 as the amounts of Council Tax for the 

year 2022/23 for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings; 

7) the Council’s basic amount of Council Tax for 2022/23 is not excessive in accordance with 

principles approved under Section 52ZB Local Government Finance Act 1992; and 

8) the following Council/Publica Officers:  Chief Finance Officer, Group Manager – Resident 

Services, Legal Services Manager, Legal Executive, Business Manager – Operational Support, 

Revenues Manager, Revenues Lead and Court Officer be authorised to: 

a) collect and recover any National Non-Domestic Rates and Council Tax, and 

b) prosecute or defend on the Council’s behalf or to appear on its behalf in proceedings 

before a magistrate’s court in respect of unpaid National Non-Domestic Rates and 

Council Tax. 

CL.32 Motion - Thames Water 

  

Page 10



Council 

23/February2022 

The following motion was proposed by Councillor Graham and seconded by Councillor 

MacRae: 

 
"This Council believes that historical underinvestment in the sewerage infrastructure in West 

Oxfordshire and further up the catchments of the rivers Windrush, Evenlode and other Thames 

tributaries in West Oxfordshire has led to a marked deterioration in water quality in these rivers 

and in the Thames due to excessive spills of untreated or partially treated sewage in both storm 

and normal conditions.  

 

The Council would like to receive the following details :-  

 

 Capital improvements by Sewage Treatment Works (STW) over the last ten years ( 

description and cost) ;  


 Operating capacity analysed by STW over each of the last ten years;  

 

 Capital Plans by STW over the next five years (description and estimated cost);  

 

 Number of spills by STW over each of the last ten years together with reason for spill;  

 

 Details, including logs, of failures at pumping stations, and to include downtimes and the use of 

tankers;  

 

 The level of any fines levied by the regulator or courts for spills over each of the last ten 

years."  

 

Councillor Graham introduced the motion by thanking members of WASP and elected 

members from all political persuasions as this was an all party motion.  He hoped that the 

motion demonstrated the seriousness of the Council in keeping this issue in their sights and 

that the answers to the questions above would help get to the truth of the matter.  Councillor 

Graham concluded by reiterating that Climate Change was happening now and urgent action 

was needed form the Government to step up and change the laws. 

 

In seconding the motion, the Cabinet Member for Environment, Councillor MacRae added his 

thanks to WASP for their work and reiterated that this issue affected all rivers in the District.  

He reminded Members that the District Council had no powers over the water authorities 

but did have the ability to question and use its influence to bring about change. 

 

Councillor Leffman added her support to the motion and described her own experiences of 

failed pumping stations emitting effluence into the streets.  She agreed that the responsibility 

lay with government as the companies were not regulated effectively but were guided by 

shareholders.  Councillor Leffman felt it was important to make it apparent to government 

that the Council would not tolerate the deterioration of services. 

 

Councillor Coles agreed with the comments made and advised that having walked alongside 

the Windrush river recently, the levels of pollution were obvious due to the noticeable lack of 

wildfowl and insects. 

 

Councillor St John raised the issue of wet wipes causing blockages in the sewage system, along 

with new developments placing more pressure on the system.  He also felt that OffWat had an 

important part to play in monitoring these companies. 

Page 11



Council 

23/February2022 

 

Councillor Levy added his experiences of visiting the Cassington Sewage Treatment Works 

and noted that there had been instances over the past six months when treatment works 

weren’t working properly, resulting in tankers having to empty the effluence and remove it to 

Cassington. 

 

Councillor Cotterill requested that pumping stations be included in the motion and described 

an instance whereby a water authority collected all of the wet wipes blocking their system and 

returned them to the manufacturer, with a bill for the works.  Councillor MacRae agreed that 

this should be added to the motion. 

 

Councillor Al-Yousuf also described his visit to the Cassington Treatment Works in October 

2020 at the request of WASP.  He felt that some of the problems had been in existence for 

some time, involving previous governments and referred to the chemicals and pharmaceuticals 

also entering the system. 

 

Councillor Prosser supported the motion, praised the work of the Water Days, initiated by 

Councillor Harvey and recognised that more influence was needed via the planning system as 

infrastructure had not kept pace with development. 

 

Councillor Postan noted the infrastructure comments made and felt that private investment in 

public initiatives should be explored. 

 

Councillor Goodwin provided an example of a resident complaint he had assisted with in 

which he had found Thames Water to not be genuine or concerned.  He reiterated that more 
control and better governance was required to focus on visibility and better information 

sharing. 

 

Councillor Graham thanked his colleagues for their contributions and hoped that progress 

would be achieved with the growing community swell of opinion.  Whilst he recognised there 

were big challenges ahead, he felt the motion was a small but meaningful step. 

 

The motion was then put to the vote and was passed unanimously. 

 

Approved 

CL.33 Motion - Healthy Place Shaping  

The following motion had been proposed by Councillor Merilyn Davies and seconded by 

Councillor Lysette Nicholls: 

 
This motion resolves that:  

 

“Each Member commits to being a champion for Healthy Place Shaping utilising the core principles 

of Healthy Place Shaping (& the tools available to them) to influence and underpin all aspects of 

their work. To recognise that within their role as Members, their commitment is crucial to the 

organisation wide adoption of Healthy Place Shaping. Actively encouraging/challenging one another, 

officers, Parish, and Town Councils to use Healthy Place Shaping approaches, to influence future 

decisions for council services, ensuring that they have the best possible outcomes for the health 

and wellbeing of all residents of West Oxfordshire.”  

 

Page 12



Council 

23/February2022 

Councillor Davies introduced the motion and in recognising the work of the Healthy Place Shaping 

officer, hoped that Councillors would support embedding the theme in all Council work.  

 

Councillor Levy thanked Councillors Davies and Nicholls for the motion and recognised there had 

been a lot of Healthy Place Shaping work undertaken in Eynsham with regards to the new 

settlement.  He thanked officers and Councillors and hoped that the theme would be included in 

the Master Plan for Eynsham as he felt some developers but not all were committed to this.   

 

Councillor Graham applauded the proposer for circulating the short, five minute video which had 

encapsulated the message well.  He felt the motion was the first step in sending the message to 

developers. 

 

Councillor Leffman referred to how this theme needed to be at the heart of decisions and should 

underpin every policy and action.  She proposed that the Economic & Social Overview & scrutiny 

Committee look into this further to see how it could be brought into every role.  However, 

following further discussions with Councillors Davies and Coul it was agreed that it was important 

to embed the process in Council now.  The amendment was therefore withdrawn. 

 

The motion was therefore put to the vote and unanimously 

 

Approved 

 

The Chairman announced a short break at 3.35pm and the meeting resumed at 3.45pm. 

CL.34 Motion - Climate Action Working Group  

The following motion was proposed by Councillor Andy Goodwin and seconded by 

Councillor Cooper 

 
Motion to continue the running of WODC Climate Action Working Group meetings “as is” with 

no pause and no disruption. To overturn the announcement made at the Climate Action Working 

Group meeting on Feb 3rd that was “with immediate effect, this is the last Climate Action Working 

Group meeting”.  

 

In response, the Chairman of the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee proposed an 

alternative motion which read: 

 

“This Council notes the important work of the Climate Action Working Group in progressing 

our commitment to tackling the climate emergency and embedding this in every aspect of 

Council workings.  The Group’s work has now reached a point where a wider involvement 

from Councillors would be appropriate, as well as allowing greater public engagement with 

our climate objectives; to that end, it is proposed that the work of the Climate Action 

Working Group be incorporated into the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee and 
that this committee then be renamed, the Climate and Environment Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee.  In this way, the Group’s work can be continued and strengthened along with 

increasing transparency and accountability.” 

 

Councillor Goodwin introduced the original motion and reiterated his reasons for wanting the 

working group to remain in its current form.  He felt the officers and Chair had done a 

fantastic job and were making good progress.  However, he had concerns that combining the 

working group with the existing scrutiny committee would have an impact on the length of the 

meeting and could dilute the work of the group. 

 

Page 13



Council 

23/February2022 

The Chairman of Environment Overview & Scrutiny, Councillor Al-Yousuf, supported the 

amended motion from Councillor Harvey and felt the working group had served its purpose.  

He did not feel there would be any conflict in combining the two workstreams and would 

result in a more inclusive, open and accessible meeting, allowing public participation. 

 

Viewpoints across the Chamber varied with some Members feeling that there could be a 

reduction in focus on climate change and the decision could be taken once the scrutiny 

committee review had been undertaken.  However, it was noted that should the work of the 

amended scrutiny committee become too immense, working groups could be set up to look at 

specific issues. 

 

Councillor Langridge felt that the most important issue was that the work continued and it 

could result in having more teeth at scrutiny level. 

 

The Vice-Chair of Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Coles 

seconded the amended motion and felt it would be sensible to embed the Climate Action 

work into the work of the committee.  He agreed that this would result in a more inclusive 

meeting, allowing the public to attend, which they were unable to do with the working group 

at present.   

 

Councillor MacRae agreed with these comments and noted there would be greater 

transparency of minutes and agendas, enabling public participation.  He reminded the meeting 

that the working group had been established following a motion at Council and he applauded 

the work of the Climate Change Manager in that time. 

 
To sum up, Councillor Al-Yousuf noted the concerns raised and felt that the logistics of the 

meetings could be managed by arranging additional dates or dedicating agendas to specific 

themes.   

 

Having been proposed and duly seconded, the amendment was voted on and was carried. 

 

Councillor Goodwin did not feel that the working group had served its purpose and reiterated 

his concerns regarding a separation of focus.  Councillor Cooper commented that he felt 

scrutiny committees should be developing policy and telling Cabinet to carry it out. 

 

The substantive motion was put to the vote and was carried.  It was therefore 

 

Resolved that this Council notes the important work of the Climate Action Working Group in 

progressing our commitment to tackling the climate emergency and embedding this in every 

aspect of Council workings.  The Group’s work has now reached a point where a wider 

involvement from Councillors would be appropriate, as well as allowing greater public 

engagement with our climate objectives; to that end, it is proposed that the work of the 

Climate Action Working Group be incorporated into the Environment Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee and that this committee then be renamed, the Climate and Environment Overview 

& Scrutiny Committee.  In this way, the Group’s work can be continued and strengthened 

along with increasing transparency and accountability. 

CL.35 Political Composition of the Council and formation of Political Groups  

Members received a report which advised them of the notifications received under Regulation 

8 of the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 giving the 

Page 14



Council 

23/February2022 

composition of political groups and asked them to note the impact on the proportionality of 

allocated seats to Committees. 

 

The Leader congratulated Councillor Langridge on the newly formed Independent Group and 

welcomed him as a new Group Leader.  With regards to the allocation of seats, it was 

proposed that Group Leaders meet to look at the memberships. 

 

Councillor Mead highlighted that due to the proximity of the May elections, a revised 

proportionality calculation would be carried out following the election. 

 

It was therefore  

 

Resolved that the report be noted. 

CL.36 Designation of Monitoring Officer  

Members received a report which asked them to approve the designation of the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

The report noted that the existing arrangements for the interim designation of Monitoring 

Officer would come to an end on 28 February 2022 when the current Monitoring Officer, 

Angela Claridge, took up her full time substantive role as Monitoring Officer at Cotswold 

District Council. 

 

The report proposed that Susan Sale be designated as the Council’s Monitoring Officer on an 

interim 12 month basis with effect from 1st March 2022.  Susan Sale was currently employed 

on a full time permanent basis as the Head of Law and Governance at Oxford City Council 

and was designated as the Monitoring Officer for that authority.  It was anticipated that the 

Monitoring Officer would remain an employee of Oxford City Council whilst being seconded 

to West Oxfordshire District Council for the interim period, and would dedicate two days a 

week to the role. 

 

In addition, the report highlighted that it was the intention of the Monitoring Officer to 

designate Susan Gargett and Amy Bridgewater-Carnall as Deputy Monitoring Officers on an 

interim 12 month basis with effect from 1st March 2022. 

 

The Leader introduced the report and provided some background information explaining the 

staff changes over the past year.  She proposed the recommendations as laid out and these 

were seconded by Councillor Davies.  

 

Concerns were raised about the financial implications for the Council and whether the role 

could be carried out in two days a week.   

 

Members noted the difficulties experienced in recruiting to the role and agreed that it was an 

area of work of the utmost importance. 

 

Councillor St John queried the lack of information relating to the financial implications in the 

budget considered by scrutiny in February and suggested that this was a role that could be 

shared across Publica.  In response, the Chief Executive advised that a shared role had been 

discussed with Publica partners, but had not been considered suitable. 

 

Page 15



Council 

23/February2022 

In response to the reference to the budget, Councillor Coul advised that some of these costs 

were in the budget as staffing expenses but reminded them that at that stage, the budget was 

still fluid. 

 

Councillor Cooper felt that Members had been presented with this at the last minutes and 

expressed the view that the Audit and General Purposes Committee should have looked at 

this as the ‘personnel committee’. 

 

The Chief Executive reiterated that a number of other Oxfordshire Councils had been 

approached, advised that the appointment was of a very experienced and capable Monitoring 

Officer but this was not a role that was felt could be shared three ways. 

 

It was noted that the finances referred to in the report also covered the staffing costs of the 

interim officers back office team. 

 

Having considered the report, it was 

 

Resolved that 

 

a) Susan Sale be designated as the Council’s Monitoring Officer on an interim 12 month basis 

with effect from 1st March 2022; and 

b) the intention of the Monitoring Officer to designate Susan Gargett and Amy Bridgewater-

Carnall as Deputy Monitoring Officers on an interim 12 month basis with effect from 1st 

March 2022, is noted. 

CL.37 Change of name for South Leigh Parish Council  

Members received a report from the Interim Monitoring Officer which asked them to 

consider a change of name request from South Leigh Parish Council to South Leigh and High 

Cogges Parish Council. 

 

The report advised that Section 75 of the Local Government Act 1972 allowed principle 

councils, at the request of a parish within the area, to change the name of the parish council.  

 

At their meeting on 15 November 2021, the Parish Council of South Leigh resolved to make 

an application, pursuant to section 75 of the local Government Act 1972, to change their 

name to “the Parish Council of South Leigh and High Cogges”.  It was felt that the change 

would mean greater inclusivity and ensure that organisations recognised that the Parish 

Council represented High Cogges as well as South Leigh. 

The proposed changes was communicated to the MP, the relevant District and County 

Councillors and to the community of South Leigh and High Cogges using various methods.  

Following the deadline of 31 December 2021, it was noted that no objections had been 

received. 

 

The Leader introduced the report and highlighted that the ‘Wards Affected’ on the front sheet 

of the report should read Eynsham.  Councillor Mead proposed the recommendation as laid 

out and this was seconded by Councillor Nicholls. 

 

Having considered the report, Council 

 

Resolved that the name of South Leigh Parish Council be changed to South Leigh & High 

Cogges Parish Council. 

Page 16



Council 

23/February2022 

CL.38 Climate Action Bi-Annual Report  

Members received the bi-annual report from the Climate Change Manager which outlined the 

climate action taken by West Oxfordshire District Council in response to the climate and 

ecological emergency during the last six months: July 2021-January 2022. 

 

Attached to the report were the Results of the Land Management Plan community 

engagement exercise carried out, Winter 2021, attached at Annex 1, a Hedgehog Highway 

poster at Annex 2 and the Carbon Account for WODC 2020/21 at Annex 3. 

 

The report described the progress and activities for climate action, which were reported 

under two headings: Climate Change Strategy for West Oxfordshire, 2021-2025 (published 

Feb, 2021); and Carbon Action Plan (published Oct, 2020). 

 

The Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Councillor Harvey, introduced the report and 

assured the meeting that as Portfolio Holder he was ensuring the Council did not take their 

foot off the pedal.  He expressed his gratitude to all Members of the Climate Action Working 

Group who had produced some sterling work to date and confirmed that all Climate Action 

work would continue to be reported through the newly entitled Climate and Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Councillor Harvey felt that a lot of work had been 

achieved over the past six months, work that he was proud of and was pleased to be 

presenting to Members.   

 

He advised that over 350 residents now received the newsletter and he highlighted the future 

work being planned for the decarbonisation of the Carterton Leisure Centre.  Councillor 

Harvey therefore proposed the report as laid out. 
 

Having considered the report, Council 

 

Resolved that the contents of the biannual report on climate action for West Oxfordshire be 

noted for information. 

CL.39 Emergency / Urgency Delegations and Decisions  

A report outlining the decisions taken under the emergency and urgency delegation 

arrangements approved by Council on 13 May 2020 was received. 

 

The report advised that the Chief Executive had used his delegated powers to approve the 

Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) policy in December 2021 and this was reported to 

Council on 26 January 2022 (see minute number CL.19).  Since that time, it had become 

apparent that the policy needed amending to ensure the date a business must be trading from 

is included.  This amendment had now been included within paragraph 202 of the policy. 

 

The Leader outlined the report and advised that this was a minor amendment to the policy 

and asked Members to note the report. 

 

Council, therefore 

 

Resolved that the report is noted. 

CL.40 Report of the Cabinet and the Council's Committees  

Page 17



Council 

23/February2022 

Due to the omission of a number of sets of minutes, the Chairman advised that this item 

would be carried forward to the next meeting. 

CL.41 Sealing of Documents 

 

Resolved that the document be noted. 

 

The Meeting closed at 4.40 pm 

 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 18



 

 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

Council: Wednesday 27 April 2022 

Report Number Agenda Item No. 6 

Subject Recommendations from the Executive and the Council’s Committees or 

Sub-Committees 

Wards affected All 

Accountable member Councillor Michele Mead, Leader of the Council 

Email: michele.mead@westoxon.gov.uk  

Accountable officer Amy Bridgewater-Carnall, Senior Strategic Support Officer 

Email: amy.bridgewater-carnall@westoxon.gov.uk  

Summary/Purpose To consider the recommendations made by Cabinet and the Council’s 

Committees since its last meeting. 

Annexes Annex 1 – Schedule of recommendations 

Recommendation That the recommendations set out in Annex 1 to the report be adopted. 

Corporate priorities  1.1. To support the Council’s priorities to protect the environment whilst 

supporting the local economy, to meet the current and future needs of 

residents and to provide efficient and value for money services, whilst 

delivering quality front line services. 

Key Decision 1.2. No 

Exempt 1.3. No 

Consultees/ 

Consultation 

1.4. None 

  

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

mailto:michele.mead@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:amy.bridgewater-carnall@westoxon.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1. The Council is required to consider recommendations made by the Cabinet and the 

Council’s Committees since its last meeting. 

 

2. MAIN POINTS  

2.1. All decisions taken by Cabinet at the March meeting were in the Cabinet’s gift to 

make and there are no recommendations to be made to Council. 

2.2. Cabinet is due to meet on Wednesday 20 April 2022, after the publication of this 

agenda.  However, at the present time, the agenda does not include any reports 

which contain recommendations to Council. 

2.3. The Standards Sub-Committee considered the revised draft Code of Conduct for 

West Oxfordshire at their meeting on 23 March 2022 along with the Local Hearing 

Panel Procedure Rules. 

2.4. The Standards Sub-Committee agreed that the Code of Conduct be recommended 

to Council for adoption from 18 May 2022. 

2.5. It is proposed that both of these documents be included in the revised Constitution 

which is being considered at Item 7 on this agenda. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1. Any financial implications of the proposed decisions are as set out in the associated 

reports to Cabinet and/or Committees. 

 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. None 

 

5. RISK ASSESSMENT 

5.1. Not applicable 

 

6. CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS  

6.1. Whilst there may be climate change implications arising from specific items within 

the schedule, there are none arising directly from this report. 

 

7. ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS  

7.1. The above are as set out in the relevant reports to the meetings of the 

Cabinet/Committee, and the decisions or minutes of those meetings. 

 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

8.1. None

Page 20



 

Annex 1 

 Meeting and Date Subject and Agenda Item 
No. or  Minute Reference 

Recommendations 

1. Standards Sub-

Committee – 23 

March 2022 

Oxfordshire Wide Code 

of Conduct 

b) To recommend to West Oxfordshire District Council that they 

formally adopt the Code of Conduct for Members effective from 18 May 

2022; and 

c) To recommend to West Oxfordshire District Council that they include 
the Code of Conduct for Members within their Constitution effective 

from18 May 2022. 

 

2. Standards Sub-

Committee – 23 
March 2022 

Hearings Procedure That the Local Hearing Panel Procedure Rules be included in the revised 

Constitution effective from 18 May 2022. 

 P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

Council – 27 April 2022 

Report Number Agenda Item 7 

Subject CONSTITUTION OF THE COUNCIL 

Wards affected ALL 

Accountable 

member 

Suzi Coul, Chair of the Constitution Working Group 

Email: suzi.coul@westoxon.gov.uk  

Accountable officer Claire Hughes, Business Manager for Corporate Responsibility  

claire.hughes@publicagroup.uk   

Summary/Purpose This reports provides Council with a summary of the work of the 

Constitution Working Group and asks Council to approve the amended 

Constitution with effect from Annual Council in May 2022.  

Annexes Annex A -  Revised Constitution 

Recommendation/s Council are asked to approve the revised Constitution with effect from 

Annual Council in May 2022.  

Corporate priorities  1.1. Modern Council Services and Sustainable Finance: Delivering excellent 

modern services whilst ensuring the financial sustainability of the Council 

Key Decision 1.2. No 

Exempt 1.3. No 

Consultees/ 

Consultation 

1.4. Constitution Working Group 

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

mailto:suzi.coul@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hughes@publicagroup.uk


  

1. MAIN POINTS 

1.1. The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decision are made and the 

procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and 

accountable to local people. The Council has a duty to publish an up to date Constitution 

and it should be reviewed annually by the Monitoring Officer with any necessary changes 

being considered by Council.  

 

1.2. The Constitution must contain:  

(a) the Council's standing orders/procedure rules;  

(b) the members' code of conduct;  

(c) such information as the Secretary of State may direct; and 

(d) such other information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate.  

 

1.3. Whilst some changes have been made to the Constitution a comprehensive review has 
not been conducted for some time.  Therefore, on 28 July 2021 Council resolved to set 

up a Constitution Working Group (CWG) to conduct a full review of the Constitution.  

 

2. CONSTITUTION WORKING GROUP  

2.1. The CWG was made up of seven councillors; Suzi Coul (Chair), Jake Acock, Julian 

Cooper, Joy Aitman, Dean Temple, Ted Fenton and Andy Graham.  They were supported 

by Democratic Services, the Business Manager for Corporate Responsibility and the 

Interim Monitoring Officer.  

2.2. Since its formation in July 2021, the group has met on numerous occasions and has now 

completed its review which has resulted in the production of a new Constitution (Annex 

A).  The main changes that have resulted from the review are identified below. 

 

3. MAIN CHANGES TO CONSTITUTION 

3.1. The main changes that result from the review of the Constitution can be summarised as 

follows: 

a) The process of reproducing minutes of all the Committee minutes will be replaced 

with a more general Member’s question time.  This will enable Members to ask 

questions of the Chair, Leader, a Cabinet Member or Committee Chair on any 

matter, not just those which are referenced in minutes of previous meetings (See Part 

5: Policy and Procedure Rules, 5ACouncil Procedure Rules, Rule 10: Questions). 

b) The introduction of a new rule which will prohibit Cabinet members from being the 

Chair of any Regulatory Committee (Planning and Licensing) (See Part 2: Articles of 

the Constitution, Article 4 – The Cabinet). 

c) The officer scheme of delegation has been updated to reflect the arrangement with 

Publica and to limit the potential risk to the Council of making ultra vires decisions 

(See Part 4: Officer Scheme of Delegation). 

d) The Audit and General Purposes Committee has been renamed the Audit and 

Governance Committee to reflect its remit and give more clarity to the roles that it 

undertakes. 

  

Page 24



e) The document is now written in accordance with the Council’s accessibility guidance. 

f) All gender references have been removed e.g. she/he, his/her and Chairman has been 

updated to Chair to reflect the Council’s Equality Policy.  

3.2. In addition, the new Members’ Code of Conduct as approved by the Standards Sub-

Committee on 23 March 2022 has been incorporated and is attached as Annex B. 

3.3. The Standards Sub-Committee also agreed a Local Hearing Panel Procedure Rules which 

will form part of the Constitution and is attached as Annex C. 

 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. There are no financial implications arising from this report.  However, members will note 

that the Financial Procedure Rules are yet to be updated.  These will be coming forward 

to members for consideration in due course.  

 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.   

 

6. RISK ASSESSMENT 

6.1. There are no specific risks associated with this report. However, failure to have a robust 

and up to date Constitution, could place the Council at risk of legal challenge. 

 

7. EQUALITIES IMPACT  

7.1. Not required.  However, the revised Constitution complies with the Council’s 

accessibility requirements and has been updated to removed gender specific references in 

line with the Council’s Equality Policy.  

 

8. ECOLOGICAL AND CLIMATE EMERGENCY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. Not required 

 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS  

9.1. Council could choose to reject the changes proposed by the Constitution Working 

Group. 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The following documents have been identified by the author of the report in accordance 

with section 100D.5(a) of the Local Government Act 1972 and are listed in accordance 

with section 100 D.1(a) for inspection by members of the public: 

 Agenda Item 12 Full Council 28 July 2021 

 Existing Constitution  

These documents will be available for inspection during normal office hours for a period 

of up to 4 years from the date of the meeting. Please contact democratic services via 

democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 25

mailto:democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

West Oxfordshire District Council Page 1 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

19 April 2022 

 

www.westoxon.gov.uk 

Constitution 

Contents table 

Glossary of Terms .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Part 1: Summary .............................................................................................................................................. 6 

1A Summary and Explanation ...................................................................................................................... 6 

1B The Constitution ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

1C Members of West Oxfordshire District Council ............................................................................. 9 

1D Officers of West Oxfordshire District Council ............................................................................. 10 

1E The Public and the Council.................................................................................................................. 13 

Part 2: Articles of the Constitution ........................................................................................................... 15 

Article 1 – The Council ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

Article 2 – Chairing the Council ...................................................................................................................... 17 

Article 3 – Overview and Scrutiny Committees .......................................................................................... 18 

Article 4 – The Cabinet ..................................................................................................................................... 20 

Article 5 – Regulatory and Other Committees............................................................................................ 22 

Article 6 – Area Committees ........................................................................................................................... 23 

Article 7 – Joint Arrangements ........................................................................................................................ 25 

Article 8 – Decision Making .............................................................................................................................. 26 

Article 9 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters ........................................................................................ 29 

Part 3: Responsibility for Functions, Key Decisions and Cabinet Work Plan ..................................... 30 

3A Principles of Decision Making ............................................................................................................. 30 

3B Council Functions .................................................................................................................................. 35 

3C Committee Functions ........................................................................................................................... 38 

3D Cabinet Functions .................................................................................................................................. 49 

3E Roles and Responsibilities of all Councillors ................................................................................... 52 

Part 4: Officer Scheme of Delegation ........................................................................................................ 53 

Page 27

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 2 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................... 53 

Statutory and Proper Officers .......................................................................................................................... 54 

Functions in relation to Legal Services ........................................................................................................... 59 

Functions in relation to Licensing .................................................................................................................... 61 

Functions in relation to Public Health, Environmental Health and Health and Safety ......................... 66 

Functions in relation to Planning ...................................................................................................................... 68 

Part 5: Policy and Procedure Rules ............................................................................................................ 78 

5A Council Procedure Rules ..................................................................................................................... 78 

5B Cabinet Procedure Rules ..................................................................................................................... 91 

5C Overview and Scrutiny Rules .............................................................................................................. 95 

Councillor Call for Action Protocol .............................................................................................................102 

5D Procedure in relation to Licensing Applications ...........................................................................104 

5E Budget and Policy Rules......................................................................................................................105 

5F Access to Information Rules .............................................................................................................110 

5G: Contract Procedure Rules.......................................................................................................................118 

5H: Financial Procedure Rules ........................................................................................................................119 

Part 6: Code and Protocols ....................................................................................................................... 120 

6A: Member Code of Conduct ......................................................................................................................120 

6B: Member/Officer Protocol .........................................................................................................................121 

6C: Appointments of Members to Outside Bodies ...................................................................................132 

6D: Protocol on the Use of Council Facilities and Resources by Councillors ....................................133 

6E: Local Petition Scheme................................................................................................................................135 

  

Page 28

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 3 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Glossary of Terms 

Article 4 Direction 
A direction which restricts permitted development rights in a 

particular area  

Cabinet A number of elected Council members appointed by the Leader of 

the Council and who, together with the Leader, act as the body 

which is responsible for most formal decisions. 

Cabinet Member A  councillor  who  has  been  appointed  by  the  Leader  of  the 

Council as a Member of the Cabinet.  Cabinet Members remain in 

office until the next election unless they resign, are suspended,  are  

no  longer  a  member  of  the  Council  or  are removed from 

office by the Leader. 

Cabinet Work Plan A plan to be published by the Cabinet and updated on a monthly 

basis in accordance with Regulations 13 and 14 of the 2000 

Regulations, setting out Key Decisions which the Cabinet plans to 

take over the coming months  

Call-in The consideration by Overview & Scrutiny committee of a decision 

made, but not yet implemented, which may result in the 

recommendation that the decision be reconsidered by the  person  

or  persons  who  made  that  decision  or  that  Full Council be 

recommended that the decision be reconsidered. 

Chair The person appointed to preside at meetings of Council or any 

Committee 

Chief Executive The    officer    with    overall    management    and operational   

responsibility   (including   overall   management responsibility for 

all officers). This post holder is also the “Head of Paid Service” as 

appointed  in  accordance  with  Section  4  of  the Local  

Government  and  Housing  Act  1989 

Chief Finance Officer The  officer  appointed  by  the  Council  under  Section  151  of 

the  Local  Government  Act  1972,  to  exercise  the  proper 

administration  of  the  Council’s  financial  affairs,  with  specific 

responsibilities   under   the   Local   Government   Act   1972 

(currently the Deputy Chief Executive) 

Clear working day A  clear  working  day  excludes  Saturday,  Sunday  and  bank and  

public  holidays  (and  in  the  case  of  committee  agenda excludes 

the date of publication of the agenda and the date of the meeting) 

Committee A committee of the Council 

Council West Oxfordshire District Council 

Deputy Leader A Cabinet Member who has been nominated to act in the absence 

of the Leader.  For the avoidance of doubt the Deputy Leader can 

exercise all the powers of the Leader in their absence 

Exempt Information  to  be  considered  at  a  Council  or  Committee 

meeting in respect of which the public may be excluded (as defined  

by  Schedule  12A  of  the  1972  Act (as amended).  Categories of 

exempt information are: 

- Information relating to any individual 

- Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an 

Page 29

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 4 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

individual 

- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 

any particular person (including the authority holding that 

information) 

- Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection 

with any labour relations matter arising between the 

authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 

office holders under, the authority.  

- Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 

privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  

- Information which reveals that the authority proposes –  

(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by 

virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person 

or task 

(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment 

- Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in 

connection with the prevention, investigation or 

prosecution of crime  

Executive The Cabinet 

Executive Functions Functions  which  may  be  discharged  by  the  Leader,  or 

delegated  by  the  Leader  to  the Cabinet,  a  committee  of the  

Cabinet,  an  individual  member  of  the  Cabinet,  an officer or 

another local authority. 

Head of Paid Service The  officer  appointed  in  accordance  with  Section  4  of  the 

Local  Government  and  Housing  Act  1989,  i.e.  the Chief 

Executive. 

Key Decision  A decision which is significant. This Council has previously 

determined the definition of a “key decision”, which is: 

(i) any Cabinet decision which requires a budget 

expenditure, or generates savings, of £50,000 or more;  

(ii) any executive decision where the outcome will have a 

significant impact on communities living or working in 

an area comprising two or more District 

Leader of a Political 

Group 

The  leader  of  a  political  group  as  defined  in  the  Local 

Government (Committee etc.) Regulations 1990 

Leader Such  person  as  the  Council  elects  to  be  the  Leader  with  

powers  outlined  in the  Local  Government  Act 2000  and  Local  

Government  and Public  Involvement  in Health Act 2007 

Local Choice Functions As  defined  by  Regulation  3  and  Schedule  2  to  the  Local 
Authority    (Functions    and    Responsibilities)    (England) 

Regulations  2000,  where  the  authority  has  decided  which 

functions  are  to  be  the  responsibility  of  the  Cabinet 

Meeting A  meeting  of  the  Council,  Cabinet,  a  committee  or  sub-

committees or task groups as the case may be 

Member In relation to the Council, an elected Councillor; in relation to any  

other  body,  a  person  appointed  as  a  member  of  that body, 

whether or not entitled to vote 

Page 30

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 5 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Monitoring Officer The  officer  appointed  by  the  Council  in  accordance  with 

Section  5  of  the  Local  Government  and  Housing  Act  1989, 

to  promote  and  maintain  high  standards  of  ethical  conduct 

and  ensure  lawfulness  and  fairness  of  decision  making or,  if 

they are unable  to  act  owing  to  absence  or  illness,  the person 
nominated as their deputy 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

Committee or Committees  of  the  Council established  in  

accordance  with Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000, to  

assist  in the  development  of  policy  and  to  review  and  

scrutinise  the decisions  made  by  the  Cabinet,  committees  and  
council officers (there is currently one Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee which also acts as the Council’s Crime and Disorder 

Committee) 

Personal Explanation Where something material that was raised by a member in an 

earlier speech appears to have been misunderstood, a member 

may be permitted to correct that misunderstanding by way of 

personal explanation.  The ruling of the Chair on the admissibility 

of a personal explanation will be final. 

Political Balance Rules As  defined  in  the  Local  Government  and  Housing  Act  1989 

relating to proportional representation of political groups; on 
committees, sub-committees and certain other bodies 

Political Groups Any two or more councillors notifying the Monitoring Officer in 

the appropriate form is considered a political group for the 

purpose of seat allocation 

Portfolio Holder A Cabinet  Member  with  a  specific  and  detailed  area  of 

responsibility,  and  who  may  be  delegated  to  take  executive 

decisions 

Proper Officer An officer, appointed in accordance with the terms of Section 

270(3) of the Local Government Act 1972, to carry out specified 

actions of the performance of certain specified duties on behalf of 

the Council 

Regulation 3 and 

Regulation 4 proposals 

Means applications made by the County Council themselves for 

example schools 

Regulatory Committee A   committee   undertaking   quasi-judicial   functions   of   the 

Council such as Planning or Licensing  

Requisition A document signed by five (5) elected members requesting that the 

Chair of council calls an extraordinary meeting of council 

Task & Finish Group a small working group of interested elected members who review 

specific issues of concern to Overview and Scrutiny in depth 

The 1972 Act The Local Government Act 1972 

The 1989 Act The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

The 2000 Act The Local Government Act 2000 

The 2007 Act The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

Vice-Chair The person appointed to preside in the absence of the Chair, at 

meetings of any properly constituted body 

 

  

Page 31

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 6 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Part 1: Summary 

1A Summary and Explanation  

1A.1 West Oxfordshire District Council (‘the Council’) is the local authority for the 

administrative area of the West Oxfordshire, which comprises an area of around 714 km2 

within Oxfordshire.  The district has a population of approximately 109,800. 

1A.2 The Council operates a Leader and Cabinet structure.   

1A.3 This constitution sets out the processes and procedures of how West Oxfordshire District 

Council will govern itself and make decisions.  

1A.4 The Council seeks to be cost effective and efficient in its operation and in delivering 

services, ensuring that it is open and transparent and accountable for its actions.  

1A.5 The Council appoints the Leader of Council, who may then appoint up to nine cabinet 

members to form a cabinet. The functions for which the Cabinet will be responsible are 

identified in Part 3D.  It is responsible for most decisions that affect the day-to-day 

operations of the Council.  

1A.6 The Development Control, Uplands, Lowlands Licensing Committees will undertake the 

regulatory functions of the Council relating to determining planning applications and 

applications for public licences, e.g. caravan sites, gambling, liquor and public entertainment 

licenses, hackney carriages, etc. Meetings of all committees will be in public except where 

personal or confidential information is to be discussed.  

1A.7 The Council has also appointed three Strategic Overview and Scrutiny Committees that 

supports the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole. The Strategic Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees may be consulted by the Cabinet on forthcoming decisions and on 

the development of policies. The Strategic Overview and Scrutiny Committees will allow 

citizens to have a greater say in Council matters by holding inquiries into matters of local 

concern, which can lead to reports and recommendations which advise the Cabinet and 

the Council. The Strategic Overview and Scrutiny Committees are able to ‘call-in’ certain 

categories of decisions made by the Cabinet but not yet implemented, and may 

recommend that the Cabinet reconsiders the relevant decision. 

1A.8 Citizens, without prejudice to other legal rights and remedies, may complain to the local 

government and social care ombudsman if they believe that the Council has not followed 

the procedures or processes properly, or to the Monitoring Officer if they believe that 

there is evidence which shows that a councillor has not followed the members’ code of 

conduct. The Council has adopted a customer feedback process that enables the citizen to 

seek remedies locally before referring the matter to the ombudsman. 

1A.9 This document comprising the constitution contains mandatory provisions required by 

central government and other relevant provisions, which have been modified to suit the 

circumstances relating to the Council.  

Page 32

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 7 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

1B The Constitution 

1B.1  This constitution, and all its appendices, is the CONSTITUTION OF WEST 

OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL. 

1B.2  The Council will exercise its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 

constitution. The constitution has and will continue to evolve and where the constitution 

permits the Council to choose between different courses of action it will always choose 

that option which it thinks is closest to the purposes stated below. The Council will 

monitor and evaluate the operation of the constitution. 

1B.3  The purpose of the constitution is to: 

 enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with its 

members of the public, business and other organisations; 

 confirm that its powers and duties will be exercised in accordance with law and with the 

procedures and processes of the constitution; 

 enable members of the public to understand how the Council operates and support the 

active involvement of the community in the process of local authority decision-making; 

 help members represent their constituents effectively; 

 create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public account; 

 ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly involved; 

 ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly identifiable to local people 

and that the decision-makers explain the reasons for the decisions; and 

 provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community including the speed 

and efficiency of the decision making process. 

1B.4 This document also details how the organisation known as West Oxfordshire District 

Council is composed, how it is structured, the functions it discharges, how it discharges 

those functions, the responsibilities of members and officers and the rights, liabilities and 

obligations of the community, members and officers.  

1B.5  The constitution is divided into parts covering themes  

1B.6 Review and revision of the constitution 

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and weaknesses of 

the constitution, and to make recommendations for ways it could be improved and 

enhanced in order to better achieve the purposes of the constitution.  They may: 

a) Observe meetings of members (other than political group meetings) and officers. 

b) Undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions. 

c) Record and analyse issues raised with them by members, officers, the public and 

other relevant stakeholders.  

d) Compare practices in this authority with those adopted by other authorities, or 
national examples of best practice. 

 

 

 

Page 33

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 8 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

1B.7 Changes to the constitution 

Approval: Only Full Council may approve changes to the constitution (save for those 

identified in this Constitution as not requiring such approval) after consideration of the 

proposal by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Monitoring Officer. 

Change from Leader and Cabinet structure to mayoral style executive: The Council must 

take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other interested persons in the 

area when drawing up proposals and must hold a binding referendum. 

Minor corrections and amendments: Where the changes to the constitution do not affect 

the substance of the content but identify changes in titles, responsibilities, typing or 

grammatical corrections, these may be undertaken by the Monitoring Officer and reported 

to all members. 

1B.8 Suspension, interpretation and publication of the constitution 

a) Suspension of the constitution: 

Limit to suspension: The rules of procedure contained in this Constitution may only be 

suspended to the extent as detailed herein and within the law. 

Procedure to suspend:  A motion to suspend any rule of procedure or matter falling 

within this constitution will not be moved without notice unless at least one half of the 

membership of Full Council or the relevant committee are in attendance and present. 

The extent and duration of any suspension will be proportionate to the result to be 

achieved and in accordance with the purposes of the constitution. 

Rules capable of suspension: The following matters may be suspended in accordance 

with the above provision: 

 the Council’s procedural rules apart from those relating to quorums, 

declarations of interest, disturbances by the public and notices of motions; 

 financial procedure rules  

A motion to suspend a particular procedural rule shall state the particular purpose, 

and require a majority of at least half the total number of members appointed to that 

committee. 

b) Interpretation 

The ruling of the Chair of the Council as to the construction or application of this 
constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any 

meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this 

constitution. 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of 

action, the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is closest to the 

purposes stated above. 

Page 34

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 9 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Any dispute as to the operation or interpretation of the Constitution should be 

referred in the first instance to the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer, or the 

Monitoring Officer, who together will try to resolve the dispute between the parties 

involved. In the event that they are unable to reach a resolution satisfactory to the 

parties involved, and if they are satisfied that a genuine issue of operation or 

interpretation of the Constitution exists, they will report on the issue to the Council (if 

necessary convening a Special Meeting for the purpose) who will resolve the dispute. 

c) Publication 

The Chief Executive will ensure access to this constitution for each member of the 

authority and will identify where this constitution can be accessed upon delivery to 
them of an individual member’s declaration of acceptance of office on the member 

being first elected to the Council. 

1C Members of West Oxfordshire District Council 

1C.1 The Council is made up of 49 elected members.  Each member either represents a single 

ward of electors where the number of electors is small or may share the representation of 

one ward with one or more other councillors where the number of electors is large. The 

division of the district into electoral wards is undertaken by the Local Government 

Commission and approved by the Secretary of State. Details of individual members and their 

wards are available on the website. 

1C.2 Persons who may be elected to the Council need not be a member of any political party but 

must satisfy the eligibility criteria of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended. It is also 

possible that persons may be co-opted to sit on the Council committees in special 

circumstances.  

1C.3 The ordinary election of a third (or as near as may be) of all Councillors will be held on the 

first Thursday in May in each year, except that in 2017 and every fourth year after there will 

be no regular election.    

1C.4 The term of office of all Councillors elected at a regular, May election will be four years 

starting on the fourth day after being elected and finishing on the fourth day after the date of 

the regular election four years later. 

1C.5 Key roles of members 

 Collectively to be the ultimate policy-makers  

 Effectively represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s 

decision making process. 

 Provide community leadership. 

 Contribute to the good governance of the area and actively encourage community 

participation and citizen involvement in decision making. 

 Deal with individual casework and respond to enquiries and representations fairly 

and impartially and act as an advocate for individual constituents in helping to 

resolve particular concerns or grievances. 

Page 35

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/councillors-and-committees/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 10 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 Balance different interests identified within the ward and represent the ward as a 

whole, responding to their constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and 

impartially. 

 Be involved in decision making having regard to the best interests of the whole 

community represented by the West Oxfordshire District Council. 

 Be available to represent the Council on other bodies. 

 Maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics in undertaking their roles and 

to promote the reputation of the Council in all their actions. 

1C.6 Rights and duties of members 

 Members will have such rights of access to such documents, information, land and 

buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions 

and in accordance with the law. 

 Members will not make public information that is confidential or exempt without the 

consent of the Council or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other 

than a member or officer entitled to know it. 

 For these purposes, ‘confidential’ and ‘exempt’ information is defined in the access to 

information rules in Part 5F of this constitution. 

 The Members will be entitled to receive training and development to enable them to 

better perform their roles in the Council and in the community.  Members of 

regulatory committees, are required to undergo appropriate training in the specific 

discipline relevant to the committee before they can take part in deciding any 

application. 

 Members will have the impartial support and advice from all officers of the Council 

but will not be able to direct the officers’ actions or decisions save those directions 

to officers arising from Council, the Cabinet or committee decisions. 

1C.7 Members and political groups 

 The Council has adopted a political groups’ scheme and members may align 

themselves with a political group that will then be used for the allocation of seats on 

committees. 

 Each political group will appoint a leader of the group.   

 The political groups may appoint spokespersons on any theme, interest or committee 

who will be the media contact person if there is a request for a comment on any 

policy issue from the political group. 

IC.8 Allowances 

Councillors will be entitled to receive an allowance in accordance with the Members’ 

Allowance Scheme. 

1D Officers of West Oxfordshire District Council 

1D.1 The Council may employ such staff (referred to as ‘officers’) as it considers   necessary to 

undertake the day-to-day operations arising out of the functions for which the Council is 

responsible.  However, the Council acknowledges that upon the transfer of services to 

Page 36

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/councillors-and-committees/allowances-for-district-councillors/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/councillors-and-committees/allowances-for-district-councillors/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 11 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Publica on 1 November 2025, Publica will become the main responsible body for the 

employment of staff.  

1D.2 There are three officers which statute states must be appointed to the staff of the Council, 

namely the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer (section 151 Officer) and the 

Monitoring Officer. These officers have special protection of employment rights.   

1D.3 Functions of the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) 

 This officer is responsible as the employer of the salaried staff employed directly by 

the Council. The Head of Paid Service will report to Full Council on the manner in 

which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade 

of officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of officers. 

 The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of 

Chief Finance Officer if they are a qualified accountant. 

1D.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer (s151 Officer) 

 This role has a personal responsibility, which requires the officer to act independently 

of the Council but in the best interests of the Council. They have the responsibility of 

ensuring the lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making. After consulting 

the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report 
to the Full Council and the Council’s external auditor if they consider that any 

proposal, decision or course of action is likely to cause a loss or a deficiency or if the 

Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 They have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council. 

 They contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular through 

the provision of professional finance advice.  

 They provide financial information to the media, members of the public and the 

community. 

1D.5 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

 This role has a personal responsibility, which also applies to the Deputy Monitoring 
Officer, and requires the officer to act independently of the Council but in the best 

interests of the Council. 

 Their role is to promote and maintain high standards of conduct within the Council 

by officers and members. 

 They must maintain an up-to-date version of the constitution and will ensure that it is 

widely available for consultation by members, officers and the public. 

 They must ensure the lawfulness and fairness of decision-making. After consultation 

with the Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report 

to Full Council if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission would give 

rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration. 

Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being given 

effect to until the report has been considered. 

 They must promote ethical governance to parish councillors and the operation of the 

code of conduct for councillors. 

 They contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct. 

Page 37

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 12 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 They receive and act upon complaints made in respect of breaches of the Code of 

Conduct and undertake or arrange investigations where necessary.  

 They manage the Standards regime and complaints into allegations of misconduct by 

councillors. 

 They are the proper officer for access to information.  

 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that decisions together with the reasons for those 

decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are made publicly 

available as soon as possible. 

 They contribute to the corporate leadership team of the Council 

 They provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 

maladministration, financial impropriety, probity to all councillors and will support 

and advise councillors and officers in their respective roles. 

1D.6 Provision of sufficient resources to the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and 

Monitoring Officer  

The Council will provide the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring 

Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are, in the statutory 

officers’ opinion, sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

The core roles of the Corporate Leadership Team shall be exercised in accordance with 

the principles of political neutrality and service to the whole Council, are as follows:  

 Overall corporate and strategic management and ultimate operational responsibility 

(including overall management responsibility for all officers). 

 Responsibility for regularly liaising with the Leader of Council to identify, review and 

prioritise the corporate agenda for the medium term of three years and specifically 

the key strategic and financial issues which the Council will be considering over each 

four month period. 

 Responsibility for publishing regularly the key strategic policy issues and financial 

proposals  

 Provision of professional advice to all parties in the decision making process (Full 

Council, Strategic Overview and Scrutiny Committee and policy and regulatory 

committees). 

 Responsibility for ensuring the provision of sufficient resources to undertake the 

functions of the Council to the standard of service identified in corporate objectives. 

 Responsibility for a system of record keeping for all the Council’s decisions. 

 Representing the Council on partnership and external bodies (as required by statute 

or the Council). 

  

Page 38

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 13 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

1E The Public and the Council 

1E.1 Voting and petitions 

   The electoral register for the area will contain those members of the public who are 

eligible to have the right to vote in the elections of councillors and to sign a petition to 

request a referendum for an elected mayoral form of constitution. 

1E.2 Information 

Members of the public have the right to: 

(i) Attend meetings of the Council and its committees and subcommittees except 

where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the meeting 

is therefore held in private. 

(ii) Attend meetings of the Cabinet except where confidential, exempt information is 

likely to be disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private 

(iii) Be made aware through the Cabinet Work Plan what and when key decisions will 

be considered by the Cabinet. 

(iv) See reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the 

Council, the Cabinet and any Committees. 

(v) Obtain a copy of the constitution 

(vi) Inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external auditor. 

(vii) Request disclosure of information in accordance with the provisions of the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2005 and 

General Data Protection Regulations and any other legislation which is subsequently 

enacted to add to or replace this legislation. 

(viii) Raise questions at public meetings of the Council and Cabinet  

1E.3 Participation 

Members of the public have the opportunity to participate in question time at Full Council 

meetings and may be invited to contribute to investigations and inquiries by the scrutiny 

and review committees. Interested persons in a planning application may request an 

opportunity to address the relevant planning committee on the application in accordance 

with the adopted public speaking protocol but this does not give any one the absolute right 

to be heard by the committee.  

1E.4 Complaints 

   Members of the public have the right to complain to: 

(i) The Council itself, under its adopted customer feedback procedures; 

(ii) An elected Member; 

(iii) The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, although the Ombudsman may 

request that the Council’s internal complaints process is exhausted first. 

(iv) The Council’s External Auditor 

 

Page 39

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/having-your-say/public-participation/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/having-your-say/comments-and-complaints/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 14 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

1E.5 Councillor Call For Action 

Members of the public have the right to ask a local councillor to refer an issue to one of 

the Council’s Strategic Overview and Scrutiny Committees for consideration. This is called 

‘Councillor Call For Action’ and details of how this operates are set out at Part 5C. 

1E.6 Local Petition Scheme 

The Council has agreed a local petitions scheme. This is set out in Part 6E of the 

Constitution. It provides details as to how the Council will respond to petitions. 

  

Page 40

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 15 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Part 2: Articles of the Constitution  

  

Page 41

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 16 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 1 – The Council 

1.1 Functions of the full Council 

 

Only the Council will exercise the functions set out in Part 3B of this Constitution 

 

1.2 Council meetings 

There are three types of Council meeting – the annual meeting; ordinary meetings; and 

extraordinary meetings. They will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure 

Rules in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 

There will be at least three ordinary meetings plus the annual meeting each year. 

Extraordinary meetings will be called as and when necessary as provided for in this 

Constitution. 

1.3 Responsibility for functions 

The Council will maintain the lists in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out the 

responsibilities for the Council’s functions that are not the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

  

Page 42

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 17 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 2 – Chairing the Council 

2.1 Role and function of the Chair of the Council 

 

The Chair and vice-Chair of the Council will be elected by the Council annually. The Chair, 

and, in their absence, the Vice-Chair will have the following roles and functions: 

 

 to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 

Constitution when necessary; 

 to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out 

efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the 

community; 

 to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern 

to the local community and the place at which members who are not on the 

Cabinet are able to hold the Cabinet to account; 

 to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 

 to be the independent conscience of the Council; and 

 to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and they determine 

appropriate 

 

2.2 Non-Eligibility for membership of the Cabinet 

 

Neither the Chair nor the vice-Chair can be a member of the Cabinet. 

  

Page 43

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 18 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 3 – Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

3.1 Terms of reference 

 

The Council will appoint the Overview and Scrutiny Committees set out in the table below 

to discharge the functions conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 or 

regulations proposed under section 32 of the Local Government Act 2000  

 

Committee Name Scope 

Economic & Social Policies and strategies of the Council and other bodies which affect 

the economic and social well-being of the district and its residents 
The provision of services by the Council and other bodies which 

affect the economic and social well-being of the district and its 

residents 

Scrutiny of crime and disorder partnerships imposed by Sections 19 

and 21 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 

Environment Policies and strategies of the Council and other bodies which affect 

the environmental well-being of the district and its residents 

The provision of services by the Council and other bodies which 

affect the environmental well-being of the district and its residents 

Finance & Management The Council’s budget, the management of its budget, treasury 
management, property and asset management, IT, staffing and other 

internal management arrangements, including the Constitution of the 

Council. 

 

In relation to the scrutiny of Health functions, the Council participates in County wide 

arrangements primarily administered by the Oxfordshire County Council, and appoints 

members / deputies to serve on a county-wide Health Scrutiny Joint Committee in 

accordance with arrangements approved by all the principal Councils in Oxfordshire. 

 

 

3.2 General Role 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be responsible for the functions and powers set 

out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 

3.3 Annual Report 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees must report annually to full Council on their workings 

and make recommendations for future work programmes and amended working methods 

if appropriate. 

 

3.4 Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 

Page 44

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 19 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

 

3.5 Power to co-opt people onto the Committee 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees will have the power to co-opt any person or persons 

they think appropriate (except for a member of the Cabinet) onto the Committee, on 

whatever basis they think appropriate. Co-opted members may speak in debates but not 

vote. 

  

Page 45

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 20 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 4 – The Cabinet 

4.1 Role 

 

The Cabinet carry out all of the local authority’s functions as set out in Part 3D of this 

Constitution. 

 

4.2 Form and composition 

 

The Cabinet will consist of the Cabinet leader together with at least four, but not more 

than nine, Councillors appointed to the Cabinet by the Cabinet leader. 

 

4.3 Leader 

 

The Leader will be a Councillor elected by the Council at the annual meeting. Under the 

terms of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act the leader will hold 

office until the day following their normal day of retirement when they may seek re-

election, or until: 

 

 (i) they resign from the office; or 

(ii) they are no longer a Councillor; or 
(iii) they are removed from office by resolution of the Council. 

 

4.4 Other Cabinet Members 

 

Only Councillors may be appointed to the Cabinet. There may be no co-optees and no 

deputies or substitutes for Cabinet members. Neither the Chair nor vice Chair of the 

Council may be appointed to the Cabinet and members of the Cabinet (including the 

leader) may not be members of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or act as Chairs or 

Regulatory Committees. 

 

Other Cabinet members shall be appointed annually by the leader at the annual meeting. 

They will hold office until the next annual meeting, when they may be reappointed, or until: 

 

(i) they resign from office; or 

(ii) they are no longer Councillors; or 

(iii) they are removed from office by the leader who must give written notice of any 

removal to the proper officer. The removal will take effect two working days after 

receipt of the notice by the proper officer. 

 

4.5 Members of the Council who are not on the Cabinet 

 

Members of the Council who are not on the Cabinet may attend meetings of the Cabinet. 

At the discretion of the Cabinet they may join in debates, but may not vote. 

 

4.6 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

 

Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure 

Rules set out in Part 5B of this Constitution. 

Page 46

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 21 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

4.7 Responsibility for functions 

 

The Leader will maintain a list in Part 3D of this Constitution setting out which individual 

members of the Cabinet, Committees of the Cabinet, officers or joint arrangements are 

responsible for the exercise of particular Cabinet functions. 

  

Page 47

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 22 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 5 – Regulatory and Other Committees 

The Council will appoint the Committees and sub-Committees set out in Part 3 of this 

Constitution. 

 

Committee Membership 

 

The appointment of members to these Committees will be made in accordance with the Council 

Procedure Rules in Part 5A of this Constitution and the rules relating to political balance. 

 

Members of the Council wishing to serve on the Development Control Committee or an Area 

Planning Sub-Committee, including as a substitute member, are required to attend planning 

induction training prior to participating in a Development Control or Area Planning Sub-

Committee meeting where planning decisions are taken. 

 

All members of the Development Control Committee and Area Planning Sub-Committees are also 

required to attend any update training as may be identified by the Senior Officer with 

responsibility for Planning. Failure to attend update training may result in the member being 

removed from the Committee.  

 

Members of the Council wishing to serve on a Licensing Panel are required to attend Licensing 
training prior to participating in a meeting of the Panel.   

 

Members of the Licensing Panel are also required to attend any update training as may be 

identified by the Senior Officer with responsibility for Licensing.  Failure to attend update training 

may result in the member being removed from the Panel.  

  

Page 48

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 23 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 6 – Area Committees  

6.1 General 

 

The Council may appoint area Committees as it sees fit, if it is satisfied: 

a) that to do so will ensure improved service delivery in the context of best 

value and more efficient, transparent and accountable decision making; 

and/or 

b) that to do so will enable the views of local people to be better taken into 

account in decision-making. 

The Council will consult with relevant parish and town Councils and the chairmen of 

relevant parish meetings when considering whether and how to establish area Committees. 

 

6.2 Delegation of decision-making powers to area Committees  

 

The Council may delegate decision-making powers to area Committees for functions which 

are not the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

 

The Cabinet may delegate decision-making powers to area Committees for functions 

which are the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

 

The Council and the Cabinet will include details of the delegations to area Committees in 

Part 3 of this Constitution, including the functions delegated, showing which are the 

responsibility of the Cabinet and which are not, the composition and membership of the 

Committees, budgets and any limitations on delegation. 

 

6.3 Conflicts of interest – membership of area Committees and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 

 

6.3.1 Conflict of Interest – If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is scrutinising specific 

decisions or proposals in relation to the business of the area Committee of which 
the Councillor concerned is a member, then the Councillor may not speak or vote 

at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting unless a dispensation to do so is 

given by the Standards Committee, in accordance with Regulations and guidance 

issued by the Secretary of State, or unless participation would be in accordance 

with the Council’s Code of Conduct set out in Part 6A of the Constitution. 

 

6.3.2 General Policy Reviews – where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 

reviewing policy generally the member must declare their interest before the 

relevant agenda item is reached. Under the Council’s Code of Conduct this would 

be a personal interest but would not be prejudicial. 

 

6.4 Area Committees – access to information  

Area Committees will comply with the Access to Information Rules in Part 5F of this 

Constitution. 

 

Page 49

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 24 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Agendas and notices for area Committee meetings which deal with both functions of the 

Cabinet and functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet will state clearly 

which items are which 

 

6.5 Cabinet members on area Committees  

A member of the Cabinet may serve on an area Committee if otherwise eligible to do so 

as a Councillor. 

  

Page 50

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 25 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 7 – Joint Arrangements 

The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to exercise 

functions that are not executive functions in any of the participating authorities. Such 

arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint committee with these other local authorities 

and the delegation of functions to the joint committee. The Leader may establish joint 

arrangements with one or more local authorities to exercise functions which are executive 

functions. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with these other 

local authorities and the delegation of functions to the joint committee. 

A list of any joint arrangements entered into will be held by Democratic Services.  

Any member who represents the Council on a joint committee or in any joint arrangement will be 

required to provide a written annual report, for consideration by Council at its meeting in April 

each year, detailing the work of the joint committee/arrangement over the past year and 

identifying key work streams for the forthcoming year.  In addition the member has an ongoing 

duty to update relevant ward members of any work which impacts on their ward.  

  

Page 51

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 26 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 8 – Decision Making  

8.1 Responsibility for decision making 

 

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or 

individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to 

particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 

8.2 Principles of decision making 

 

Any decision taken must be in accordance with the terms of this Constitution. 

 

Under the Constitution decisions are likely to be taken by the full Council, the Cabinet 

(both collectively and by individual members of the Cabinet), Committees and sub-

Committees, and by officers. 

 

Whichever body or individual is responsible for taking a decision, it should be taken so far 

as possible in accordance with the following principles:- 

 There should be a presumption in favour of decision-making being open and 

transparent, with members of the public being afforded effective access to relevant 

information and the processes by which decisions are taken; 

 Due consultation should take place with those likely to be affected by a decision. So 

far as practicable, decision taking should be planned in advance and the public given 

due notification of forthcoming decisions; 

 Where a decision is likely to have wide-ranging or significant impact on the 

community, additional time and emphasis should be given to consultation and 

members of the public actively encouraged to contribute their views; 

 Decisions must be taken reasonably, with regard to all relevant considerations, and 

ignoring all irrelevant matters; 

 Decisions should be taken on the basis of clear aims and desired outcomes from 

the resultant action; 

 All realistic alternatives should be evaluated prior to the decision being taken; 

 Appropriate professional advice should be obtained from suitably qualified officers 

of the authority; 

 Decisions must be taken with regard to proportionality – ie the action must be 

proportionate to the desired outcome; 

 Decisions must be taken with regard to any relevant statutory requirements and 
with respect for human rights; 

 Decisions must be taken with regard to the Equality Act 2010 and the associated 

policy of the Council; 

 Decisions must have regard to any relevant approved policies or procedures of the 

Council; 

 Any decision taken must be formally recorded in accordance with the requirements 

of this Constitution. Where the decision is taken by the Cabinet, or a member of 

the Cabinet, the formal record should state what alternative options were 

considered and the reasons for the decision that was taken 

 

Page 52

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 27 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

In some cases (eg where urgent action is necessary, or confidential matters are under 

discussion) it may not be practicable to fully comply with all these principles, but decision-

makers should satisfy themselves that they have been complied with so far as reasonably 

practicable in the circumstances. Decision-makers may be held to account for any failure to 

comply with the principles. 

 

8.3 Types of decision 

 

8.3.1 Decisions reserved to full Council – Decisions relating to the functions listed in Part 

3B will be made by the full Council and not delegated. 

 

8.3.2 Key decisions –  

 

  (i) A “key decision” means a Cabinet decision which, is likely either: 

 to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the 

making of savings which are, significant having regard to the local 

authority's budget for the service or function to which the decision 

relates; or 

 to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working 

in an area comprising two or more wards within the District. 

(ii) A decision shall be regarded as financially significant if it is a decision which 

either commits the Council to more than £50,000 in expenditure or would 

result in savings greater than £50,000. 

(iii) A decision shall be regarded as significant in terms of its effects on two or 

more wards if any of the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer or 

the Monitoring Officer, consider that the decision will fall within the 

statutory definition. 

 

Key decisions can may only be taken in accordance with the requirements of the Cabinet 

Procedure Rules set out in Part 5B and the Access to Information Procedure Rules, set out 
in Part 5F. 

 

8.3.3 Decision making by the full Council – the Council meeting will follow the Council 

Procedures Rules set out in Part 5A of this Constitution when considering any 

matter. 

 

8.3.4 Decision making by the Cabinet – the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet Procedures 

Rules set out in Part 5B of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 

8.3.5 Decision making by Overview and Scrutiny Committees – Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures Rules set out in Part 

5C of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 

8.3.6 Decision making by other Committees and sub-Committees established by Council 

– all other Council Committees and sub-Committees will follow those parts of the 

Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 5A of this Constitution as apply to them. 

 

Page 53

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 28 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

8.3.7 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals – The Council, a Councillor 

or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi judicial manner or 

determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil 

rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a 

proper procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the 

right to a fair trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human 

Rights. 

  

Page 54

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 29 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Article 9 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters  

9.1 Financial Management 

 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the 

financial rules set out in Part 5H of this Constitution. 

 

9.2 Contracts  

 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts Procedure Rules set 

out in Part 5G of this Constitution. 

 

9.3 Legal Proceedings 

 

The Head of Legal Services is authorised to institute, defend or participate in any legal 

proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the 

Council or in any case where the Head of Legal Services considers that such action is 

necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 

 

9.4 Authentication of documents 

 
Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the 

Council, it will be signed by the Head of Legal Services or other person authorised by 

them, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given 

requisite authority to some other person. 

 

Any contract with a value exceeding £10,000 entered into on behalf of the local authority 

in the course of the discharge of a Cabinet function shall be made in writing. In accordance 

with the Council’s Contracts Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution such contracts 

must be signed in accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules. Any Contract with a 

value exceeding £100,000 shall be under the common seal of the Council. 

 

9.5 Common Seal of the Council 

 

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Head of 

Legal Services. A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be sufficient authority for 

sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. The affixing of the Common 

Seal will be attested by either the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance 

Officer, the Head of Legal Services or the Chair of Council. 

  

Page 55

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 30 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Part 3: Responsibility for Functions, Key Decisions and Cabinet 

Work Plan 

3A Principles of Decision Making  

3A1. All decisions will be made in line with the Budget and Policy Framework and in accordance 

with the following principles: 

 

− consideration of all relevant information  

− compliance with finance, contract, and all other procedure rules 

− ensure proper advice is taken and considered before decisions are reached 

− where appropriate, consult with stakeholders and consider their responses before 

decisions are reached 

− impartiality and an absence of bias or pre-determination 

− any interests are properly declared 

− decisions are properly recorded and published 

− decisions are proportionate to the desired outcome 

− respect for human rights 

− equality impacts assessments are undertaken and considered  

− climate change impacts are fully assessed and understood before decisions are made 

− approach decision making on a transparent and open basis and decisions will be taken 

in a public forum wherever possible. 

− consideration of alternative options 

− reasons are given for decisions 

 

3A2. The Council has arranged for some of its functions to be carried out by officers employed 

by Publica Group (Support) Limited, which is a company operated by the Council in 

partnership with Forest of Dean District Council, Cheltenham Borough Council and 

Cotswold District Council.  Where it is necessary for delegated functions to be carried out 

by the Council, these will be delegated to officers who have a joint contract of employment 

with the Council. A “joint contract” is a contract of employment for Officers employed to 

undertake functions by both Publica and West Oxfordshire District Council.   

 

The Council has also arranged for some of its functions to be carried out by the South 

West Audit Partnership and Counter Fraud Unit employed by Cotswold District Council.  
In cases where any of those functions need to be carried out by the Council a similar 

process in relation to the use of a joint employment contract will be utilised.  

 

3A.3 Introduction 

 

The Council consists of several distinct elements which are allocated certain functions by 

law. The most important elements are: 

 

− Council (all councillors) 

− Committees (undertaking specific functions delegated by Council / specified in law) 

− The Executive (Leader and Cabinet) 

 

Page 56

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 31 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

These are the primary decision-making bodies within the Council, and they exercise 

different powers and functions. To assist the efficient working of the Council these bodies 

have delegated some of their functions to other   parts of the Council including Sub-

Committees and Officers. 

 

3A.4 This part of the Constitution describes the way in which the Council's powers and 

functions are distributed amongst the various parts of the Council and who may lawfully 

exercise those powers within any limits or in accordance with any conditions. 

 

3A.5 The law provides a framework under which functions: 

 

− must not be the responsibility of the Cabinet – Non-Executive or Council Functions 

(see part 3B) 

− may or may not be the responsibility of the Cabinet – Local Choice Functions 

− must be the responsibility of the Cabinet –Cabinet functions (see part 3D) 

 

3A.6 Functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet (called ‘non-Executive Functions’) 

are the responsibility of Council, Committees (and Sub-Committees) or Officers 

(exercising non-Executive Functions) Delegation of non-Executive Functions is set out in: 

- Part 3B ‘Council Functions’, 

- Part 3C ‘Committee Functions’ and  

- Part 4 ‘Officer Non-Executive Functions’. 

 

3A.7 Functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet (called "Executive Functions") may be 

delegated by the Leader of the Council to a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual 

Cabinet Member or an Officer. Executive Functions may also be delegated to another local 

authority or exercised jointly through a joint committee or Officer of another authority. 

The delegation of Executive Functions is set out in Part 3D ‘Executive Functions’ below. 

 

3A.8 Any reference in this Part 3 of the Constitution to any Function, and any delegation of 

power includes all action associated with that Function or power and all related 

enforcement actions. 

 

Key Decisions and Cabinet Work Programme 

 

3A9. Key Decisions 

 

A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely to: 

 

1. result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings 

which are, significant having regard to the budget for the service or function to 

which the decision relates; or 

 

2. be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 

comprising two or more wards in the area of the authority. 

 

Page 57

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 32 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3A10. The Council has decided that something is financially significant for these purposes if it is a 

Cabinet decision which requires a budget expenditure of £50,000 or more or generates 

savings of £50,000 or more.  

 

3A11. Key Decisions shall only be taken by Cabinet, unless such a decision has been specifically 

delegated by the Leader to a Cabinet Member or an Officer or unless the Leader, Chief 

Executive (or, in their absence or where they are unable to act, the Deputy Chief 

Executive) is making an urgent decision (as set out in the Council Procedure Rules). 

 

3A12. The Chief Executive will decide whether a decision will have a significant impact on two or 

more wards. 

 

3A13. A decision-taker may only make a Key Decision in accordance with the requirements of 

the Access to Information rules. 

 

3A14. It is for the Chief Executive to decide which decisions are Key, subject to guidance from 

the Monitoring Officer who may require that a decision be treated as a Key Decision.  

 

3A15. In considering whether a decision is likely to be ‘significant’, the decision-maker should 

consider the strategic nature of the decision and whether the outcome will have an impact, 

for better or worse, on the amenity of a community or quality of service provided by the 

council to a significant number of people living or working in the locality affected. The 

following should be considered: 

 

− the effect on businesses and communities 

− the expectation of the public and councillors as to whether the decision should be 

taken by  the Cabinet 

− the anticipated interest of the public and of councillors 

− the effect on other council services and functions 

 

3A16. Cabinet Work Plan 

 

The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 say that the Council must publish a notice containing 

information about any key executive decision which will be taken.  This must be published 

28 calendar  days before the date of the decision and must contain information about any 

executive decision which will be taken by the Cabinet or an individual member of Cabinet 

in private session.  The Cabinet Work Plan enables elected members, members of the 

public and the Scrutiny committees to consider which items they wish to examine and 

consider in good time before they are determined.  

 

3A17. The plan includes details of: 

 

− items to be debated by the Cabinet which relate to policy or budget formulation 

− items which will be subject to a recommendation to Council 

− other matters to be considered by the Cabinet (when known) 

− the names and responsibilities of current members of the Cabinet 

 

Page 58

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 33 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3A18. The Cabinet Work Plan is updated and published as a minimum monthly and covers all 

decisions proposed to be made by the Council, Cabinet, individual Cabinet members and 

Key Decisions made by officers within the following four months.  In order to promote 

transparency of decision making it will also include details of any decisions that may be 

made within the next 12 months. Not all decisions will be known four months in advance 

and so advance notice of decisions will be included as soon as they become known 

 

3A19. There is also a requirement to publish details at least 28 calendar days in advance of any 

meeting if there is an intention to consider in private a Key Decision or any other 

executive decision - even if not a Key Decision. Both these requirements are achieved 

through the Cabinet Work Plan 

 

3A20. There may be occasions where it has not been possible to give notice of a Key Decision.  

When this occurs the following process must be followed:  

 

− At least five clear working days before the decision is to be made the Monitoring 

Officer must inform (by written notice) the Chair of the Finance and Management 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee. A copy of the notice shall also be provided to the 

Chair of the Economic and Social and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Chairs. 

− A copy of the notice must be placed on the website and made available for public 

inspection. 

− The Monitoring Officer will prepare and publish a notice on the website setting out the 

reasons why the item did not appear on the Cabinet Work Plan.  

 

3A21. In accordance with Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012, if less than five clear working days’ notice of a 

Key Decision has to be given, or if an item has not appeared on the Cabinet Work Plan 

and a decision needs to be taken before the next edition of the Cabinet Work Plan is 

published, then the agreement of the Chair of the  Finance and Management  Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee (or, in their absence, the Vice-Chair of Finance and Management 

Overview & Scrutiny) that the making of the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be 

deferred must be obtained in writing before the decision can be made.  Their views must 

be included in the report alongside the explanation as to why the matter is urgent, why it 

cannot await the next edition of the Cabinet Work Plan and why it missed the last edition 

of the Cabinet Work Plan. 

 

3A22. In either case, the Chair of the Finance and Management Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

must report on such consultations/agreements at the next meeting of Finance and 
Management Overview & Scrutiny committee. 

 

Call-in 

 

3A23. Call-in is the process which enables scrutiny to call-in a Key Decision to revisit a it and 

delay its implementation.  The process is intended to be used in exceptional circumstances 

for decision which are believed to be contrary to the Council’s decision making principles.  

More information regarding call-in can be found in Part 5 of the Constitution, Overview 

and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  

 

Page 59

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 34 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3A24. As call-in delays the implementation of a decision there may be occasions, for example 

where it is necessary to protect the interest of the Council or public, where is it is 

necessary to state in advance that call-in will not apply.  In such circumstances the following 

process will apply: 

- the Monitoring Officer will discuss the reasons for not applying the call-in rules with 

the Chair of the Finance and Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

- the decision making report will include details of the fact that the decision will not be 

subject to the rules of call-in and the views of the Chair of the Finance and 

Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

  

Page 60

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 35 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3B Council Functions 

The functions which may only be exercised by the Council are set out in the table below: 

Council Functions 

1. 
Determine which plans, strategies and polices shall comprise the Council’s Policy 

Framework and from time to time approve, adopt and amend those plans, strategies 

and policies. 

2. 
Determine and amend the Council’s Budget. 

3. 
Approve a departure from the approved Policy Framework and / or the approved 

Budget. 

4. 
Appoint and remove the Leader. 

5 
Change the executive arrangements of the Council. 

.6 
Establish, abolish, and decide the terms of reference and the composition of Council, 

Committees and make appointments including co-opted members to them and other 

non-Executive bodies. 

7. 
Make and amend Procedural Rules, Financial Rules and Contract Rules. 

8. 
Change the name of the District or a parish. 

9. 
Elect a Council Chair and Vice-Chair 

10 
Promote or oppose parliamentary or private members bills  

11. 
Where it is the function of the Council, divide Parliamentary Constituencies and local 

government electoral divisions into polling districts. 

12. 
Appoint an Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer for local government 

elections. 

13. 
Make, amend, revoke, or re-enact by-laws. 

14. 
Fill Council or Parish Council vacancies in the event of insufficient nominations. 

Page 61

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 36 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

15. 
Change ordinary year of election of parish councillors. 

16. 
Confirm the appointment of the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) and designate 

officers as the Monitoring Officer and the S151 Officer. 

17. 
Make a scheme for the payment of allowances to Members and determine the amount 

of all allowances payable to Members of the Council. 

18. 
Establish and abolish Joint Committees (in respect of non-Executive functions). 

19. 
Approve the Pay Policy Statement. 

20. 
In addition to annual approval of appointments to outside bodies, to appoint or 

nominate individuals to outside bodies in respect of non-Executive Functions and 

revoke or withdraw such appointment or nomination where there is no Group Leader 

consensus on the decision to be taken. 

21. 
Adopt or amend the Code of Members’ Conduct and the Arrangements for 

investigating allegations 

22. 
Receive and consider statutory reports from the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 

Officer, and the Monitoring Officer. 

23. 
Authorise virements from the Council’s approved Annual Revenue and Capital   

Budgets in excess of £150,000. 

24. 
Certain functions of local authorities are classified as “Local Choice” functions under 

the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (Functions and 

Responsibilities) Regulations 2000, Schedule 2. The Council can decide which of these 

decisions should be taken by the Full Council and which should be taken by the 

Cabinet. 

25. 
Approval and allocation of the Council’s annual borrowing limit 

26. 
The power to submit proposals to the Secretary of State for an Order under 

Section10 (pilot schemes for local elections in England and Wales) of the 

Representation of the People Act 2000 

27. 
Any resolution for whole Council elections 

28. 
Any change in the name of electoral areas 

Page 62

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 37 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

29. 
Any decision as to whether a casino should be in the District 

30. 
To undertake the function of Trustee in respect of all Trusts held by the Council 

(where applicable) 

31. 
Make changes to the Constitution (other than minor amendments which are delegated 

to the Monitoring Officer or any protocol which falls within the Terms of Reference of 

any Committee) 

32. 
Delegating functions to other local authorities and deciding whether to accept such a 

delegation from another authority 

33. 
Set the Council Tax 

34. 
Approving the acquisition or disposal of land or property outside of the Council’s 

Recovery Investment Strategy over £1,000,000. 

35. 
Approving the acquisition or disposal of  land and property made under the Council’s 

Recovery Investment Strategy over £3,000,000 

36. 
All other matters which by law must be reserved to the Council 

3B2. Policy Framework  

The policy framework comprises the following plans and strategies: 

● Council Plan 

● Community Safety Plan 

● Plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan (the West 

Oxfordshire District Local Plan and the Council’s input into the Oxfordshire County 

Structure Plan) 

● Pay Policy 

● Licensing Policy Statements (Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005) 

● Budget, which includes: 

− The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 

− Capital Programme 

− Setting the Council Tax 

− Decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirements, the control 

of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits 

− The Capital, Treasury Management and Investment Strategies 

  

Page 63

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/vtnnfcjj/westoxoncouncilplan.pdf
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/communities-and-leisure/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policy/local-plan/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policy/local-plan/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-performance-and-spending/finance-and-expenditure/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/business-and-licensing/apply-or-renew-licences-and-permits/gambling/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-performance-and-spending/finance-and-expenditure/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-performance-and-spending/finance-and-expenditure/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 38 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3C Committee Functions 

3C.1  Council has established the Committees set out in the table below to discharge certain 

functions but retains the right to a concurrent and overriding exercise of all functions in 

the table below.  Unless otherwise required by law, a Committee or Sub-Committee may 

determine not to exercise a function delegated to it and refer that function upwards for 

determination by Council or the parent Committee 

3C.2 The Council must have at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, however the 

Council currently operates a model of three Overview and Scrutiny Committees which 

cover the following areas: 

- Finance and Management  

- Environment 

- Economic and Social 

3C.3 A Committee may establish such Sub-Committee(s) as it sees fit to undertake certain of 

its functions and the Table below include such Sub-Committees. (If applicable) 

Scrutiny Committees  

To perform a broad-based overview and scrutiny role across all areas of the Council, while discharging 

the functions conferred by the Local Government Act 2000 as amended and any associated 

regulations, including: 

1 Co-ordinate, champion, and lead on the scrutiny of Council and Executive decisions. Ensure 

consistency and compatibility between the policies and strategies of the Council contributing to 

the Continuous Improvement of Public Services 

2 Have all of the functions, powers and duties conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government 

Act 2000 (as amended) including: 

- To review and scrutinise decisions  

- To make reports and recommendations to Council or Cabinet in relation to the 

discharge of any functions 

- To make reports and recommendations to Council or Cabinet on matters which effect 

the Council’s area or its residents  

3 Determine the allocation of work in the event that the scope of the subject matter of a scrutiny 

study or investigation overlaps the role of more than one Sub-Committee or Task and Finish 

Group 

Page 64

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 39 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

4 Review the operation of the scrutiny process and work programmes of the Overview & Scrutiny 

Sub Committees and Task and Finish Groups and inform and advise Council in relation to 

priorities and the allocation of resources 

5 Oversee and review the resources, support, training, and development of Overview & Scrutiny 

Members 

6 Develop a positive “critical friend” approach to the role of scrutiny of the Council and 

Community issues and Review and scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the 

Cabinet collectively or by individual Cabinet Members 

7 Provide and co-ordinate the input to an annual report to Full Council on such issues or topics as 

the Committee sees fit and Produce special interest reports following topic reviews 

8 Consider the management of matters called in for review under the Overview and Scrutiny Rules 

9 Consider matters referred to it by the Councillors’ Call for Action 

10 Review and scrutinise the work of the Cabinet and consider, and comment, on the Corporate 

Plan, Community Strategy; and the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy, and annual Budget. 

11 Review and scrutinise the content of the Cabinet Work Plan and monitor that actions required 

arising out of decisions made are implemented and evaluate the impact of decisions made 

12 
Review and scrutinise the decisions and policies of the Council (N.B. This does  not apply to 

decisions made on quasi-judicial matters but can apply to the process by which such decisions 

are made) 

13 Consider any matters which affect the authority, the District, or its residents Liaise with other 

external organisations operating in the District, whether national, regional or local, to ensure that 

the interests of local people are protected or enhanced by collaborative working. 

14 Overview the development of policies and strategies within the Council and scrutinise the 

effectiveness of the Council’s policies and strategies, in particular in achieving defined outcomes 

or objectives.  Assist in the development of new policies and strategies, or the review of existing 

ones. 

15 Review and assess the Council’s overall performance in relation to its policy objectives, 

performance targets and budgets and/or particular service areas, and make recommendations 

thereon to the Cabinet and/or the Council 

Page 65

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 40 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

16 Review and assess the quality of service delivery, performance and efficiency across the Council, 

identify and promote best practice and make recommendations thereon to the Cabinet and/or 

the Council 

17 Consider and comment on service reviews/transformation 

18 Participate in county-wide joint scrutiny arrangements. Liaise  with  other  external  organisations  

operating  in  the  area, whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local 

people are enhanced by collaborative working 

19 Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area (inviting reports from 

them by requesting them to address the Committee and local people about their activities and 

performance) 

20 Act as the Council’s Crime and Disorder Committee, having all the powers and functions, powers 

and duties conferred by Section 19 of the Crime and Justice Act 2006 

21 To consider reports on the Council’s Treasury Management function including: 

● Recommending the Treasury Management Strategy to Council 

● Recommending the half-year and outturn Treasury Management performance reports to 

Council 

Receiving updates from the Council’s Treasury Management advisor and providing guidance to 

the S.151 Officer in exercising delegations under the Treasury Management Strategy 

 Powers 

22 The Committee has the right to require the attendance of any Council Officers and/or Members 

in order to respond directly to any issue under consideration. 

To review any issues referred to it by the Chief Executive, other Statutory Officer, or any other 

Council body; and,  

The power to call expert witnesses from outside the Council to give advice on matters under 

review or discussion. 

 

 

 

Page 66

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 41 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Development Control Committee and Uplands and Lowlands Committees 

The Council separates it Planning decision making into four areas;  

 decisions which delegated to officers  

 decisions in relation to the wards in the Uplands area of the district  

 decisions in relation to wards in the Lowlands area of the district; and  

 decisions of the Development Control Committee (such decisions relate to applications which in 

the opinion of the Senior Officer with Responsibility for Planning, are of significant local 

importance e.g. major housing development, or where either the Uplands or Lowlands 

Committee propose to make a decision which would be unlawful, seriously undermine policy, set 

adverse precedent or  result in substantial costs being awarded against the Council   

The responsibilities detailed below relate to the Uplands and Lowlands Committees as appropriate but 

are also exercisable by the Development Control Committee  

1 To determine planning applications, the terms of planning agreements and such other matters as 

are considered appropriate from time to time, excluding matters relating to policy. 

2 To determine matters relating to planning as a Local Planning Authority excluding strategic 

planning matters such as the preparation, adoption and review of the Council’s statutory Local 

Development Plan and representation of the Local Planning Authority’s view to other bodies as 

appropriate on strategic planning matters. 

3 Without prejudice to the above roles and the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, the Development 

Control Committee together with the Upland and Lowlands Sub-Committees shall be responsible 

for those matters set out in Part A (Functions relating to Town and Country Planning and 

Development Control) of Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 

(England) Regulations 2000 

4 To determine: 

● Applications submitted by or on behalf of the District Council, or for development on 

Council owned land or where the Council has a direct interest, except where no 

objections are received or any application required in connection with flood 

prevention/alleviation schemes. For purposes of clarity, once the principle of development 

has been established by Committee, subsequent applications to discharge conditions or for 

minor variations may be determined in accordance with the Non-Executive Officer 

Scheme of Delegation  

● Applications submitted by a serving Member or Officer of the Council or a consultant 

employed by the Council, or in which they have a beneficial interest (i.e. they own the land 

or are a prospective purchaser), or submitted by an immediate relative to the above; with 

the exception of applications made by non-Planning staff (excluding those in politically 

Page 67

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 42 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

restricted posts) for householder development.   

5 
● Applications, which constitute a significant departure from the most up to date Local Plan 

that is formally approved or adopted by the Council for Development Management 

purposes. 

● Applications which involve an agreement under S.106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 

1990, or the proposed variation or discharge of a Section 106 deed, that materially differs 

from the Council’s standard models or departs from the reasons for the original imposition 

of the obligation 

● Applications which are accompanied by an Environmental Statement. 

● Applications for the felling of a tree(s) protected by a Tree Preservation  

Order (except where exempted by the Act) and not associated with an application for 

planning permission, where there are objections received 

6 To make recommendations to the Cabinet on the budget for the Committee. 

7 To make recommendations to Full Council in terms of the level of delegation to Officers. 

 

Licensing Committee 

1 To undertake all matters in relation to the statutory licensing and registration functions of the 

Council (save to the extent that such responsibility has been delegated to another sub-committee 

of this Committee or Officer by the Council) such duties to include liquor, entertainment and late 

night refreshment licensing and the Gambling Act 2005. The Committee’s role includes the 

formulation and approval of policy guidelines with the exception of the following which are dealt 

with by the Council: 

● Licensing Policy Statement - Licensing Act 2003 

● Gambling Policy - Statement of Principles - Gambling Act 2005. 

2 To hear and determine licence applications that are contentious and/or where objections have 

been lodged by statutory consultees, residents, other third parties or where officers have 

reservations about the appropriateness of an application or the suitability of an applicant. 

3 Without prejudice to the above roles and the Council’s Scheme of Delegation the Licensing 

Committee shall be responsible for those matters set out  in Parts B and C (Licensing and 

Registration functions) of Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 

(England) Regulations 2000, the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 

4 The Licensing Committee shall be empowered to set up a sub- committee or sub-committees to 

discharge functions and act in accordance with powers delegated by the Committee. In the 

Page 68

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 43 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

context of the Committee’s powers under the Gambling Act 2005, sub delegation may extend to 

the permitted discharge of functions by an officer. 

5 To receive reports and determine policy in relation to street trading. 

6 To approve policy and to determine fees in relation to scrap metal dealer licensing. 

 

Licensing Panel (Licensing Act 2003) 

1  To determine applications where representations are made, or to determine a review application.  

2 To review a personal licence. 

 

Licensing Sub Committee (Taxi, Private Hire and Street Trading) 

1  To determine applications where relevant offences feature on the Disclosure Barring Service (DBS) 

check 

2 To consider representations as made or to review a licence. 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

Governance, risk and control 

1 Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance arrangements  including: 

● Monitoring the effectiveness of the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibility for ensuring an 

adequate internal control environment; 

● To approve    the    Risk    Management    Policy    Statement and monitor its operation; 

● Monitoring the arrangements for the identification, monitoring and control of  strategic 

and operational risk within the Council; 

● Monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements in place for combating 

fraud and corruption; 

● Providing an annual report to Council that its systems of governance are operating 

effectively, which includes the Committee’s performance in relation to the terms of 

reference; 

● Reviewing and approving the annual Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance 

Page 69

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 44 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Statement and its associated assurance framework; 

● Considering the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review assurances 

and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements; 

● Ensuring that Internal Audit has the right of independent access to the Committee and its 

Chair; 

● Reviewing and monitoring treasury management arrangements in accordance   with the 

CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice; 

● Considering and advising changes to the Council’s Constitution in respect of Contract 

Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 

● Formulating and keeping under review a Code of Conduct to promote high ethical 

standards amongst Officers and doing anything that is considered to promote and 

maintain high standards of conduct by Officers; 

● Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s ‘whistle-blowing’ policy;  

● Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s arrangements for handling complaints 

and investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman, and 

● Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of cyber security arrangements (the protection of 

information systems, hardware, software and associated infrastructure, the data on them, 

and the services they provide, from unauthorised access, harm or misuse). This includes 

harm caused intentionally by the operator of the system, or accidentally, as a result of 

failing to follow security procedures 

Ethics and Behaviours 

2 To promote, maintain and assist the achievement of high standards of conduct by Councillors 

and co-opted members in accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

● To monitor the operation of the Code of Conduct for Members; 

● To advise the Council on any amendment or revision of the Code; 

● To secure adequate and appropriate training of Councillors and co-opted Members 

on the Code of Conduct for Members; 

● To give general guidance and advice to Councillors on Members’ interests and keep under 

review the Register of Members’ Interests maintained by the Monitoring Officer; and 

● To give general guidance and advice to Councillors and employees on gifts and 

hospitality 

External Audit 

Page 70

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 45 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3 Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s external audit service and respond to 

its findings. Specifically: 

● Considering the appointment, nature and scope of the external audit of the Council’s 

services and functions; 

● Receiving and considering all external audit reports including the annual plan, annual audit 

letter and governance report; and 

● Monitoring management’s response to the external auditor’s findings and the 

implementation of external audit recommendations. 

Internal Audit 

4 Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal Audit service. Specifically: 

● Approving the Internal Audit Charter; 

● Approving the annual risk based Internal Audit Plan; 

● Receiving communications from the Chief Internal Auditor on the internal audit activity’s 

performance relative to its plan and other matters, including the annual report and 

opinion; 

● Receiving and considering major Internal Audit findings and recommendations; 

● Monitoring management’s response to Internal Audit findings and the 

implementation of the recommendations; 

● Making appropriate enquiries of management and the Chief Internal Auditor to determine 

whether there are inappropriate scope and resource limitations; 

● Agreeing the scope and form of the external assessment as part of the quality assurance 

and improvement plan; 

● Receiving the results of internal and external assessments of the quality assurance and 

improvement programme, including areas of non-conformance with professional 

standards; and 

● Approving significant consulting services not already included in the audit plan, prior to 

acceptance of the engagement, if this materially impacts on core assurance activity. 

Powers 

5 
● The Committee has the right to require the attendance of any Council officers and/or 

members in order to respond directly to any issue under consideration; 

● To review any issues referred to it by the Chief Executive, other statutory officer or 

any Council body; and 

● The power to call expert witnesses from outside the Council to give advice on matters 

under review or discussion. 

 

Page 71

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 46 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Standards Sub-Committee 

1 The Audit and Governance Committee have the power to establish a Standards Sub-Committee 

to deal all matters relating to standards and ethics and to sit in the capacity of a hearing panel 

to, in conjunction with the Independent Person, to hear allegations that Members have failed to 

comply with the Member’s Code of Conduct. Specifically to: 

●    Assess and review allegations of Member misconduct; and 

● Determine allegations of Member misconduct 

● Agree sanctions is appropriate. 

 

Performance & Appointments Committee (Statutory Officers)  

1 To recommend the appointment of the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, (Section 151 

Officer if not the Deputy Chief Executive) and Monitoring Officer to Council. 

2 To consider all relevant matters relating to the salaries and contractual terms of the Chief 

Executive/Head of Paid Service and Statutory Officers. 

3 To approve terms for the retirement of the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service). 

4 To conduct grievance and disciplinary matters in respect of the Statutory Officers in accordance 

with the Council or statutory procedures (Members must be trained to carry out this role). 

5 To suspend the Chief Executive and Statutory Officers whilst an investigation takes place into 

alleged misconduct. 

6 To conduct appraisals of the Chief Executive (N.B. For this purpose, the Leader of the Council, in 

consultation with the other Panel Members, will select an Appraisal Panel of four Members, to 

include one other Group Leader). 

7 To manage and consider any disciplinary and/or capability and any grievance matters  arising in 

relation to the Statutory Officers 

8 To carry out the function of an Investigating & Disciplinary Committee as set out in the JNC 

Conditions of Service for Chief Executives and the JNC Conditions of Service for Chief Officers. 

Page 72

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 47 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

9 In respect of Statutory Officers to: 

(a) decide whether the issues requires no formal action or 

(b) whether the issue should be referred to an Independent Person 

(c) be responsible for the appointment and terms of reference of the Independent Person 

(d) receive and consider the report of the Independent Person 

(e) hold a capability or disciplinary hearing 

 

Following receipt of any Independent Person report, to determine a course of action (up to and 

including dismissal) within the Council’s powers under law and in accordance with the Council's 

procedures including the procedures set out in the Officer Employment Procedure Rules. 

Council must approve any dismissal of Statutory Officers. 

 

Urgency Committee 

1 Following a recommendation from the Chief Executive (or in his absence the Deputy Chief 

Executive) to deal with matters where an urgent decision is required to discharge any Council 

function other than those required by statute to be taken by the Executive or the Council itself.  

 

Emergency Decisions 

1 The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and/or the Monitoring Officer 

as appropriate, may take any necessary decision in cases of emergency.  

(Emergency shall mean any situation in which the officer believes that failure to act would 
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. Such interests are to be interpreted 
widely and include (but are not limited to) the risk of damage to property or threat to the health 
or wellbeing of an individual; and also the power to commence or defend legal proceedings in any 
court or tribunal) 

Any decision under the above provisions shall be recorded and published, and reported to 

Council, Cabinet or the appropriate Committee or Sub-Committee, such report to include the 

reasons that the powers needed to be used. 

2 The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and/or the Monitoring Officer 

as appropriate, to take a decision in relation to any function of the Cabinet or of a Committee or 

Sub-Committee where the matter is urgent and cannot reasonably await the next meeting of that 

body, and subject also to consultation with the Leader or in their absence the Deputy Leader of 

the Council; or with the Chair or in their absence the Vice Chair of the Committee or Sub-

Committee, as the case may be 

Page 73

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 48 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Any decision under the above provisions shall be recorded and published, and reported to 

Council, Cabinet or the appropriate Committee or Sub-Committee, such report to include the 

reasons that the powers needed to be used. 

 

Working Groups 

1 Working Groups may be formed by the Cabinet, Cabinet Members, or by Committees, for ad 

hoc, project-specific tasks. Their work should be scoped upon formation, and time-limited and 

business to be discussed at any meeting will be prescribed in advance by terms of reference 

2 Whilst Members of the Council will be invited to participate, other persons may be invited to 

attend at the discretion of the ‘body’ that formed the working group. 

3 Working Groups are designed to facilitate discussion and the exchange of ideas on specific topics, 

which could include policy development but are not decision-making bodies. 

4 Working Groups will be serviced by subject matter expert officers and a record will be kept of 

the issues considered and the outcome of the Group’s discussions will be circulated to body that 

formed the working group. 

5 Working Groups may be formed to consider a cross-cutting issue, or to assist a scrutiny inquiry. 

 

  

Page 74

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 49 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3D Cabinet Functions 

3D1. The Council operates a Leader and Cabinet form of Executive and the Leader of the 

Council specifies how the functions of the Executive (known as ‘Executive Functions’) will 

be carried out.  All functions of the Council that are not reserved by law as Non-Executive 

(see Part 3C above), are Executive functions. Except where the law otherwise provides, it 

is at the Leader’s discretion to determine how decision-making in relation to Executive 

functions will be exercised. All “Local Choice” functions (ie those specified in regulations 

under section 13(3)(b)) of the Local Government Act 2000) are Executive functions. 

 

3D2. The Leader may discharge any Executive functions directly or may arrange for the 

discharge of those functions by: 

 

● the Cabinet 

● a Cabinet Committee 

● an individual member of the Cabinet (Cabinet Member) 

● an officer of the Council 

● another local authority 

● jointly with another local authority through a joint committee or Officer 

 
3D3. The Cabinet undertakes all Executive functions including: 

 

(a) proposing plans and strategies, including the overall Budget, the Policy Framework, 

changes to the Constitution and arrangements for the good governance of the 

authority, to Council to approve and adopt 

(b) publishing in the Cabinet Work Plan all decisions by Cabinet, individual Cabinet 

members and Key Decisions made by officers 

(c) establishing committees to discharge specific Executive functions, or establishing 

working groups or panels to review or advise on specific issues  

(d) representing the Council locally, nationally, and international 

(e) attending meetings of the Overview & Scrutiny committee and any Task and Finish 

Groups when required to do so. 

(f) agreeing the acquisition and disposal of property (within limits set out in the Financial 

Rules and the Acquisition and Disposal Policy) and the management of the Council's 

land holdings  

(g) proposing acquisition or disposal of land and property to Council where the financial 

implications exceed the threshold delegated to the Cabinet 

(h) exercising the powers and duties of the Council in respect of leisure, museums, 

consumer protection and environmental health 

(i) acting as waste collection authority 

(j) agreeing protocols for consultation and relations with outside bodies 

 

3D4. Delegations 
 

The Leader has exercised the power of delegation in the manner set out below.  A 

reference to ‘Cabinet Member’ means a Cabinet Member acting in portfolio and reference 

to ‘Officer’ means Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, or designated senior Publica 

employee, when acting as an employee of West Oxfordshire District Council. 

Page 75

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 50 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3D5. The Leader has directed that the Executive Functions delegated to Cabinet Members shall 

not be sub-delegated to Officers without prior consent. 

 

3D6.  Each person or body to whom an Executive Function is delegated shall be empowered to 

take any step for the purposes of or in connection with the discharge of the Function and 

may do anything incidental or conducive to discharge of the Function or do anything 

expedient in connection with the discharge of the Function. 

 

3D7. The Leader may amend these delegations at any time by giving notice in writing to any 

person who currently holds the power and any person to whom the power is now to be 

delegated and to the Proper Officer (in this case the Chief Executive or in their absence or 

where they are unable to act the Deputy Chief Executive) setting out the change to be 

made; such amendment to take effect immediately on confirmation of receipt by the Proper 

Officer. The Proper Officer will ensure that this Part 3 of the Constitution is updated 

forthwith. 

 

3D8. Where an Executive Function has been delegated by the Leader this does not prevent the 

Leader from exercising that Function. 

 

3D9. In the absence of the Leader of the Council the person or persons designated by the 

Leader and notified by the Leader to the Proper Officer as having responsibility for the 

Leader's area(s) of responsibility is or are authorised to exercise the functions of the 

Leader pursuant to the Constitution. 

 

3D10. The following delegations are currently in place 

 

Functions Delegation  

The implementation of the approved policy and budget 

framework, except in relation to those functions identified 

as Council functions above, including the management, 

control and supervision of: 

● the Council’s own financial and property resources 

● housing and Council tax benefit 

● leisure, sports, arts and tourism services 

● housing provision, homelessness and the 

maintenance of the common waiting list 

● the preparation and review of the Development 

Plan and other planning policies and procedures 

● environmental health and protection  

● grounds maintenance 

● refuse collection, recycling and amenity cleansing 

● measures to promote the economic, 

environmental  and social well-being of the district 

● measures to promote community safety and 
reduce drug abuse 

● measures to promote skills training and 

development 

Functions delegated to the Chief 

Executive and Officers in accordance 

with Officer Scheme of Delegation (Part 

4) 

Page 76

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 51 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

● measures in pursuit of the Council’s rural issues, 

anti-poverty, and climate 

change/environment/sustainability strategies 

● measures to promote high quality services to the 

communities of the district 

Subscriptions and Donations to Voluntary Bodies - to 

approve the award of grants subject to any grant award 

not exceeding £1,000 

Cabinet Member for Customer Delivery 

Discretionary Rate Relief – to grant discretionary rate 

relief in accordance with the Council’s Discretionary Rate 

Relief policy, except for those decisions already delegated 
to officers under the Officer Scheme of Delegation (Part 

4) 

Cabinet Member for Finance 

Debt Write-Offs – to approve the writing off of debts, 

except for those already delegated to officers under the 

Officer Scheme of Delegation (Part 4) 

Cabinet Member for Finance 

Sport and Recreation Grants – to determine applications 

for Sport and Recreation grants which accord with the 

Council’s approved criteria up to a maximum of £3,000 

per grant 

Cabinet Member for Customer Delivery 

Village Hall Grants – to determine applications for Village 

Halls (Minor Scheme) grants which accord with the 

Council’s approved criteria up to a maximum of £5,000 

per grant 

Cabinet Member for Customer Delivery 

Arts and Sports Achievement / High Achievers Awards - 

To determine applications for Arts and Sports 

Achievement Awards and High Achievers Awards which 

accord with the Council’s approved criteria up to a 

maximum of £300 per grant for the Arts and Sports 

Achievement Awards and £1,000 per grant for the High 

Achievers Award 

Leader of the Council 

Playground  Grants - To determine applications for 

Playground (Revenue) grants which accord with the 

Council’s approved criteria up to a maximum of £2,000 

per grant and Playground (Capital) grants up to a 

maximum of £5,000 per grant 

Cabinet Member for Customer Delivery 

  

Page 77

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 52 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

3E Roles and Responsibilities of all Councillors 

 

Councillors will participate constructively in the good government of the District in the interest of 

all residents. They will contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the Council’s policies, 

budget, strategies, plans and service delivery. 

 

Councillors will deal with the constituents’ enquiries and representations, and will effectively 

represent the interests of the Ward for which they were elected and views of constituents. 

 

Councillors may also be required to represent the Council on an outside body, such as a 

governing body or charitable trust. 

 

DUTIES 

 

● To fulfil the statutory and locally determined requirements of an elected Member of the 

Council. 

● To participate effectively as a Member of any working group to which the Councillor is 

appointed. 

● To participate in the activities of an outside body to which the Councillor is appointed. 

● To participate, as appointed, in the scrutiny of the services and policies of the Council and 

their effectiveness in meeting the strategic objectives of the Council and the needs of its 

residents. 

● To participate in Working Groups. 

● To represent the Council to the community and the community to the Council and to 

other relevant bodies. To provide a voice and advice for local individuals and interest 

groups in their dealings with the Council and, where appropriate, to advise them on the 

pursuit of complaints. 

● To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council’s services, management 

arrangements, powers/duties and constraints and to develop good working relationships 

with relevant Officers of the Council. 

● To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the organisations, services, activities and 

other factors which impact upon the Community’s well-being and identity, including 

developing and maintaining good working relationships local Town and Parish Councils and 

with local County Councillors. 

● To contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal through active 

encouragement to the community to participate generally in the government of the area. 

● To keep up to date with all developments affecting the District and the Council including 

Government policies and prospective legislation. 

  

Page 78

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 53 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Part 4: Officer Scheme of Delegation 

Introduction 

Council has delegated to committees and officers the exercise of a range of functions set out in 

the table below (as referred to in Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities (Functions and 

Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, as amended), which are not the responsibility of the 

Executive. 

 

When exercising these delegated powers, officers should maintain a close liaison with the relevant 

committee chair and refer any proposed action to the relevant committee if required by the chair. 

 

Officers may, in turn, authorise other officers to exercise their functions, or escalate the making of 

those decisions to Chief Executive or Deputy Chief Executive but must ensure that such 

delegations are documented and are regularly reviewed. 

 

Any manager may exercise any power delegated to an officer for whom they have supervisory 

responsibility, except those reserved by law to others.  

Any Non-Executive function may be exercised by the Chief Executive or the Deputy Chief 

Executive notwithstanding its delegation to another officer (except those reserved by law to 

others). 

 

In the absence of the Chief Executive The Deputy Chief Executive is authorised to exercise any 

functions which are delegated to the Chief Executive Officers (or an officer authorised by them) 

may act on urgent matters, which would otherwise require reference to, or consultation with 

Council or a committee, if there is no time for such reference or consultation to be made; 

relevant committee chairmen should be consulted if time permits. All such decisions should be 

reported to the next meeting of Council or committee. 

 

Certain Non-Executive decisions taken by officers must be recorded and published, in accordance 

with The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014. 
 

In addition to the specific powers detailed in the tables below all powers necessary and 

appropriate for the operational discharge of functions, whether mandatory or discretionary are 

deemed delegated to the Senior Officer(s) with responsibility for discharging that function, or 

exercising that power, without a specific resolution of Council or Cabinet, unless the legislation 

requires a positive resolution or a specific procedure to be adopted before the function can be 

undertaken.  Such delegated powers are to be exercised with due professional skill and diligence 

relevant to the post and are subject to the limitations, if any, set by the relevant committee and 

budgetary resources.  Further, such delegated powers will be exercised in compliance with and 

consistent with the policy framework adopted by Council and in accordance with law and the 

principles of this constitution.  The Senior Officers will be able to appoint such officers as they 

consider necessary to assist in the discharge of the functions. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt the role of Head of Paid Service is held by the Chief Executive and the 

Section 151 Officer is the Chief Finance Officer, who also holds the position of Deputy Chief 

Executive. 

Page 79

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 54 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Statutory and Proper Officers 

The council has appointed Proper Officers for the purposes of the statutory provisions set out 

below. Power to appoint Proper Officers is delegated to the Head of Paid Service (Chief 

Executive), following consultation with the Monitoring Officer, unless legislation requires the 

appointment to be made by Council. 

 

The Chief Executive and other senior officers shall be authorised to act as the Proper Officer for 

the statutory responsibilities which fall within their areas of responsibility set out below: 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

Section  Purpose Proper Officer 

 Any reference to the Clerk of a council which, by virtue 

of the Local Government Act 1972, is to be construed 

as a reference to the Proper Officer of the council 

Monitoring Officer 

 Any reference to the Treasurer of a council which, by 

virtue of the Local Government Act 1972, is to be 

construed as reference to the Proper Officer of the 

council 

Chief Finance 

Officer 

83 Witness and receive declarations of Members’ 

acceptance of office 

Monitoring Officer 

84 Receive written notice of Members’ resignation from 

office 

Chief Executive 

88(2) Convene Council meeting for election to vacant office 

of Chair 

Chief Executive 

89(1)(B) Receive notice of casual vacancy from two 

local government electors 

Chief Executive 

100B(2) Decide on the exclusion of reports and agendas from 

public inspection 

Monitoring Officer 

100B(7)(c) Decide whether copy documents supplied to 

Members should also be supplied to the press 

Monitoring  Officer 

 

100C(2) Produce a written summary of proceedings taken 

by a committee in private 

Monitoring  Officer 

100D(1)(a) Compile a list of background papers to a committee 

report. 

Officer in whose 

name the report is  

written 

100D(5)(a) Identify background papers that disclose facts or 

matters on which a report is based 

Officer in whose 

name the report is 

written 

100F(2) Identify which documents contain exempt 
information not open to inspection by all Members 

Monitoring  Officer 

115(2) Receive from Officers any money and property 
committed to their charge in connection with their 

office 

Chief Finance Officer 

151 Responsibility for the administration of the Council’s                                      

financial affairs. 

Chief Finance Officer 

191(2)77 Receive applications from Ordnance Survey for 

assistance in surveying disputed boundaries. 

Chief Executive 

Page 80

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 55 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

210(6)-(7) Exercise residual functions relating to charities. Chief Finance Officer 

225(1) Receive and retain documents deposited with the 

Council 

Head of Legal 

Services 

229(5) Certify, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, 

that a document is a photographic copy of the 

original 

Head of Legal 

Services 

234(1) Sign public notices, orders and other documents on 

behalf of the council 

Head of Legal 

Services (generally) 

and the officers listed 

in the Scheme of 

Delegation within 

their area of 

responsibility  

238 Certification of copy bylaws Head of Legal 

Services 

Sch.12 Pt1 

Para.4(2)(b) 

Sign and send to all Members of the council the 

summons to attend meetings of the council 

Chief Executive 

Sch.12 Pt1 

Para 4(3) 

Receive written notice from a Member of the 

address to which a summons to the meeting is to be 

sent 

Monitoring Officer 

Sch.16 Para 

38 

Receipt of deposit of lists of protected buildings 

(Section 2 Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

Schedule 

29, Para.4 

Undertake duties at council elections which, under the 

Representation of the People Acts, are required to be 

undertaken not by the Returning Officer but by the 

Proper Officer 

Deputy Chief 

Executive 

Sch.29 Pt.I 

Para.4(1)(b) 

Adaptation, modification and amendment of enactments Head of Legal 

Services 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1974 

30(5) Give public notice of receipt of a Local Government 

Ombudsman’s report 

Monitoring Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

41 Certifying copy resolutions and minutes of proceedings Senior Officer with 

responsibility for 

Democratic Services 

REPRESENTATION OF THE PEOPLE ACT 1983 

8 Appointment as Electoral Registration Officer Chief Executive 

35 Appointment as Returning Officer Chief Executive 

67(7)(b) Receive declarations and give public notice of 

election agents’ appointments 

Chief Executive 

81 and 89 Appropriate officer for the election of councillors Chief Executive 

82(4) Receive declarations and give public notice of 

election agents’ or candidates’ election expenses 

Chief Executive 

Page 81

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 56 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

131 Providing accommodation for holding election count Chief Executive 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE ACT 1988 

114, 115 

and 115B 

Responsibility for Chief Financial Officer reports Chief Finance Officer  

116(1) Notify the external auditor of a meeting (and decisions 

made at such a meeting) to consider a report from the 
Chief Financial Officer (under section 114 and 115 above) 

Chief Finance Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING ACT 1989 

2(4) Hold the council’s list of politically restricted posts Monitoring Officer 

3A In consultation with the Monitoring Officer, 

determine applications for exemption from political 

restriction or for designation of posts as politically 

restricted 

Chief Executive 

4 Designation as Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

5(1) Designation as Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer 

5(7) Nominated as Deputy Monitoring Officer Head of Legal 

Services and 

Democratic Services 

Manager 

15-17 Undertake all matters relating to the formal 

establishment of political groups within the membership 

of the council 

Monitoring Officer 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (COMMITTEES AND POLITICAL GROUPS) REGULATIONS 

1990 

8(1), 8(5), 

9(b), 10, 

13(1), 14 

and 

17 

Notifications to and by the Proper Officer Monitoring Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 SECTIONS 9G, 9GA AND 22 LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

(EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION) 

(ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

7 Exclusion of whole or part of any reports to the Cabinet 

or Cabinet Member which contain exempt information 

Senior Officer with 

responsibility for 

Democratic Services 

10 Inform the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee Chair or the Committee Members by 

notice in writing of decisions to be made, where it has 

been impracticable to comply with the publicity 

requirements (in the “Forward Plan”) and make 

available or public inspection notices relating to this 

Monitoring Officer 

12 Produce a written statement of Cabinet decisions 

made at meetings 

Senior Officer with 

responsibility for 

Democratic Services 

Page 82

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 57 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

13 Produce a written statement of decisions made by 

individual Cabinet Members 

Senior Officer with 

responsibility for 

Democratic Services 

14 Make a copy of written statements of Cabinet and 

Cabinet Member and officer executive decisions and 

associated reports available for inspection by the 

public 

Senior Officer with 

responsibility for 

Democratic Services 

15 and 2 Make available for inspection a list of background papers Senior Officer with 

responsibility for 

Democratic Services 

16(5) Determine whether certain documents contain 

exempt information 

Head of Legal 

Services /Monitoring 

Officer 

20 Determine whether documents contain confidential 

information or exempt information 

Head of Legal 

Services or 

Monitoring Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000, SECTION 34 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (REFERENDUMS) (PETITIONS AND DIRECTIONS) REGULATIONS 

2000 

4-5 Publish the verification number of local government 

electors for the purpose of petitions under the Local 

Government Act 2000 

Chief Executive 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT (RIPA) 2000 

THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (PRESCRIPTION OF 

OFFICES, RANKS AND POSITIONS) ORDER 2000 

21, 22, 27, 

28 and 29 

Functions relations to the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers Act  2000 (RIPA) 

Chief Executive 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000, SECTIONS 22(2)(B) AND 25(2); 

THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COMMUNICATIONS DATA) ORDER 

2010; THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COVERT SURVEILLANCE AND 

PROPERTY INTERFERENCE: CODE OF PRACTICE) ORDER 2010; THE REGULATION OF 

INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES: CODE OF 

PRACTICE) ORDER 2010 

 Designated Senior Responsible Officer Head of Counter 

Fraud Team 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 

36 Qualified person to confirm or deny whether 

disclosure of information is likely to prejudice the 

effective conduct of public affairs 

Senior Officer with 

responsibility for 

Access to Information 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 

25 When the annual budget report is considered by 

Cabinet or by the Council, the Chief Financial Officer 

must make a report on the robustness of the 

estimates made in determining the budget 

Chief Finance Officer 

Page 83

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 58 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

requirement and on the adequacy of the proposed 

level of financial reserves 

LOCALISM ACT 2011 

29 Establish, maintain and publish a Register of Interests Monitoring 

Officer 

33(1) Receiving applications for dispensations Monitoring 

Officer 

33(2) Grant dispensations to Members to speak only or to 

speak and vote on matters where they have a 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

Monitoring Officer 

Sch.2, 

Pt1, 

Para.9FB 

Designation as Scrutiny Officer Senior Officer 

with 

responsibility for 

Democratic 

Services 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS AND ACCESS 

TO  INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

2, 7, 10, 12, 

13-16, 20 

Functions relating to the recording and 

publication of information relating to Cabinet 

decisions 

Monitoring 

Officer 

12-13 Grant dispensations in respect of conflicts of 

interest declared by a Cabinet member making a 

decision, or declared by a Cabinet member 

consulted by a member or officer taking such a 

decision 

Monitoring Officer 

69, 70 and 

71 

The designated Data Protection Officer to discharge 

functions   associated with the Data Protection Act 2018 

Data Protection 

Officer 

 

In the event of the Chief Executive being unavailable to deal with matters for which they have 

been designated the Proper Officer, the Deputy Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer may be 

authorised by them to act as Proper Officer in their absence. 

 

In the event of any other designated officer being unable to fulfil their duties as Proper Officer, 

their deputy shall be authorised to undertake such duties instead. 

Notwithstanding the above, a Proper Officer may at any time delegate or authorise other 

officers to perform the designated duties on their behalf. 

 

  

Page 84

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 59 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Functions in relation to Legal Services 

No. Function Act or Statutory 

Instrument 

(where 

applicable) 

Responsibility/Decision 

Maker 

1. To institute and defend in their own 

name all appropriate legal proceedings in 

any court, for and on behalf of the 

Council, where a decision has been 

made, whether under delegated authority 
of an officer or by Cabinet, Council or 

committee, and which relates to a 

regulatory or enforcement power. 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

2. Where the Council is engaged in any 

litigation, to have the conduct of the 
matter and full authority to receive any 

information in connection therewith and 

to settle or compromise any proceedings 

as they deem appropriate and expedient 

for the Council’s interests. 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

3. Authority to instruct private practice 

solicitors or junior barristers to 

undertake legal work when considered 

necessary or appropriate 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

4. To prosecute any offence of obstructing 

staff in the course of their official duties. 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

5. Authority to obtain counsel’s opinion 

provided that regular reports are made 

to Council on the costs of litigation. 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

6. In consultation with the Chief Executive 

to set charges for legal work 

rechargeable to external persons or 

organisations. 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

7. Recovery matters - Authority to act on 

the Council’s behalf in respect of 

attendance at the Magistrates Court and 

the County Court on all recovery 

matters, including applications for a 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

Page 85

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 60 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

committal warrant and attendance at 

valuation tribunals as appropriate. 

8. Issue notices under the provisions of the 

Drainage Acts 

n/a Head of Legal Services 

9. Court Attendance Section 223 of 

the Local 

Government 

Act 1972 

Members of the Legal 

Services team may be 

authorised to prosecute 

or defend actions and/or 

cases, and to represent 

the Council, in any 

Magistrates’ Court 

proceedings or County 

Court proceedings, 

valuation tribunals and 

planning inquires as 
appropriate, subject to 

the Head of Legal Services 

being satisfied with their 

legal competence 

10. Authority to complete Planning 

Agreements 

Section 106 of 
the Town and 

Country 

Planning Act 

1990 and 

Section 38 and 

278 of the 

Highways Act 

1980 

Head of Legal Services 

11. Power to apply the common seal of the 

Council and sign documents 

 Chief Executive, Deputy 

Chief Executive, 

Monitoring Officer and 

Head of Legal Services 

 

  

Page 86

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 61 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Functions in relation to Licensing  

No. Function Act or Statutory 

Instrument (where 

applicable) 

Responsibility/Decision 

Maker 

1. Power to issue licences 

authorising the use of land as a 

caravan site (“site licences”). 

Section 3(3) of the 

Caravan Sites and 

Control of Development 

Act 1960 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

2. Power to licence the use of 

moveable dwellings and camping 

sites. 

Section 269(1) of the 

Public Health Act 1936 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

3. Power to licence hackney 

carriages and private hire 

vehicles. 

As to hackney carriages, 

the Town Police Clauses 

Act 1847, as extended by 

section 171 of the Public 

Health Act 1875, and 

section 15 of the 

Transport Act 1985; and 

sections 47, 57, 58, 60 

and 79 of the Local 

Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

 

As to private hire 

vehicles, sections 48, 57, 

58, 60 and 79 of the 

Local Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Miscellaneous 

Licensing Sub Committee 

if previous convictions or 

required by Policy 

Guidelines 

4. Power to licence drivers of 

hackney carriages and private 

hire vehicles. 

Sections 51, 53, 54, 59, 

61 and 79 of the Local 

Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Miscellaneous 

Licensing Sub Committee 

if previous convictions 

Page 87

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 62 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

5. Power to licence operators of 

hackney carriages and private 

hire vehicles. 

Sections 55 to 58, 62 and 

79 of the Local 

Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Miscellaneous 

Licensing Sub Committee 
if required by Policy 

Guidelines                             

6. Any function of a licensing 

authority (including personal 

licences and premises licences) 

Licensing Act 2003 and 

any regulations or orders 

made under that Act 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 
refer to Licensing Panel if 

representations are 

received 

7. To exercise power of entry Section 179 of the 

Licensing Act 2003 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

8. Temporary event notice Licensing Act 2003, Part 

5 

The Licensing Act 2003 

(Permitted Temporary 
Activities) (Notices) 

Regulations 2005 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Licensing Panel if 
police or environmental 

health objection received 

9. Any functions of a licensing 

authority in relation to gambling 

Section 163, 164 & 165 

of the Gambling Act 2005 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 
refer to Licensing 

Committee if 

representations are 

received 

10. Temporary use notice 

(temporary gaming activities) 

Section 215 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 

Gambling Act 2005 

(Temporary Use 

Notices) Regulations 

2007 

Senior Officer 
Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Licensing 

Committee if 

representations are 

received 

11. Any functions related to gaming 

permits 

Sections 247, 271, 282, 

283, and 289 and 

Schedules 10, 11, 13 and 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

Page 88

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 63 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

14 of the Gambling Act 

2005 

Gambling Act (Club 

Gaming Permits) 

(Authorised Gaming) 

Regulations 2007 

Gaming Machines in 

Alcohol Licensed 

Premises (Notification 

Fee) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2007 

12. Duty to comply with 

requirement to provide 

information to Gambling 

Commission. 

Section 29 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

13. Functions relating to exchange 

of information. 

Section 30 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

14. Functions relating to occasional 

use notices 

Section 39 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

15. Power to institute criminal 

proceedings 

Section 346 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 

Head of Legal Services 

16. Functions relating to the 

registration and regulation of 

small 

society lotteries. 

Part 5 of Schedule 11 to 

the Gambling Act 2005 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

17. Power to licence persons to 

collect for charitable and other 

causes. 

Section 5 of the Police, 

Factories etc 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1916 and 

section 2 of the House to 

House Collections Act 

1939 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

Page 89

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 64 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

18. Street collection licence Sections 66 and 68 of the 

Charities Act 1992 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

19. Power to licence performances 

of hypnotism 

The Hypnotism Act 1952 Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Licensing 

Committee if 

representations are 

received 

20. Power to licence premises for 

acupuncture, tattooing, ear-

piercing and electrolysis 

Sections 13-17 of the 

Local Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Licensing 

Committee if 
representations are 

received 

21. Power to licence markets and 

street trading 

Part III and Schedule 4 of 

the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support 

22. Power to issue scrap metal 

dealers licences 

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 

2013 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Cabinet if 

previous convictions 

23. Power to licence premises for 

animal activities 

Section 1 of the Breeding 

of Dogs Act 1973 and 

section 1 of the Breeding 

and Sale of Dogs 
(Welfare) Act 1999. The 

Animal Welfare 

(Licensing of Activities 

Involving Animals) 

(England) Regulations 

2018 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Licensing 
Committee if 

representations are 

received 

24. Power to licence zoos Section 1 of the Zoo 

Licensing Act 1981 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Licensing 

Committee if 

Page 90

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 65 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

representations are 

received 

25. Power to licence dangerous wild 

animals 

Section 1 of the 

Dangerous Wild Animals 

Act 1976 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Licensing 

Committee if 

representations are 

received 

26. Power to issue pavement 

licences 

Business and Planning Act 

2000 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for Licensing 

and Business Support or 

refer to Chair of Licensing 

Committee if 

representations are 

received 

 

  

Page 91

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 66 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Functions in relation to Public Health, Environmental Health and Health and Safety 

No. Function Act or Statutory 

Instrument 

(where 

applicable) 

Responsibility/Decision 

Maker 

1. Functions under any of the “relevant 

statutory provisions” within the meaning 

of Part I (health, safety and welfare in 

connection with work, and control of 

dangerous substances) of the Health and 
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, to the 

extent that those functions are 

discharged otherwise than in the 

authority's capacity as an employer. 

Part I of the 

Health and 

Safety at Work 

etc. Act 1974 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

2. Inspection of premises the subject of an 
application for registration as keeper of a 

Common Lodging House 

Section 283 of 
the Public 

Health Act 1936 

Senior Officer 
Responsible for 

Operational Services 

3. Notices to be signed on behalf of the 

District Council 

Section 284 of 

the Public 

Health Act 1984 

Section 29 of 

the Public 

Health (Control 

of Disease) Act 

1984 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

4. Disinfection or destruction of verminous 

article 

Section 37 of 

the Public 

Health Act 1936 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

5. Public Health Protection Activities Section 129 of 

the Health and 
Social Care Act 

2008 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

6. Duty to enforce Chapter 1 and 

regulations made under it 

Section 10(3) of 

the Health Act 

2006 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

Page 92

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 67 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

7. Power to authorise officers Section 10(5) 

and paragraph 1 

of Schedule 2 of 

the Health Act 

2006 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

8. Functions relating to fixed penalty notices Paragraphs 13, 

15 and 16 of 

Schedule 1 to 

the Health Act 

2006 Smoke-
free (Vehicle 

Operators and 

Penalty Notices) 

Regulations 

2007 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

9. Power to transfer enforcement functions 

to another enforcement agency 

Smoke free 

(Premises and 

Enforcement) 

Regulations 

2006 

Senior Officer 

Responsible for 

Operational Services 

 
  

Page 93

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 68 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Functions in relation to Planning  

Enforcement Functions 

Ref. Function  Delegated by: Delegated to: 

PE1. To authorise named officers to enter land under the 

following provisions:-  

(a) Section 324 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990.  

(b) Sections 196a and 196b of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

(c) Sections 214b and 214c of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

(d) Sections 88a and 88b of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services/ Senior 

Officer for 

Planning  

PE2. 
To serve Requisitions for Information and Planning 

Contravention Notices under the following 

enactments:-  

(a) Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990.  

(b) Section 16 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  
(c) Section 89 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

(d) Section 171c of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services/ Senior 

Officer for 

Planning 

PE3. To institute proceedings in the Magistrates' Court for 

any non-return of the notices referred to above. 

Development 
Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PE4. To Serve Breach of Condition Notices Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PE5. To serve Enforcement Notices. Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

Page 94

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 69 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

PE6. To serve Notices under section 215 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act for remedying the condition of 

land and to undertake consequent legal or direct 

action in default to secure compliance with the notice 

and recover expenses reasonably incurred 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PE7. Under Section 187(B) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and Section 222 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 to seek an injunction to secure 

compliance with planning legislation or restrain 

breaches or anticipated breaches of planning control 
including breaches of agreements under Section 106 

of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PE8 
In cases of urgency the following matters:  

Article 4 Directions  

Listed Building Enforcement Notices  
Stop Notices  

Tree Preservation Orders  

Building Preservation Orders  

Temporary Stop Notices 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PE9. Powers of action under Section 225 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 relating to fly posting 

and/or as amended or extended by the Clean 

Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 

Development 
Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PE10. To serve discontinuance notices relating to breaches 

of Advertisement Regulations. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PE11. To take enforcement action and institute legal 

proceedings in respect of breaches of the Hedgerows 

Regulations 1997 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PE12. Applications under the Transport Act to the Licensing 

Authority for Goods Vehicle Operator's Licence: 

authority to make observations on the application to 

the Licensing Authority. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PE13 Institute, defend and withdraw criminal or civil legal 

proceedings for offences, breaches of Planning 

legislation (including for Listed Building Regulations 

and Tree Preservation Orders; non-compliance with 

enforcement notices, Stop Notices, Temporary Stop 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

Page 95

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 70 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Notices, Breach of Condition Notices, Section 215 

Notices, and unauthorised advertisements) 

PE14. To determine that no further action is required in 

respect of a breach of planning control which could 

have been dealt with under delegated powers through 

the grant of a planning permission had an application 

been submitted. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PE15 To withdraw Enforcement Notices and Breach of 

Condition Notices when they have clearly been 

complied with and it is no longer possible for 

breaches to occur. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PE16 The power to withdraw Article 4 Directions where it 

is no longer expedient to remove permitted 

development rights. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

 

Trees 

 Function Delegated by: Delegated to: 

PT1. In cases of urgency the making of Tree Preservation 

Orders 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PT2. Authority to confirm unopposed Tree Preservation 

Orders 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PT3 Authority to determine:  

(a) any application to carry out work to a tree(s) 

subject to a Tree Preservation Order;  

(b) any notification to carry out work to a tree within 

a Conservation Area.  

(Subject, in the case of a refusal recommendation, to 

prior consultation with the Ward Member(s)). 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning / 

Development 

Manager 

Page 96

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 71 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

PT4 To authorise named officers to enter land under the 

following provisions:-  

(a) Section 324 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990.  

(b) Sections 196a and 196b of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

(c) Sections 214b and 214c of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

(d) Sections 88a and 88b of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services / Senior 

Officer for 

Planning 

PT5. Authority to institute proceedings in the Magistrates' 

Court in respect of breaches of Tree Preservation 

Orders and Trees within Conservation Areas and non-

compliance with Tree Replacement Notices 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PT6 To determine Hedgerow Removal Notices and 

ancillary matters 

Development 
Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 
Planning / 

Development 

Manager 

PT7 To take enforcement action and institute legal 

proceedings in respect of breaches of the Hedgerows 

Regulations 1997 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PT8 To deal with any consultation (subject to there being 

no objections) by the Forestry Commission under:  

(a) Felling licence regulations.  

(b) The Forestry Grant Scheme.  

(c) Dedication Scheme.  

or such schemes and regulations as may replace or 

supplement the above. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning / 

Development 

Manager 

PT9 To determine, following prior consultation with the 

local Member(s), that no further action is required in 
respect of a breach of control which could have been 

dealt with under delegated powers had an application 

been submitted. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning / 
Development 

Manager 

 

Page 97

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 72 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

Development Management 

 Function  Delegated by: Delegated to: 

PDM

1 

To authorise named officers to enter land under the 

following provisions:-  

a) Section 324 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990.  

b) Sections 196a and 196b of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

c) Sections 214b and 214c of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

d) Sections 88a and 88b of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PDM

2 

To determine whether the prior approval of the 

Local Planning Authority is required for development 

falling within the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 

1995 (as amended). 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

3 

Authority to require an Environmental Statement 

under the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 1999 (as amended) and to offer 

screening and scoping opinions. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

4 

To determine (with or without planning conditions or 

obligations) all planning applications and applications 

for Advertisement Consent, Listed Building Consent, 

Conservation Area Consent (as amended), 

Certificates of Lawfulness, Time Limit Extensions, 

Variation of Conditions (S73) or Prior Approval 

under the General Permitted Development Order 
under delegated powers, with the following 

exceptions:-  

(a) Planning Applications which within 21 days of the 

date of registration any District Councillor requests 

(in writing) that it be determined by the 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning / 

Development 

Manager 

Page 98

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 73 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Committee/Sub-Committee, stating the planning 

reasons for such referral  

(b) Applications where the intended decision would 

be a material departure from the provisions of the 

approved or draft development plan or other 
approved or adopted Council planning policies or 

Supplementary Planning Guidance.  

(c) Applications submitted by or on behalf of the 

Council or which, in the opinion of a Senior Officer 

for Planning, affect Council owned land and/or 

buildings.  

(d) Applications for floodlight masts exceeding 6m in 

height when operational and Planning Applications for 

telecommunications masts (with the exception that 

additional antennae may be allowed provided that the 

Government’s safety guidelines are met) 

NB Applications for telecommunication masts under 

the prior approval process can be determined under 

delegated powers  

(e) Applications submitted by or on behalf of a 

Member or employee of the Council (or their 

spouse/partner) or where there may be a similar 

perceived or actual conflict of interest.  

(f) Applications which involve the proposed variation 

or discharge of a section 106 deed that materially 

differs from the Council’s standard models or departs 

from the reasons for the original imposition of the 

obligation  

(g) Applications which the Senior Officer for Planning 

or  Development Manager, considers should be 

referred to the appropriate Area Planning Sub-

Committee for determination.  

(h) Applications where the views of the Town 

Council or Parish Council are clearly contrary to the 

proposed recommendation and cannot be resolved 
by condition or negotiation (with the exception of 

householder development or advertisement consent, 

which may continue to be delegated)  

(i) Applications submitted within one year of a 

dismissed appeal on the site where it is intended that 

the application be approved (other than where the 

Page 99

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 74 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

approval would reflect the clear views of the 

Inspector when determining the initial appeal) 

Notes regarding PDM4:  

1) The restrictions set out in categories (a) to (i) 

above shall not apply to applications for a 
resubmission of an extant valid planning permission or 

to applications where the principle of the 

development has already been agreed by a previous 

permission/consent and the new proposal contains 

details generally consistent with the earlier 

permission and planning circumstances have not 

changed  

2) The restrictions set out in categories (a) to (i) 

above shall not apply to any application seeking 

Reserved Matters consent where the principles have 

previously been agreed and the details are consistent 

with the criteria set out in the outline permission.  

3) The determining officer shall only exercise the 

delegated powers after taking into account all 

material planning considerations, including any written 

planning objections or representations which may 

have been received.  

4) The determining officer shall only exercise the 

delegated powers in accordance with planning 

legislation, regulations and procedures under which 

provision may be made for reference of applications 

to the Secretary of State or other statutory body.  

5) The determining officer shall only exercise the 

delegated powers following the expiry of the relevant 

consultation periods (with the proviso that where, 

because of the submission of the application in 

relation to the meeting date, it is not possible to deal 

with an application within the statutory period, then 

the application shall be referred to the 

Committee/Sub-Committee in advance of the expiry 

of the consultation period for Members to determine 

whether they wish to delegate determination of the 

application to Officers).  

6) The Senior Officer for Planning shall report details 

of all Planning applications determined under 

delegated powers to Members of the appropriate 

Area Planning Sub-Committee. 

Page 100

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 75 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

PDM

5 

Where recommendations on a planning application or 

proposal are not accepted by the Area Planning Sub-

Committee, the right to withdraw the application or 

proposal for final determination by the Development 

Control Committee. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PDM

6 

Authority to determine that a particular planning 

application or other matter shall be referred to the 

Development Control Committee for decision. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning or 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

7 

Authority to deal with complaints about High Hedges 

under Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning or 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

8 

To determine discharge of conditions applications, 

Minor and Non Material Amendments 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager/Case 

Officer 

PDM

9 

In cases of urgency the following matters:  

Article 4 Directions  

Listed Building Enforcement Notices  

Stop Notices  

Tree Preservation Orders  

Building Preservation Orders  

Temporary Stop notices 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PDM

10 

Under Section 187(B) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and Section 222 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 to seek an injunction to 

restrain breaches of planning control including 

breaches of agreements under Section 106 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PDM

11 

To determine, that no further action is required in 

respect of a breach of planning control which could 

have been dealt with under delegated powers through 

the grant of a planning permission had an application 

been submitted. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

Page 101

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 76 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

PDM

12 

Institute, defend and withdraw criminal or civil legal 

proceedings for offences breaches of Planning 

legislation (including for Listed Building Regulations 

and Tree Preservation Orders; non-compliance with 

enforcement notices, Stop Notices, Temporary Stop 
Notices, Breach of Condition Notices, Section 215 

Notices, and unauthorised advertisements) 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Head of Legal 

Services 

PDM

13 

The power to withdraw Article 4 Directions where it 

is no longer expedient to remove permitted 

development rights. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning 

PDM

14 

To respond to applications for the winning and 

working of minerals or the use of land for mineral- 

working deposits (a “County matter” and, therefore, 

not determined by this Council which has only a 

consultee role) following consultation with the Ward 
Member, and with the Chair of the Development 

Control Committee and the Leader of the Council. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

15 

To respond to applications for waste development (a 

“County matter” and, therefore, not determined by 

this Council which has only a consultee role) 
following consultation with the Ward Member, and 

with the Chair of the Development Control 

Committee and the Leader of the Council. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

16 

Applications under the Transport Act to the Licensing 

Authority for Goods Vehicle Operator's Licence: 
authority to make observations on the application to 

the Licensing Authority. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

17 

Authority to submit observations on Traffic Orders 

to the Highway Authority. 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM

18 

To decide whether to decline to determine 

applications under sections 70a and 70b of the Town 

and Country Planning Act and sections 81a and 81b of 

the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Senior Officer for 

Planning or 

Development 

Manager 

PDM 

19 

To determine applications for Permission in Principle 

and Technical Details Consent 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

Page 102

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 77 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

PDM 

20 

To determine applications where a decision to return 

the matter to committee would result in the potential 

for the application fee to be refunded as no extension 

of time has been agreed 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM 

21 

To advertise applications for footpath diversions Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

PDM 

22 

To respond to Oxfordshire County Council in 

respect of Regulation 3 and Regulation 4 proposals 

Development 

Control 

Committee 

Development 

Manager 

 

Conservation Areas 

 Function  Delegated 

by: 
Delegated to: 

PC1. With the exception of either the designation of or an 

amendment to the boundaries of a Conservation Area, 

to exercise the Council’s functions in relation to 

Conservation Areas 

Executive Senior Officer for 

Planning 

 

NOTES  

 

1. Where under any delegation consultation should be undertaken with the local member this 

should be i) by e-mail; and ii) for a period of three days and the delegation should only be 

undertaken after that period has expired and where there is no disagreement between 

members in multi member wards. No response will be taken as an agreement to the 

suggested action.  

2. Changes to Officer titles, onward delegation and minor drafting changes to ensure that 

delegations operate at the most appropriate level are authorised without referral back to 

the Development Control Committee.  

  

Page 103

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 78 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Part 5: Policy and Procedure Rules 

5A Council Procedure Rules 

RULE 1: Annual Meeting of Council  

Date and Business 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the annual meeting will take place 

within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the annual meeting 

will take place in March, April or May. Subject to these requirements, the meeting will be held at 

such place, on such date and at such time as may be fixed by the Council. 

The annual meeting will: 

(i) elect a person to preside if the Chair of Council is not present; 

(ii) elect the Chair of Council; 

(iii) appoint the vice-Chair of Council; 

(iv) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 

(v) receive any announcements from the Chair and/or Chief Executive; 

(vi) elect the Leader in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act; 

(vii) appoint the Overview and Scrutiny Committee(s) and such other Committees as the 

Council considers appropriate to deal with matters which are neither reserved to the 

Council nor are executive functions; 

(viii) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting; and 

(ix) consider any matters deemed urgent by the Chair in accordance with statutory provisions. 

Selection of Councillors on Committees 

At the annual meeting, the Council will: 

(i) decide which Committees to establish for the municipal year; 

(ii) decide the size of those Committees; 

(iii) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the political balance 

rules; 

(iv) receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each Committee;  

(v) appoint to those Committees, in accordance with the wishes of the political groups and 
subject to any other statutory requirements, except where appointment to those bodies 

has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by the Cabinet;  

(vi) appoint ex-officio non-voting members to any Committee, as it sees fit  

In considering nominations for appointments to the Development Control Committee in 

accordance with the Committees and Political Groups Regulations, Group Leaders shall take into 

account the requirements for training referred to in Article 5 in Part 2 of the Constitution. 

Vacancies on Committees and Sub-Committees 

Any vacancies which arise on Committees and Sub-Committees between annual meetings of the 

Council shall be filled by the Chief Executive in accordance with the wishes of the political group 

Page 104

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 79 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

to which the vacant seat is allocated.  All Members of the Council will be advised of the filling of 

vacancies in this manner. 

RULE 2: Ordinary Meetings 

Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme approved by 

the Council and will be held at such places, on such dates and at such times as may be fixed by the 

Council.  Ordinary meetings will: 

(i) elect a person to preside if the Chair and vice Chair are not present; 

(ii) deal with any business required by statute to be carried out before any other business; 

(iii) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 

(iv) receive any declarations of interest from members; 

(v) deal with any business expressly required by statute to be carried out;  

(vi) receive any announcements from the Chair, leader, members of the cabinet or the Chief 

Executive and receive questions and answers on any such announcements; 

(vii) receive any submissions from members of the public under the Council’s scheme for the 

participation of the public at meetings  

(viii) deal with any business remaining from the last Council meeting;.  

(ix) receive reports, and consider any recommendations from, the Cabinet and the Council’s 

Committees and receive questions and answers on any of those reports; 

(x) receive questions under Rule 0 of these procedures; 

(xi) receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of joint 

arrangements and external organisations; 

(xii) consider motions of which notice has been given in accordance with Rule Error! 

Reference source not found. of these procedures;  

(xiii) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, including 

consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s budget and 

policy framework and reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees for debate; and 

(xiv) consider any matters deemed urgent by the Chair in accordance with statutory 

provisions. 

The order of business of a meeting of the Council may be varied by the Chair or by the meeting in 

accordance with Rule Error! Reference source not found..  

RULE 3: Extraordinary Meetings  

Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call Council meetings in addition to 

ordinary meetings: 

 the Council by resolution; 

 the Chair of the Council; 

 the leader of the Council; 

 the monitoring officer; and 

 where the Chair has failed to call a meeting within seven (7) days of the presentation of a 

requisition signed by any five (5) members of the Council, the five (5) members may 

request that the Chief Executive calls the meeting.  

 

 

Page 105

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 80 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

RULE 4: Appointment of Substitute Members  

Allocation 

As well as allocating seats on Committees and sub-Committees, the Council will appoint 

substitute members. 

Number 

Subject to the listed exceptions, all Members of each political group not appointed to a 

Committee or sub-Committee shall be named as substitute members for the member or 

members of that group who have been appointed to that Committee or sub-Committee. The 

exceptions are that: 

 no member of the Cabinet may be appointed as a substitute member in respect of an 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  

 at meetings of the Area Development Control Sub-Committees only members who 

represent a ward or part of a ward of the district which is situated within the area of the 

relevant Area Sub-Committee may be appointed as substitute members. For these Sub-

Committees only, the rules in relation to political balance do not apply and therefore the 

appointed substitute member may be from any of the political groups on the Council or 

from the Independents, in accordance with the wishes of the member being substituted. 

This arrangement will cease in the event of the Area Planning Sub-Committees becoming 

politically balanced. In that event the substitute member would have to represent a ward 

or part of a ward within the area of the Sub-Committee concerned and be a member of 

the same political group as the member being substituted; and 

 No member may be appointed as a substitute member of the Development Control 

Committee or an Area Planning Sub-Committee who does not meet the requirements for 

training referred to in Article 5 in Part 2 of the Constitution 

Procedure 

Any member of a Committee or Sub-Committee who is unable to attend a meeting of that 

Committee or Sub-Committee may give notice to Democratic Services that for the duration of 

that meeting they will be substituted by another member.  The names of any substitute members 

will be notified to the Committee or Sub-Committee by the chair of the meeting under the item in 

the agenda dealing with apologies. Powers and Duties 

During a meeting substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary member 

of the Committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by the 

person they are replacing. 

Replacement 

Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 

 to take the place of the ordinary member for whom they are the designated substitute 

member; 

 where the ordinary member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and 

 after Democratic Services have been notified of the change.  

Page 106

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 81 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Attendance at Meetings 

Any Member of the Council may attend as an observer any Committee of which they are not a 

member.  An observer may, at the discretion of the person presiding, be invited to speak on an 

item under consideration at that meeting. 

RULE 5: Time and Place of Meetings 

An annual calendar of meetings will be agreed by Full Council and will detail the dates of all 

meetings.  With the exception of Council, the timing of meetings will be agreed by the respective 

Committees and Sub-Committees at their first meeting of the civic year. 

RULE 6: Notice of and Summons to Meetings 

The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in 

accordance with the Access to Information Rules.  At least five clear days before a meeting, the 

Chief Executive will send a summons signed by or on behalf of him or her by post to every 

member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of residence.  

The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be 

transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available. 

RULE 7: Chair of Meeting 

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Chair. The ruling of 

the Chair as to the construction or application of any of these Rules, or as to any proceedings of 

the Council, shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Where these rules apply to 

Committee and sub-Committee meetings, references to the Chair also include the Chair of 

Committees and sub-Committees. 

RULE 8: Quorum 

The quorum of a meeting of the Council will be one quarter of the whole number of members. 

The quorum of any meeting of a Committee or sub-Committee shall be: 

 not less than one quarter of the total membership of the Committee or sub-Committee; 

and 

 subject to a minimum of three 

If at any time during a meeting the number of members in attendance falls below the quorum then 

the meeting will be adjourned and any remaining business considered at the next meeting.  

RULE 9: Duration of Meetings  

Unless a majority of members present vote for the meeting to continue, any meeting of a 

Committee which has lasted for three hours will adjourn.  The remaining business will be 

considered at a time and date fixed by the Chair or, if they do not fix a time and date, at the next 

meeting of the Committee. 

 

 

Page 107

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 82 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

RULE 10: Questions  

Questions by Members (without notice)   

A member may ask a question, at a meeting of Council, without notice as follows: 

(i) A member of the Council may ask the leader or the Chair of a Committee any question on 

an item on the agenda when that item is being considered; 

(ii) A member of the Council may ask the Chair, leader, members of the cabinet or the Chief 

Executive a question arising from an announcement made at the meeting; 

A member of the Council may ask a question of the Chair or leader where it  relates to urgent 

matters, provided that they have the consent of the Chair and that details of the question have 

been provided to the Chief Executive by no later than ten o’clock in the morning of the day of the 

meeting. 

Questions by Members (with notice)  

Provided that the member has given written notice to the Chief Executive by no later than 12 

noon on the seventh working day before the meeting, at a Council meeting, a member of the 

Council may ask: 

 the Chair; 

 a member of the Cabinet; or 

 the Chair of any Committee or sub-Committee 

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects 

the district. 

Response 

An answer to any question under the above Rules may take the form of: 

 a direct oral answer; 

 where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a 

reference to that publication; or 

 where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated later to all 

Members of the Council or Committee or sub-Committee. 

Supplementary Questions 

Following receipt of the answer to their question a member is entitled to ask one supplementary 

question.  

Questions by Registered Electors 

A registered elector of the district may submit in writing for answer by the Chair of the Council, a 

member of the Cabinet, or the Chair of any Committee or sub-Committee, one question on any 

matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the district, 

provided that notice is received no later than noon on the seventh working day before the 

meeting.   

Page 108

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 83 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

The answers to any such questions shall be given in writing and incorporated in the minutes of the 

meeting, and a copy of the answer, or a statement to the effect that the person to whom the 

question was addressed declined to answer, shall be sent to the questioner. 

This provision shall apply only at Council meetings. 

Time allocated for Questions 

There shall be a maximum of 30 minutes allocated to questions, made up of 15 minutes for 

member questions and 15 minutes for registered electors questions.   Questions shall be asked in 

order of receipt. 

RULE 11: Motions on Notice 

Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule Error! Reference source not 

found., written notice of every motion, signed by the member or members of the Council giving 

notice, must be delivered to Chief Executive not later than noon on the seventh working day 

before the date of the meeting. These will be entered sequentially in a book which shall be open 

to public inspection.  

Motion set out on agenda 

Motions of which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in which notice 

was received, unless the members giving notice state, in writing, that they propose to move it to a 

later meeting or withdraw it. 

Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has powers or duties or which affect the 

district. 

Motion not proposed at Meeting 

If a motion set out in the agenda is not proposed either by a member who gave notice of it or by 

some other member on their behalf it shall, unless postponed by consent of the Council, be 

treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh notice. 

Action on the Motion   

If the subject matter of any motion of which notice has been given falls within the remit of any 

Committee or Committees of the Council, or of the Cabinet, when it has been proposed and 

seconded it shall stand referred without discussion to the Committee(s) or the Cabinet, as 

decided by the Council. 

If the matter requires a decision of the Cabinet, the decision of the Cabinet shall be included in a 

future report to the Council.  If the matter stands referred to a Committee the Council may 

decide whether it shall be decided by that Committee or whether action is to be taken by the 

Council on report of that Committee. 

Page 109

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 84 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Notwithstanding the above, if the subject matter is to be determined by the Council and not by 

the Cabinet the Chair may, if they consider it convenient and conducive to the conduct of 

business, allow it to be dealt with at the Council meeting at which it is brought forward. 

Attendance at Meeting considering Motion 

If a Motion is referred to a Committee of which the proposer is not a member, or to the Cabinet, 

the proposer shall be entitled to attend that meeting and to explain the Motion. 

RULE 12: Motions without Notice 

The following motions may be moved without notice: 

 to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 

 in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 

 to change the order of business in the agenda; 

 to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 

 to appoint a Committee or member arising from an item on the summons for the meeting; 

 to receive reports or adopt the recommendations of Committees or officers and any 

resolutions following from them; 

 to withdraw a motion; 

 to extend the time limit for speeches; 

 to amend a motion; 

 to proceed to the next business; 

 that the question be now put; 

 to adjourn a debate; 

 to adjourn a meeting; 

 at a Committee meeting, that the meeting continue beyond three hours in duration; 

 to suspend a particular Council procedure rule; 

 to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules; 

 to not hear further a member named under Rule 0 or to exclude them from the meeting 

under that Rule; and 

 to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this Constitution. 

RULE 13: Rules of Debate for Council 

No speeches until motion seconded 

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal or amendment until the motion 

or amendment has been seconded. 

Right to require Motion in writing 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chair may require it to be written down 

and handed to him/her before it is discussed or put to the meeting. 

Seconder’s Speech 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech until later in the 

debate. 

Page 110

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 85 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Content and Length of Speeches 

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or point 

of order. No speech may exceed ten minutes by the mover of a motion, or five minutes in all 

other cases, without the consent of the meeting. 

When a Member may speak again 

A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, 

except: 

 to speak once on an amendment moved by another member; 

 to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they last spoke; 

 if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to speak on the 

main issue (whether or not the amendment on which they spoke was carried); 

 in exercise of a right of reply; 

 on a point of order; and 

 by way of personal explanation. 

Amendments to Motions 

An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be: 

 to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or 

reconsideration; 

 to leave out words; 

 to leave out words and insert or add others; or 

 to insert or add words. 

An amendment must not seek to negate the motion. 

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment may 

be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of, but the Chair may permit 

two or more amendments to be discussed together (but not voted on) if in their opinion this 

would facilitate the conduct of the business. 

If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved. 

If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original motion. This 

becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are moved. 

After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the amended motion before 

accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 

Alteration of Motion 

With the consent of the Council signified without discussion: - 

A member may alter a motion of which they have given notice; or 

A member may alter a motion which they have moved without notice, with the further consent of 

the seconder.  

Page 111

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 86 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 

Withdrawal of Motion 

A member may withdraw a motion or amendment which they have moved with the consent of 

both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. No 

member may speak on the matter after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it, unless 

permission is refused. 

Right of Reply 

The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the motion, immediately 

before it is put to the vote. 

If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at the close of 

the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 

The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on their amendment. 

Motions which may be moved during debate 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following procedural 

motions: 

(i) to withdraw a motion; 

(ii) to amend a motion; 

(iii) to proceed to the next business; 

(iv) that the question be now put; 

(v) to adjourn a debate; 

(vi) to adjourn a meeting; 

(vii) at a Committee meeting, that the meeting continue beyond three hours in duration; 

(viii) to exclude the public in accordance with the Access to Information Rules; and 

(ix) to not hear further a member named under Rule 0 or to exclude them from the meeting 

under that Rule. 

Closure Motions 

A member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of another 

member: 

(i) to proceed to the next business; 

(ii) that the question be now put; 
(iii) to adjourn the debate; or 

(iv) to adjourn the meeting. 

If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Chair thinks the item has been 

sufficiently discussed, they will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply and then 

move to the vote. 

If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chair thinks the item has been 

sufficiently discussed, they will put the motion that the question be now put to the vote. If the 

Page 112

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 87 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

motion is passed they will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply and then move to 

the vote.  

Points of Order 

A member may raise a point of order at any time. The Chair will hear them immediately. A point 

of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The 

member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which they consider it has been broken. The 

ruling of the Chair on the matter will be final. 

Personal Explanation 

A member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation may only relate 

to some material part of an earlier speech by the member which may appear to have been 

misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Chair on the admissibility of a personal 

explanation will be final. 

RULE 14: Motion to Rescind or Amend a Previous Decision 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past six 

months, or a motion similar to one previously rejected in that period cannot be moved unless:  

(i) the notice of motion is signed by at least 17 members; or 

(ii) the Chair consents to the moving of the motion; or 

(iii) advice has been given by one of the Council’s statutory officers that the matter should 

be reconsidered; or 

(iv) the motion is moved in pursuance of a recommendation from a Committee or the 

Cabinet. 

RULE 15: Voting 

Majority 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of 

those members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put. 

Chair’s Casting Vote 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a second or casting vote. 

There will be no restriction on how the Chair chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

Recording of Voting at Budget Decision Meeting 

 At a budget decision meeting of the authority where making a calculation under the relevant 
sections of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 or issuing the precept as the case may be was 

included as an item of business on the agenda for that meeting, the minutes of the meeting shall 

record in respect of each member present whether they voted for a proposition, or against a 

proposition, or abstained from voting.  

The references above to voting are references to a vote on any decision related to the making of 

the calculation or the issuing of the precept as the case may be. 

Page 113

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 88 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Show of Hands 

The Chair will take the vote by show of hands or, if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the 

meeting. 

Right to require Vote(s) to be recorded 

Any member can request that their individual vote is recorded. 

Any political group may request that the votes of everyone within that political group are 

recorded.  

Voting on Appointments 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is not a clear 

majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with the least number of 

votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue until there is a 

majority of votes for one person. 

RULE 16: Minutes  

Signing the minutes 

The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting. The Chair will 

move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record. The only part of the 

minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 

No requirement to sign minutes at extraordinary meeting 

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the minutes is a 

meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 (an 

Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than 

under that paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and 

(2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes. 

Form of Minutes 

Minutes of Council meetings will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order 

the Chair put them. 

RULE 17: Record of Attendance  

All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names on the 

attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the record of attendance. 

RULE 18: Exclusion of the Public 

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules in this Constitution or Rule 0 (Disturbance by Public). 

 

Page 114

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 89 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

RULE 19: Members’ Conduct  

Standing to speak 

When a member speaks at full Council they may stand and address the meeting through the Chair. 

If more than one member stands, the Chair will ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other 

members must remain seated whilst a member is speaking unless they wish to make a point of 

order or a point of personal explanation. 

Chair standing 

If the Chair stands during a debate, any member speaking at the time must stop and sit down. The 

meeting must be silent. 

Member not to be heard further 

If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chair by behaving improperly or offensively 

or deliberately obstructs business, the Chair may move that the member be not heard further. If 

seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 

Member to leave the meeting 

If the member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the Chair may move 

either that the member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a specified period. 

If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 

General disturbance 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chair may adjourn the 

meeting for as long as they think necessary. 

RULE 20: Disturbance by Public  

Removal of member of the public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn the person concerned. If 

they continue to interrupt, the Chair will request that they leave the meeting room.  

Clearance of part of meeting room 

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chair may 

call for that part to be cleared. 

RULE 21: Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules  

Suspension 

All of these Council Rules of Procedure except those parts of Rule 0 relating to the right to 
record an individual vote; and Rule 0 relating to the signing of minutes at an extraordinary meeting 

may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole number 

of members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting. 

Page 115

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 90 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Amendment 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when proposed and 

seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

RULE 22: Application of Rules to Committees and Sub-Committees  

With the exception of Rule Error! Reference source not found. relating to the duration of 

Committee meetings, all of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council.  

None of the rules apply to meetings of the Cabinet. 

Subject to any requirements or exceptions set out in them, the following Rules:  

Rule Error! Reference source not found. (Time and Place of Meeting) 

Rule 0 (Notice and Summons) 

Rule Error! Reference source not found. (Chair of meeting) 

Rule Error! Reference source not found. (Quorum) 

Rule Error! Reference source not found. (Duration of meeting) 

Rule 0 (Questions) 

Rule Error! Reference source not found.(Motions on notice) 

Rule Error! Reference source not found. (Motions without notice 

Rule Error! Reference source not found. (Rules of debate for Council) 

Rule 0 (Motion to rescind or amend previous decisions) 

Rule 0 (Voting) 

Rule 0 (Minutes) 

Rule 0 (Record of Attendance 

Rule 0 (Exclusion of public) 

Rule 0 (Members’ conduct) 

Rule 0 (Disturbance by public) 

Rule 0 (Suspension and amendment of Council Procedure Rules) 

Rule 0 (Application to Committees and Sub-Committees) 

shall apply to meetings of Committees and Sub-Committees, including Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees/sub-Committees. 

5A.23 Filming and recording 

The law allows the proceedings of council meetings which are open to the public to be filmed 
and/or recorded.  Any such filming or recording can be by any member of the public, whether or 

not they are connected with the media. For more information about this, please see  

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/1237645/Filming-and-Recording-of-Meetings-Protocol.pdf    

  

Page 116

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/1237645/Filming-and-Recording-of-Meetings-Protocol.pdf


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 91 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

5B Cabinet Procedure Rules 

How does the Cabinet Operate? 

a) Who may make Cabinet decisions? 
 

The arrangements for the discharge of Cabinet functions may be set out in the Cabinet 

arrangements adopted by the Council. If they are not set out there, then the leader may decide 

how they are to be exercised. In either case, the arrangements or the leader may provide for 

Cabinet functions to be discharged by:  

 

(i) the Cabinet as a whole;  

(ii) a Committee of the Cabinet;  

(iii) an individual member of the Cabinet;  

(iv) an officer;  

(v) an area Committee;  

(vi) joint arrangements; or  

(vii) another local authority. 

 

b) Delegation by the leader 
 

At the annual meeting of the Council, the leader will present to the Council a written record of 

delegations made by them for inclusion in Part 3 of this Constitution. The document presented by 

the leader will contain the following information about Cabinet functions in relation to the coming 

year: 

(i) the names, addresses and wards of the people appointed to the Cabinet by the 

leader; 

(ii) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet members individually, including 

details of the limitation on their authority; 

(iii) the terms of reference and constitution of such Cabinet Committees as the leader 

appoints and the names of Cabinet members appointed to them; 

(iv) the nature and extent of any delegation of Cabinet functions to area Committees, 
any other authority or any joint arrangements and the names of those Cabinet 

members appointed to any joint Committee for the coming year; and 

(v) the nature and extent of any delegation to officers with details of any limitation on 

that delegation, and the title of the officer to whom the delegation is made. 

 

c) Sub-delegation of Cabinet functions 
 

Where the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet or an individual member of the Cabinet is 

responsible for an Cabinet function, they may delegate further to an area Committee, joint 

arrangements or an officer. 

 

Unless the Council directs otherwise, if the leader delegates functions to the Cabinet, then the 

Cabinet may delegate further to a Committee of the Cabinet or to an officer. 

Unless the leader directs otherwise, a Committee of the Cabinet to whom functions have been 

delegated by the leader may delegate further to an officer. 

 

Page 117

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 92 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Even where Cabinet functions have been delegated, that fact does not prevent the discharge of 

delegated functions by the person or body who delegated. 

 

d) Changes to delegation arrangements 

This Constitution set out the delegation arrangements currently in force in the authority. The 

leader may amend the delegation arrangements in respect of Cabinet functions at any time, but 

any other amendment may only be carried out by the Council. 

To amend delegation arrangements in respect of Cabinet functions, the leader must give written 

notice to the Chief Executive and to the person, body or Committee concerned. The notice must 

set out the extent of the amendment, and whether it entails the addition or withdrawal of 

delegation from any person, body, Committee or the Cabinet as a whole. The Chief Executive will 

present a report to the next ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the changes made by the 

leader, and will produce a revised statement of delegation arrangements for inclusion in Part 3 of 

this Constitution. 

Where the leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a Committee/sub-Committee, notice will be 

deemed to be served on that Committee when it has been served on the Committee’s Chair. 

e) Conflicts of Interest 

Where the leader has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set out in the Council’s 

Code of Conduct in Part 6A of this Constitution. 

If every member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set out in the 

Council’s Code of Conduct in Part 6A of this Constitution. 

If the exercise of an Cabinet function has been delegated to a Committee of the Cabinet, an 

individual member or an officer, and should a conflict of interest arise, then the function will be 

exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom the delegation was made and 

otherwise as set out in the Council’s Council’s Code of Conduct in Part 6A of this Constitution. 

f) When and where will Cabinet meetings be held? 

The Cabinet will meet at least 12 times per year at times to be agreed by the leader. The Cabinet 

shall meet at the Council’s main offices or another location to be agreed by the leader. 

g) When and where will individual Cabinet member meetings be held? 

Where decisions are, being made by individual cabinet members these will be subject to the same 
rules in relation to publication of agendas and reports as Cabinet meetings.  However, where 

appropriate these meetings can take place virtually or over the telephone.   

h) Public access to meetings of the Cabinet 

Meetings of the Cabinet will be open to the public, except when confidential or exempt 

information is being discussed. Further information on this is given in the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in Part 5F of this Constitution. 

 

 

Page 118

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 93 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

i) Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet, or a Committee of it, shall be three members of the 

Cabinet. 

j) How are decisions to be taken by the Cabinet? 

Cabinet decisions being taken by the Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a meeting convened in 

accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Part 5F of the Constitution. 

Where Cabinet decisions are delegated to a Committee of the Cabinet, or to individual members 

of the Cabinet, the rules applying to Cabinet decisions taken by them shall be the same as those 

applying to those taken by the Cabinet as a whole. 

How are Cabinet Meetings Conducted? 

a) Who presides? 

If the leader is present they will preside. In their absence, then a person appointed to do so by 

those present shall preside. 

b) Who may attend? 

Any member of the Council may attend any Cabinet meeting. 

Members of the public may attend any Cabinet meeting, except when confidential or exempt 

information is being discussed. 

c) Business at Cabinet Meetings 

At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be conducted: 

1. consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 

2. declarations of interest, if any; 

3. matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

or by the Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the 

provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget 

and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution; 

4. consideration of reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committees; and 

5. matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which shall indicate which are 

key decisions and which are not in accordance with the Access to Information 

Procedure rules set out in Part 5F of this Constitution. 

 
d) Consultation 

All reports to the Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or an officer on proposals relating to 

the budget and policy framework must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation 

with stakeholders and relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and the outcome of that 

consultation. Reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation as 

appropriate. The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter 

under consideration. 

 

 

Page 119

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 94 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

e) Who can put items on the Cabinet agenda? 

The Council, any Overview and Scrutiny Committee, any other Committee of the Council, and 

any member or statutory officer of the Council, may place an item on the agenda of a meeting of 

the Cabinet. 

If the volume of business for any one meeting appears excessive, the Leader and the Chief 

Executive jointly may agree to defer consideration of items to a later meeting, except that:  

(i) items placed on the agenda by the Council may not be deferred if the Council 

requires them to be considered at that meeting; 

(ii) reports of statutory officers may not be deferred if, in the opinion of the officer 

concerned, it is necessary for the report to be considered at that meeting; and 

(iii) no deferral will be for more than two ordinary meetings of the Cabinet (unless the 

person or body placing the item agrees). 

  

Page 120

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 95 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

5C Overview and Scrutiny Rules 

What Overview and Scrutiny Committees will there be?  

1. The Council will have the Overview and Scrutiny Committees set out in Article 3  (Economic 

& Social, Environment, and Finance & Management) and will appoint to them as it considers 

appropriate from time to time. Such Committees may appoint Sub-Committees. Additional 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees may also be appointed by the Council for a fixed period, 

on the expiry of which they shall cease to exist.  

Terms of reference  

2. Scrutiny Committees will have the power to investigate any matters they consider relevant 

to their work area, and to make recommendations to the Council, the Cabinet or any other 

Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council as they see fit. 

3. Their terms of reference will be:- 

(i) the performance of all Overview and Scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council in 

relation to the area of work allocated to that Committee. It is intended that the areas of 

work should be wide ranging and cut across the organisational structure of the Council. 

As a result there may at times be overlap between the interests of two or more 

Committees. In such a case the Chairmen of the Committees involved should agree 

how the situation should be managed; 

(ii) the appointment of such Sub-Committees as it considers appropriate to fulfil those 

Overview and Scrutiny functions. This includes the power to form joint Sub-

Committees with the other Overview and Scrutiny Committees to perform functions in 

areas of common concern; 

(iii) to receive reports from the leader at its first meeting after each annual Council meeting 

on the Executive’s priorities for the coming year and its performance in the previous 

year; 

(iv) to approve a work programme for the Committee, including the programme of any Sub-

Committees it appoints so as to ensure that time is effectively and efficiently utilised; 

(v) to receive requests from the Cabinet and/or the full Council for Overview and Scrutiny 

reports and to respond accordingly; 

(vi) to put in place a system to ensure that referrals from the Committee to the Cabinet, 
either by way of report or for reconsideration are managed efficiently and do not 

exceed the limits set out in this Constitution; 

(vii) in the event of reports to the Cabinet exceeding limits in this Constitution, or if the 

volume of such reports creates difficulty for the management of Cabinet business or 

jeopardises the efficient running of Council business, at the request of the Cabinet, to 

make decisions about the priority of referrals made  

4. Scrutiny Committees should not be regarded primarily as an “appeals mechanism” to 

overturn or amend specific decisions (although they may, if they see fit, ask the Cabinet, the 

Council or another Committee to reconsider a decision); rather their function is to raise 

issues for consideration, to examine the intent and effectiveness of policy, to hold the 

Cabinet to account, and to represent the interests and views of the public within the Council. 

 

Page 121

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 96 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Who may sit on Overview and Scrutiny Committees?  

5. Overview and Scrutiny Committees will consist of between 9 and 16 members, as the 

Council shall decide, and their political composition will reflect as nearly as possible the 

political composition of the Council as a whole.  

6. Any Councillor except a member of the Cabinet may be a member of an Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee. However, no member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 

which they have been directly involved. Members of the Cabinet shall not be eligible to sit on 

an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, either in their own right or as substitutes. 

7. Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee shall be entitled to recommend 

to Council the appointment of people as non-voting co-optees. 

Meetings  

8. There shall be at least six ordinary meetings of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 

each civic year. A programme of dates will be agreed by the Council early in each calendar 

year, as shall the time for the first meeting of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee after 

the annual meeting of the Council. However, each of the Committees may agree the times 

for its subsequent meetings at its first meeting in each civic year.  

9. Normally, Committees will meet at intervals ranging from six to eight weeks, although this 

may be varied when the programme is agreed, and additional meetings may take place as 

specified in the following paragraph. 

10. Special meetings of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be called at any time by the 

relevant Committee Chair (or in their absence, by the Vice-Chair), by the full Council, by any 

five members of the Committee, or by the Chief Executive, providing at least five clear 

working days notice is given.  

11. In exceptional circumstances meetings may be called by the Chair with fewer days notice, 

providing the issue(s) to be discussed require an urgent decision, and providing as much 

notice as possible is given. 

Quorum  

12. The quorum shall be such number as may be fixed by the Committee or Sub-Committee, 

provided that the number shall be: 

(i) not less than one quarter of the total membership of the Committee or Sub-

Committee; and 

(ii) subject to a minimum of three 

13. If a Committee or Sub-Committee does not fix a quorum, then the figure shall be one-

quarter of its membership, or three, whichever is the greater. 

Chairing Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings  

14. Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall at its first meeting after the annual meeting of 

the Council elect a Chair and Vice-Chair from amongst the members of the Committee. If 

either position becomes vacant during the course of the year it will be filled by the 

Committee at its next meeting.  

 

Page 122

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 97 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Work programme and annual report  

15. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be responsible for setting their own work 

programme and in doing so they shall take into account wishes of members on that 

Committee who are not members of the largest political group on the Council. 

16. Overview and Scrutiny Committees must report annually to full Council on their workings 

and make recommendations for future work programmes and amended working methods if 

appropriate. 

Agenda items  

17. Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee shall be entitled to 

give notice to the Chief Executive that they wish an item relevant to the functions of the 

Committee or Sub-Committee to be included on the agenda for the next available meeting of 

the Committee or Sub-Committee. On receipt of such a request the Chief Executive will 

ensure that it is included on the next available agenda. 

18. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall also respond, as soon as their work 

programme permits, to requests from the Council, the Cabinet, or any other Committee of 

the Council, to review particular areas of Council activity. Where they do so, the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee shall report their findings and any recommendations back to the 

Council, the Cabinet or the relevant Committee, as it deems appropriate.  

19. Under the Councillor Call for Action, Members may also bring matters of ward concern to 

the attention of the Council via the Scrutiny process. The Call for Action is deemed to be an 

option of “last resort” and details of its operation are set out in the Councillor Call for 

Action Protocol in Part 4-10 of this Constitution. 

Policy review and development  

20. The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in relation to the development of the 

Council’s budget and policy framework is set out in detail in the Budget and Policy 

Framework Procedure Rules. 

21. In addition, Overview and Scrutiny Committees may make whatever recommendations or 

observations they see fit to the Council, the Cabinet or any other Committee of the Council, 

who must then consider them within six weeks of receipt. 

22. Overview and Scrutiny Committees may hold enquiries and investigate the available options 
for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to assist 

them in this process. They may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, 

commission research and do all other things that they reasonably consider necessary to 

inform their deliberations. They may ask witnesses to attend to address them on any matter 

under consideration and may pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee 

and expenses for doing so. 

23. Where the cost of any single item of work exceeds £1,000, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees will need the prior consent of the Council or the Cabinet to incur the 

expenditure. The Council will make budget provision available as necessary for that purpose 

and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for and manage that budget in 

accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules and Part 2, Article 9 of the Constitution 

 

Page 123

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 98 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

24. Once it has formed recommendations or observations, the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee will prepare a formal report and submit it to the Chief Executive for 

consideration by whichever body in the Council the Committee deems appropriate.  

25. If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final report, then up to 

two minority reports may be prepared and submitted for consideration with the majority 

report.  

26. The body receiving the report shall consider it within six weeks of it being submitted to the 

Chief Executive, or such longer timescale as the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee may agree.  

Consideration of Overview and Scrutiny Committee reports  

27. The agenda for Council, Cabinet and Committee meetings shall include an item entitled 

‘Issues arising from Overview and Scrutiny’. Reports referred by Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees shall be included at this point in the agenda (unless they have been considered in 

the context of deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee submitting its report, or such longer timescale as the 

Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may agree. 

Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents  

28. In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules in Part 5F of this Constitution.  

29. Overview and Scrutiny Committees will have access to the Cabinet work plan and timetable 

for decisions and intentions for consultation. Even where an item is not the subject of 

detailed proposals from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Committee will be 

entitled to respond in the course of the Cabinet’s consultation process in relation to any key 

decision. 

30. Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the Cabinet and Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee as appropriate depending on the particular matter under 

consideration. 

Members and officers giving account  

31. Any Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee may scrutinise and review 

decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council function. As 

well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any member of 

the Cabinet, the Chief Executive and/or any senior officer to attend before it to explain in 

relation to matters within their remit:  

(i) any particular decision or series of decisions;  

(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or  

(iii) their performance  

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.  

Page 124

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 99 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

32. In this context “senior officer” means the Chief Executive, any Director or Deputy Director, 

the Monitoring Officer, or any of the Council’s Heads of Service. 

33. Where any member or officer is required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

under this provision, the Chair of that Committee will inform the Chief Executive. The Chief 

Executive shall inform the member or officer in writing giving at least five clear working days 

notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend. The notice will state the nature 

of the item on which they are required to attend to give account and whether any papers are 

required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to the 

Committee will require the production of a report, then the member or officer concerned 

will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation.  

34. Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall in consultation with the 

member or officer arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

Attendance by others  

35. An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those people referred to 

in paragraphs Error! Reference source not found. or Error! Reference source not found. 

above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may for 

example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and members and officers in other parts 

of the public sector and shall invite such people to attend. 

36. Attendance is of course entirely optional. 

Call-in  

37. Where a decision is: 

(i) a key decision; or 

(ii) is taken by the Cabinet itself; or  

(iii) is taken under powers delegated by the Cabinet to individual Cabinet member(s); or 

(iv) is taken under powers delegated by the Cabinet to a Committee or Sub-Committee; or 

(v) is taken under powers delegated by the Cabinet to an officer, other than those set out in 

the Officer Delegation Rules under Part 4 of this Constitution; 

that decision shall be notified to all members of the Council as soon as possible after it is 

taken and shall be made available at the main offices of the Council. 

38. The decision shall not be implemented for at least five clear working days after the 

notification is issued, unless the Leader (or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader or the 

Cabinet itself) with the support of the Chair of a Scrutiny Committee relevant to the issue 

decides that the matter is urgent, in which case the decision may be implemented 

immediately. In such a case all members of the Council shall be notified of the reasons for 

urgency. 

39. The notice communicating the decision will bear the date on which it is published and will 

specify the date by which any objection to it must be lodged for it to be called in. 

40. During that period, any four members of the Council will have the right to ask for the 

decision to be called-in for scrutiny by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Such a request 

must be made in writing and must state the reason the members believe call-in to be 

Page 125

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 100 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

necessary. On receipt of such a request, submitted within the time limit allowed, the Chief 

Executive shall determine whether the reasons given for call-in are sufficient and if so they 

will call-in the decision, and notify the decision-taker of the call-in. The Chief Executive shall 

then either refer the call-in to the next available meeting of whichever Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee appears to them to be appropriate, or call a meeting of that Committee on such 

date as the Chair of that Committee may determine.   If when considering a request for call-

in the Chief Executive does not consider the reasons given to be sufficient they will notify the 

relevant members in writing setting out why the call-in request has not be accepted.  

41. Pending that meeting, the decision shall stand deferred and shall not be implemented unless:  

(i) the Leader (or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader or the Cabinet itself) with the 

support of the Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee relevant to the issue 

decides that the matter is urgent. In such a case all members of the Council shall be 

notified of the reasons for urgency; or 

(ii) the member who requested the call-in agrees to withdraw that request. 

42. In either of these circumstances the decision may be implemented, as soon as the initial 

period for objections has lapsed. 

43. If, having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is still concerned 

about it, it may refer it back to the decision making person or body for reconsideration, 

setting out in writing the nature of its concerns, or refer the matter to full Council (see also 

paragraph 46 below). If referred to the decision maker they shall then reconsider it, 

amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision. That final decision shall not be 

subject to any further call-in procedure.  

44. If following an objection to the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee does not 

refer the matter either to Council or back to the decision making person or body, the 

decision shall take effect on the date of the Overview and Scrutiny meeting.  

45. If the matter was referred to full Council and the Council does not object to a decision 

which has been made, then no further action is necessary and the decision will be effective in 

accordance with the provision below.  

46. However, if the Council does object, it has no locus to make decisions in respect of an 

Cabinet decision unless it is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget. Unless that is the case, the Council will refer any decision to 

which it objects back to the decision making person or body, together with the Council’s 

views on the decision. That decision making body or person shall choose whether to amend 

the decision or not before reaching a final decision and implementing it. 

47. If the Council does not decide to refer the decision back to the decision making body or 

person, the decision shall take effect on the date of the Council meeting. 

48. A recommendation from the Cabinet to the Council shall not be subject to the call-in 

provisions set out in these rules. 

49. A decision-making person or body can only be required to reconsider any particular decision 

once. 

Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings  

50. Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees shall consider the following 

business:  

Page 126

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 101 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

(i) minutes of the last meeting;  

(ii) declarations of interest;  

(iii) consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a decision in relation to call 

in of a decision;  

(iv) responses of the Council, Cabinet or other Committees to reports of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee; and  

(v) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.  

51. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. with a view to 

policy development), the Committee may also ask people to attend to give evidence at 

Committee meetings which are to be conducted in accordance with the following principles:  

(i) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the Committee be given 

the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak;  

(ii) that those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated with respect and 

courtesy; and  

(iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the investigation 

or analysis  

52. Following any investigation or review, the Committee/Sub-Committee shall prepare a report, 

for submission to the Council, Cabinet or other Committee as it deems appropriate and shall 

make its report and findings public. 

Matters within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

53. Scrutiny Committees have the power to investigate any matters they consider relevant to 

their work area, and to make recommendations to the Council, the Cabinet or any other 

Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council as they see fit.  

54. It is intended that the areas of work of Overview and Scrutiny Committees should be wide 

ranging and cut across the organisational structure of the Council. As a result there may at 

times be overlap between the interests of two or more Committees. In such a case the 

Chairmen of the Committees involved should agree between them how the situation should 

be managed to ensure efficient use of Council time and resources. 

 

  

Page 127

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 102 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Councillor Call for Action Protocol 

1. The Councillor Call for Action is a mechanism for enabling elected members to bring 

matters of ward concern to the attention of the Council, via the Scrutiny process. 

2. The Constitution provides that any councillor may request that an item is placed on an 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda, for consideration.  The member making that 

request does not have to be a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Inclusion of the matter on the agenda is at the discretion of the Chair. 

3. The Constitution also provides for the consideration of petitions submitted by members of 

the public.  Ward councillors may encourage citizens to submit petitions as means of 

bringing issues of concern to the Council’s attention. 

4. The Call for Action is deemed to be an option of “last resort”.  A Call for Action will only 

be included on the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda if the Chair, in 

consultation with the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer, is 

satisfied that: 

 the councillor has made all reasonable efforts to resolve the matter via direct liaison 

with council officers and/or relevant partners; and 

 the issue of concern is a matter in respect of which the council has a statutory power 

or duty to deal with and is not precluded by adopted council policy or legislation; and 

 the issue of concern has a demonstrable impact on a part or the whole of the 

councillor’s ward; and 

 the Call for Action does not, in any event, relate to: 

(a) any matter relating to a planning decision; 

(b) any matter relating to a licensing decision; 

(c) any Council Tax/Housing Benefit complaints and queries; 

(d) any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that individual or 

entity has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred by or under 

any enactment; 

(e) any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be included in 

the agenda for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or at a meeting of a sub-committee thereof. 

5. A valid Call for Action will be considered at the next ordinary meeting of the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

6. The subject matter of the Call for Action will be the subject of a report from the relevant 

Head of Service, with such supporting information and evidence as is reasonably available.  

If the matter also or exclusively entails consideration of information held by another public 

body or partner, an appropriate representative shall be invited to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee meeting to provide that information, make representations and 

answer questions. 

7. The Call for Action will be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in public 

session unless consideration of the issues involves the disclosure of exempt or confidential 

information as defined by the Access to Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution. 

Page 128

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 103 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

8. A ward councillor may address the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in respect of the 

Call for Action for up to 10 minutes. 

9. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also consider representations from any 

citizens of the ward affected by the Call for Action, subject to the discretion of the Chair. 

10. The ward councillor’s role in the consideration of the Call for Action, as with any other 

formal Council business, is subject to compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

  

Page 129

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 104 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

5D Procedure in relation to Licensing Applications 

The following procedure shall apply in relation to the determination of applications at meetings of 

Miscellaneous Licensing Sub-Committee: 

(1) Introductory remarks by the Chair. 

 

(2) Brief description of the application by the Council’s Officers, including summary of written 

representations, observations and objections received from parties not attending the 

meeting in person to make oral representations. 

 

(3) Observations of consultees/relevant authorities. 

 

(4) Other submissions by way of objection. 

 

(5) Presentation by the applicant of the case for granting an application. 

 

(6) Members’ questions. 

 

(7) Summing up by   

a) The Council’s Officers 

 b) The Applicant 

 

(8) Members retire for determination of the decision. 

 

(9) Members return to communicate their decision 

 

(10) Decision is then provided to the applicant in writing which will also contain information 

regarding any right of Appeal 

 

  

Page 130

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 105 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

5E Budget and Policy Rules  

5E.1 The Framework for Cabinet Decisions 

The Council will be responsible for the adoption and amendment of its budget and policy 

framework. Once the budget and policy framework is in place, it will be the responsibility of the 

Cabinet to implement it. 

5E.2 The Process for Developing the Framework 

The process by which the budget and policy framework shall be developed or amended is:  

a) At least two months before a plan/strategy/budget needs to be adopted, the Cabinet will 

publish initial proposals for the amendment of the budget and policy framework, having 

first canvassed the views of local stakeholders as appropriate and in a manner suitable to 

the matter under consideration. Details of the Cabinet’s consultation process shall be 

included in relation to each of these matters in the cabinet work plan, together with any 

other publicity the Cabinet deems appropriate.  

b) Any representations made to the Cabinet shall be taken into account in formulating the 

initial proposals, and shall be reflected in any report dealing with them. If the matter is one 

where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee has carried out a review of policy, then the 

outcome of that review will be reported to the Cabinet and considered in the preparation 

of initial proposals. 

c) The Cabinet’s initial proposals shall be referred to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee(s) for further advice and consideration. The Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee(s) shall canvass the views of local stakeholders if it considers it appropriate in 

accordance with the matter under consideration, and having particular regard not to 

duplicate any consultation carried out by the Cabinet. The Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee(s) shall report to the Cabinet on the outcome of its deliberations.  

d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee(s) shall have six weeks to respond to the initial 

proposals of the Cabinet unless the Cabinet considers that there are special factors that 

make this timescale inappropriate. If it does, it will inform the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee(s) of the time for response when the proposals are referred to it. 

e) Having considered the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee(s), the Cabinet, if 

it considers it appropriate, may amend its proposals before submitting them to the Council 
meeting for consideration. It will also report to Council on how it has taken into account 

any recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee(s). 

f) The Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and may adopt them. In considering 

the matter, the Council shall have before it the Cabinet’s proposals and any report from 

any relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

g) Where, following consideration of a draft plan or strategy submitted by the Cabinet, the 

Council has any objections to it, it must inform the Cabinet leader of any objections and 

must give to him/her instructions requiring the Cabinet to reconsider the draft plan or 

strategy in the light of those objections. This must be done before the Council:  

 

i. Amends the draft strategy; 

ii. Approves, for the purpose of its submission to the Secretary of State or any 

Minister of the Crown for approval, any plan or strategy (whether or not a 

draft) of which any part is required to be so submitted; or 

iii. Adopts (with or without modification) the plan or strategy 

Page 131

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 106 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

h) Where the Council gives instructions in accordance with f) above it must specify a period 

of at least five working days beginning on the day after the Cabinet leader receives the 

instructions on behalf of the Cabinet within which the Cabinet leader may:  

 

(i) submit a revision of the draft plan or strategy as amended by the Cabinet (the 

"revised draft plan or strategy"), with the Cabinet's reasons for any amendments 

made to the draft plan or strategy, to the Council for the Council’s 

consideration; or 

(ii) inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the 

Council's objections and the Cabinet's reasons for any such disagreement. 

 

i) When the specified period of at least five working days has expired, the Council must take 

into account any amendments made to the draft plan or strategy that are included in any 

revised draft plan or strategy, the Cabinet's reasons for those amendments, any 

disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the Council’s objections and the Cabinet's 

reasons for that disagreement, which the Cabinet leader submitted to the Council, or 

informed the Council of, within the specified period before taking any of the actions 

referred to in f) above.  In these circumstances a further meeting of the Council will be 

convened. 

j) If the Cabinet does not have any disagreement with the objections raised by the Council 

the plan or strategy will be effective at the expiry of the period of at least five working 

days, in accordance with the wishes of the Council.  

k) The Council meeting must take place within 10 clear working days of the receipt of the 

Cabinet’s written objection. 

l) The Council shall at that meeting make its final decision on the matter on the basis of a 

simple majority. The decision shall be made public in accordance, and shall be implemented 

immediately. 

m) In relation to the budget where, before 8th February in any financial year, the Cabinet 

submits to the Council for its consideration in relation to the following financial year –  
 

(i) estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation (whether 

originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of sections 32 to 37 

or 43 to 49, of the Local Government Finance Act 1992;  

(ii) estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a calculation;  

(iii) estimates of such a calculation; or  

(iv) amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part I of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992, 

and following consideration of those estimates or amounts the Council has any objections 

to them, it must take the action set out in the following paragraph. 

n) Before the Council makes a calculation (whether originally or by way of substitute) in 

accordance with any of the sections referred to in sub-paragraph (a), or issues a precept 

under Chapter IV of Part I of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, it must inform the 

Cabinet leader of any objections which it has to the Cabinet's estimates or amounts and 

must give to him/her instructions requiring the Cabinet to reconsider, in the light of those 

objections, those estimates and amounts in accordance with the Council's requirements. 

o) Where the authority gives instructions in accordance with paragraph (l), it must specify a 

period of at least five working days beginning on the day after the date on which the 

Page 132

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 107 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Cabinet leader receives the instructions on behalf of the Cabinet within which the Cabinet 

leader may –  

 

(i) submit a revision of the estimates or amounts as amended by the Cabinet 

("revised estimates or amounts"), which have been reconsidered in accordance 

with the Council requirements, with the Cabinet's reasons for any amendments 

made to the estimates or amounts, to the Council for the Council’s 

consideration; or 

(ii) inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the 

Council's objections and the Cabinet's reasons for any such disagreement 

p) When the specified period of at least five working days has expired, the Council must, 

when making calculations (whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with 

the sections referred to in paragraph (k)(a), or issuing a precept under Chapter IV of Part I 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, take into account –  

 

(i) any amendments to the estimates or amounts that are included in any revised 

estimates or amounts;  

(ii) the Cabinet's reasons for those amendments;  

(iii) any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the Council's objections; and  

(iv) the Cabinet's reasons for that disagreement, 

which the Cabinet leader submitted to the Council, or informed the Council of, within 

the period specified. 

 

q) Paragraphs l) to p) shall not apply in relation to –  

 

(i) calculations or substitute calculations which an authority is required to make in 

accordance with section 52I, 52J, 52T or 52U of the Local Government Finance 

Act 1992; and  

(ii) amounts stated in a precept issued to give effect to calculations or substitute 

calculations made in accordance with section 52J or 52U of that Act. 

r) In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify the extent of 

virement within the budget and degree of in-year changes to the policy framework which 

may be undertaken by the Cabinet, in accordance with paragraphs 5E.5 and 5E.6 of these 

Rules (virement and in-year adjustments). Any other changes to the budget and policy 

framework are reserved to the Council. 

5E.3 Decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

a) Subject to the provisions virement the Cabinet, Committees of the Cabinet, individual 

members of the Cabinet and any officers, area Committees or joint arrangements 

discharging Cabinet functions may only take decisions which are in line with the budget and 

policy framework. If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which is 

contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 

budget approved by full Council, then that decision may only be taken by the Council, 

subject to 5E.4 below. 

 

b) If the Cabinet, Committees of the Cabinet, individual members of the Cabinet and any 

officers, area Committees or joint arrangements discharging Cabinet functions want to 

Page 133

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 108 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

make such a decision, they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief 

Finance Officer as to whether the decision they want to make would be contrary to the 

policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget.  

 

c) If the advice of either of those officers is that the decision would not be in line with the 

existing budget and/or policy framework, then the decision must be referred by that body 

or person to the Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in which 

case the provisions in paragraph 5E.4 (urgent decisions outside the budget and policy 

framework) shall apply. 

 

5E.4 Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

a) The Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual member of the Cabinet or officers, 

area Committees or joint arrangements discharging Cabinet functions may take a decision 

which is contrary to the Council’s policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 

accordance with the budget approved by full Council if the decision is a matter of urgency. 

However, the decision may only be taken:  

(i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and  

(ii) if the Chair of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees that the  

 decision is a matter of urgency. 

 

b) The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full Council and the 

Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees’ consent to the decision being 

taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record of the decision. In the absence 

of the Chair of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee the consent of the Chair of 

the Council, and in the absence of both the vice-Chair, will be sufficient. 

c) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next available 

Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why the decision was 

treated as a matter of urgency. 

5E.5 Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

a) Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that an Cabinet decision is, 
or if made would be, contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in 

accordance with the Council’s budget, then it shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer 

and/or Chief Finance Officer. 

b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, the Monitoring Officer’s 

report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report shall be to the Cabinet with a copy to every 

member of the Council.  

c) Regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet must meet to decide 

what action to take in respect of the report and to prepare a report to Council in the 

event that the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer concludes that the decision 

was a departure, and to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the Monitoring Officer or 

the Chief Finance Officer concludes that the decision was not a departure. 

d) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented, and the 

advice from the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer is that the decision is or 

would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance 

with the budget, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the matter to Council. 

Page 134

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 109 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision or its 

implementation until the Council has met and considered the matter.  

e) The Council shall meet within ten working days of the request by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee. At the meeting it will receive a report of the decision or proposals 

and the advice of the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer. The Council may 

either: 

(i) endorse a decision or proposal of the Cabinet decision taker as falling within 

the existing budget and policy framework. In this case no further action is 

required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all 

Councillors in the normal way; or 

(ii) amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or policy concerned to 

encompass the decision or proposal of the body or individual responsible for 

that Cabinet function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this 

case, no further action is required save that the decision of the Council be 

minuted and circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; or  

(iii) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the 

policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, 

and does not amend the existing framework to accommodate it, require the 

Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of either the 

Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer. 

  

Page 135

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 110 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

5F Access to Information Rules 

1. Scope 

Subject to specified exceptions, these rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees, area Committees and other Committees and meetings of the 

Cabinet (together called meetings).  

 

2. Additional Rights to Information 

 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in this 

Constitution or the law. 

 

3. Rights to Attend Meetings 

Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions in these rules. 

 

4. Notices of Meeting 

The Council will normally give five clear working days’ notice of any meeting by posting 

details of the meeting at The Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney.  Notice will also be given 

by publishing the agenda at www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings. If for any reason it is not 

possible to give five clear days’ notice, the Council will comply with the statutory 

requirements where a meeting is summonsed in a shorter period. 

 

5. Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting 

 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available for 

inspection at The Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, in accordance with the statutory 

requirement for these to be available five clear working days before the meeting. They will 

also be available from www.westoxon.govuk/meetings  

  

 If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda  will be open to inspection from 

the time the item was added to the agenda.  Where reports are prepared after the 

summons has been sent out, the Chief Executive shall make each such report available to 

the public as soon as the report has been completed and sent to Councillors. 
 

6. Supply of Copies 

 On payment of any charge for postage, copying or other necessary charges for transmission, 

any person will be supplied with copies of: 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection, 

(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the 

items in the agenda; and 

(c) if the Chief Executive  thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to 

Councillors  in connection with an item. 

 

7. Access to Agendas, Minutes and Reports after the Meeting 

The Council will make available copies of the following for a minimum of six years after a 

meeting, including on its website: 

(a) the minutes of the meeting or, for meetings of the Cabinet, records of 

decisions taken, together with reasons, excluding any part of the minutes of 

proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public and which disclose 

exempt or confidential information, as defined in Rule 0 below.  

(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes 

Page 136

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.westoxon.govuk/meetings


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 111 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 

(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 

8. Background Papers 

a) List of background papers 
 Every report shall include a list of those documents (called background papers) relating to 

the subject matter of the report which in the opinion of the author: 

(i) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the report 

is based; and 

(ii) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 

but this does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 

confidential information (as defined in Rule 0 below)  and/or, in respect of Cabinet 

reports, the advice of a political advisor. 

 

 For Cabinet meetings, the listed background papers will be published on the Council’s 

website at www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings 

 

b) Public inspection of background papers 
 Background papers listed in reports may be inspected by the public during the period of four 

years beginning with the date of the meeting.   

 

9. Summary of the Rights of the Public 

 This part of the Council’s constitution meets the requirement that a  written summary of 

the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy documents must be kept at 

and available to the public at the Council’s main offices. 
 

10. Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings 

The following paragraphs set out circumstances in which the public may be excluded from 

meetings, as defined by the law.   However, there is a general presumption that meetings will 
be open to the public to attend. Any person attending a meeting open to the public for the 

purpose of reporting the proceedings will be afforded reasonable facilities for taking their 

report. In addition to the following, the public may be excluded from a meeting if necessary 

to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour. 

 

Confidential information – requirement to exclude public 

 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information (as 

defined below) would be disclosed. 

 

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 

 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information (as 

defined below) would be disclosed. 

 

 

Page 137

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 112 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Meaning of confidential information 

 Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government 

Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure, or information which cannot be 

publicly disclosed under any enactment or by an order of a court. 

 

Meaning of exempt information  

 Exempt information means information falling within the categories in the following table.  

These categories are subject to the qualifications and interpretation which follow the table.  

 Category 

 [For each of nos 1 – 0, see Qualification 1 below] 

1  Information relating to any individual 

2  Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

3  Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information). 

[see Qualification 2 below] 

4  Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 

contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with 

any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a 

Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, 

the authority. 

5  Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 

could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

6  Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7  Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection 

with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 

Qualifications: 

 

(1) Information falling within paragraph 3 is not exempt information by virtue of that paragraph 

if it is required to be registered under— 

(a) the Companies Acts (as defined in s.2 of the Companies Act 2006); 

(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 

(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 

(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 

(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 

(f) the Charities Act 2011. 

 

(2) Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the 

local planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the 

Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 

(3) Information which— 

Page 138

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 113 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and  

(b)    is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of the two preceding paragraphs 

is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public 

interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 

information. 

 

Interpretation: 

(4) “Employee” means a person employed under a contract of service; 

(5) "financial or business affairs" includes contemplated, as well as past or    

current, activities; 

(6) "labour relations matter" means— 

(a)  any of the matters specified in paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 218(1) of the Trade 

Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992[10] (matters which may be the 

subject of a trade dispute, within the meaning of that Act); or 

(b)  any dispute about a matter falling within paragraph (a) above; 

and for the purposes of this definition the enactments mentioned in paragraph 

(a) above, with the necessary modifications, shall apply in relation to office-

holders under the authority as they apply in relation to employees of the 

authority; 

 

(7) "office-holder", in relation to the authority, means the holder of any paid office 

appointments to which are or may be made or confirmed by the authority or by any 

joint board on which the authority is represented or by any person who holds any 

such office or is an employee of the authority; "registered" in relation to information 

required to be registered under the Building Societies Act 1986, means recorded in 

the public file of any building society (within the meaning of that Act). 

 

The decision on whether information is confidential or exempt shall be made by the 

Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Head of Legal Services.  

 
a) Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports 

The Council may exclude access by the public to reports which in the opinion of the 

Monitoring Officer relate to items during which, in accordance with Rule 0, the meeting is 

likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be marked "Not for publication" and 

will include reference to the category and description of the information likely to be 

disclosed. 

b) Application of Rules to the Cabinet 

Rules 0 to m) below apply to the Cabinet and to any Committees of the Cabinet. If the 

Cabinet or one of its Committees meet to take a key decision then it must also comply with 

Rules 1 to 0 unless Rule e) (general exception) or Rule g) (special urgency) apply.  A key 

decision is as defined in this Constitution. 

 

If the Cabinet or its Committees meet to discuss a key decision to be taken collectively, 

with an officer other than a political assistant present, within 28 days of the date according 

to the cabinet work plan by which it is to be decided, then it must also comply with Rules 1 

to 0 unless Rule e) (general exception) or Rule g) (special urgency) apply. This requirement 

does not include meetings whose sole purpose is for officers to brief members. 

 

 

Page 139

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 114 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

c) Procedure before taking Key Decisions 

Subject to Rule e) (general exception) and Rule g) (special urgency), a key decision may not 

be taken unless: 

(a) a notice has been published in connection with the matter in question which 

complies with the requirements of the Local Authorities (Executive 

Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 

2012; 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the notice referred to 

in the preceding paragraph; and 

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or its Committees, 

notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 4 (notice of 

meetings) 

 

d) Notice of Future Cabinet Decisions (Cabinet Work Programme) 

 

a. Period of Notice 

Notice of future Cabinet decisions will be published in accordance with Rule 0 above. In 

addition to key decisions the notice will, wherever possible, include details of other 

decisions which the Cabinet is expected to take, and will aim to cover a period of 

approximately two to three months.  

 

The Notice will be available at the Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, and on the 

Council’s website  

 

b. Contents of Notice 

The Notice of Future Decisions will contain matters which are believed will be the subject 

of a key decision to be taken by the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, individual 

members of the Cabinet, officers, or under joint arrangements in the course of the discharge 

of an Cabinet function during the period covered. It will provide the following: 

(i) A statement that a key decision is to be made on behalf of the council; 
(ii) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 

(iii) where the decision maker is an individual, their name and title, if any and where 

the decision maker is a decision making body, its name and a list of its 

members; 

(iv) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be made; 

(v) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for consideration in 

relation to the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made; 

(vi) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 

disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 

(vii) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the 

decision maker; and 

(viii) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 

become available  

 

c. Publication of Notice of Future Decisions 

The Notice referred to above must be published at least 28 clear days before the date of the 

first specified key decision.  

 

The Notice will include particulars of any matter where the public may be excluded from 

Page 140

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 115 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

the meeting at which the matter is to be discussed, or where documents will not be 

available to the public, but will not contain any confidential or exempt information or 

particulars of the advice of a political adviser or assistant. 

 

e) Decisions at Private Meetings 

Where a decision is likely to be taken with the public excluded from the meeting, the 

Council will make available at its offices a Notice of its intention to hold the meeting in 

private and publish on its website Notice of that intention at least 28 clear days in advance 

of the date of the private meeting where the decision will be taken. This Notice will be 

incorporated into the Notice referred to in paragraphs 00 above and 0 above, and will 

include a statement of the reasons for the decision to be taken in private. 

 

At least five clear working days before the meeting, a further Notice of the intention to 

make the decision in private must be published. This must include a statement of the reasons 

for the meeting to be held in private; details of any representations received by the decision-

making body about why the decision should be taken in public; and a statement of the 

response to any such representations. This Notice will be incorporated into the agenda for 

the meeting in question.  

 

Where the date by which a meeting must be held makes the above procedure impracticable, 

the meeting may only be held in private where agreement has been obtained from the chair 

of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or, if there is no such person, or the 

chair is unable to act, the chair of the council, or, if there is no chair of the committee or 

the council, the vice chair of the council that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be 

deferred. 

 

As soon as reasonably practicable after such agreement has been obtained a Notice must be 

made available at the Council Offices and on its website setting out the reasons that the 

meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
The Chief Executive will determine which is the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

for the purposes of this Rule. 

 

f) General Exception – Key Decisions 

Where the publication of the intention to make a key decision as set out above is 

impracticable, subject to Rule g) (special urgency), the decision may still be taken if:  

(a) The Chief Executive has informed the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or, if there is no such person, each member of that Committee by 

notice in writing, of the matter about which the decision is to be made; 

(b) A copy of the notice referred to in (a) above has been made available for inspection 

by the public at the Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney and on the Council’s 

website; and 

(c) After five clear days have elapsed since the Chief Executive complied with (b) above 

The Chief Executive must, having carried out the above step, make available for 

inspection by the public at the Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney and on the 

Council’s website, a notice setting out the reasons why compliance with 0(b) above 

was impracticable. 

 

 

Page 141

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 116 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

g) Special Urgency – Key Decisions 

If the date by which a key decision must be made makes compliance with Rule f) above 

impracticable, the decision may only be made with the agreement of the chair of the 

relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or, if there is no such person, or the chair is 

unable to act, the chair of the council, or, if there is no chair of the committee or the 

council, the vice chair of the council that the making of the decision is urgent and cannot 

reasonably be deferred.  

 

As soon as reasonably practicable after such agreement has been obtained a Notice must be 

made available at the Council Offices and on its website setting out the reasons that the 

meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred.  

 

The Chief Executive will determine which is the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

for the purposes of this Rule.  

 

h) Report to Council 

 

a. When an Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a report 

If a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee thinks that a key decision has been taken 

which was not treated as being a key decision, the Committee may require the Cabinet to 

submit a report to the Council within such reasonable time as the Committee specifies. The 

power to require a report rests with the Committee, but is also delegated to the Chief 

Executive, who shall require such a report on behalf of the Committee when so requested 

by the Chair. Alternatively the requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a meeting 

of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 

b. Cabinet’s report to Council 

 The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting of the 

Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council is within seven working days of receipt 

of the written notice, or the resolution of the Committee, then the report may be 
submitted to the meeting after that. The report to Council will set out the decision and the 

reasons for the decision, the decision maker by which the decision was made, and if the 

Cabinet is of the opinion that the decision was not a key decision, the reasons for that 

opinion. 

 

c. Reports on special urgency key decisions 

 The leader will submit at least one report annually to the council, which contains details of 

each Cabinet decision taken since the submission of the last report which was agreed as 

urgent under the procedure in Rule g) above. The report will include the particulars of each 

such decision made, and a summary of the matters in respect of which each decision was 

made. 

 

i) Record of Decisions 

 After any meeting of the Cabinet or any Committee of the Cabinet, the Chief Executive  or, 

where no officer was present, the person presiding at the meeting, will produce a record of 

every decision taken at that meeting as soon as practicable. The record will include a 

statement of the reasons for each decision and any alternative options considered and 

rejected at that meeting.   

 

Page 142

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 117 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

j) Cabinet Meetings to be held in Public 

 With the exception of matters falling within Rule 0 above, all meetings of the Cabinet will be 

held in public. 

 

k) Notice of Meeting of the Cabinet 

 Members of the Cabinet or a Committee of the Cabinet will be entitled to receive five clear 

working days notice of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless the meeting is 

convened at shorter notice as a matter of urgency. 

 

 The agenda and reports for any such meeting will also be circulated to all members of the 

Council, unless: 

(a) any individual member indicates that they do not wish to receive specified papers; or 

(b) in exceptional circumstances, taking into account the provisions of Regulation 16 of 

the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012, the Leader or the decision taker, on the advice of at least 

two of the statutory officers agrees that the content of a report is of such a sensitive 

nature that it should be circulated only to members of the relevant decision making 

body; or 
(c) a report contains information or advice which the Council is unable to supply to 

members not involved in the making of a decision because of any statutory provision 

or the terms of any agreement.  
 

l) Member attendance at meetings of the Cabinet 

 Members of the Council who are not members of the Cabinet may attend meetings of the 

Cabinet and any Committees of the Cabinet. At the discretion of the Cabinet they may join 

in debates but may not vote. 

 

m) Decisions by Individual Members of the Cabinet 

 

a. Reports intended to be taken into account 
 Where an individual member of the Cabinet receives a report which they intend to take into 

account in making any decision, they will not make the decision until at least five clear days 

after receipt of that report. 

 

b. Provision of copies of reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

  

 Any report prepared for an individual decision maker will be circulated to all members of 

the Council, subject to the exceptions referred to in Rule k) above. The report will also be 

available to the public in accordance with these Rules. 

 

c. Record of individual decision 

  

 As soon as reasonably practicable after an Cabinet decision has been taken by an individual 

member of the Cabinet or by an officer, the Chief Executive will prepare a record of the 

decision, a statement of the reasons for it and any alternative options considered and 

rejected. The provisions of Rules 0 and 0 (inspection of documents after meetings) will also 

apply to the making of decisions by individual members of the Cabinet. This does not 

require the disclosure of exempt or confidential information or advice from a political 

assistant. 

Page 143

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 118 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

 

5G: Contract Procedure Rules 

A copy of the contract procedure rules are available on the Council’s website: 

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/c4ppgm0v/contract-rules-2021.pdf  

 

  

Page 144

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/c4ppgm0v/contract-rules-2021.pdf


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 119 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

5H: Financial Procedure Rules 

 
[To be inserted when available]   

Page 145

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 120 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

Part 6: Code and Protocols  

6A: Member Code of Conduct 

Member Code of 

Conduct April 2022.docx  

Page 146

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 121 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

6B: Member/Officer Protocol 

Preamble 

1.  Mutual respect and trust between Members and Officers may seem obvious, but what 

happens when relationships go awry?  Where can members and officers turn for guidance?  

What mechanisms exist for addressing concerns?  How can matters be improved? 

 

2.     Such questions point to the need for a written guide to the basic elements of the 

relationship between members and officers: 

 to promote trust, openness, fairness and honesty by establishing some ground rules; 

 to define roles so as: 

o to clarify responsibilities (that is, who does what), 

o to avoid conflict, and 

o to prevent duplication or omission; 

 to secure compliance with the law, codes of conduct and a Council's own practices; 

and 

 to lay down procedures for dealing with concerns by members or officers. 

 
3.       This protocol should be recognised both as a central element of the Council's corporate 

governance, and as a commitment to upholding standards of conduct in public life. It is one 

way of demonstrating to the public at large that local government is serious about 

protecting and enhancing its integrity and reputation. 

 

4. Members and officers must at all times observe this protocol. It should not be considered simply 

a list of do’s and don’ts but also as guidance on cultural and behavioural matters to ensure that 

the Council benefits from good working relationships and achieves its full potential in delivering 

services to the community it serves. 

 

5. In addition to this protocol all staff are required to comply with Publica’s Business Conduct 

Policy. 

 

Definitions 

 

6. Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to the term “Council” includes Full Council, 

the Cabinet, all Committees, subcommittees and task/working groups. 

 

7. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms “member” and “members” includes co-

opted members as well as elected councillors. 

 

8.  “Officers” and “staff” mean all persons employed by the Council and Publica 

 

“Senior officer” is as defined within the Constitution 

 

“Designated Finance Officer” means the Chief Finance Officer (section 151 Officer) 

exercising the duties prescribed by law for the financial administration of the Council  

  

“Monitoring Officer” means the officer exercising the duties prescribed by law for the 

ethical and legal administration of the Council. 

 

Page 147

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 122 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

The role of members 

 

9. Members have a number of elements within their role: 

 

 as politicians with political values and support for the policies of the group to which 

they belong;  

 

 as representatives of all the electorate of the Council’s administrative area, and their 

ward in particular;  

 

 as community leaders for the whole population of the administrative area; 

  

 as an elected member with responsibility for the administration and service delivery 

to the community as a whole; and  
 

 in personal life where they may have to live and/or work in the area in which they 

serve.  

 

There is a need for members to be alert to the potential for conflicts of interest, which may 

arise within their role. Where such conflicts are likely, members may wish to seek the 

advice of senior colleagues, the relevant senior officer(s), and/or the Monitoring Officer. 

 

10. Collectively, members are the ultimate policy-makers determining the core values of the 

Council and approving the authority's policy framework, strategic plans and budget. In 

particular, members should: Define the core values of the Council as an organisation, and with 

assistance from officers, identify the priority objectives 

 

11. Members represent the community, act as community leaders and promote the social, 

economic and environmental well-being of the community often in partnership with other 

agencies. 

 

12. Every elected-member represents the interests of, and is an advocate for, their Ward and 
individual constituents. They represent the Council in the Ward, respond to the concerns 

of constituents, meet with partner agencies, and often serves on local bodies. 

 

13. Some members have roles within the Council relating to their position as members of the 

Cabinet, scrutiny committees or other committees and subcommittees of the Council: 

   

 

a. The Leader and Cabinet collectively decide the day-to-day operational issues not 

delegated to officers and recommend framework policies and strategies to 

Council. 

b. Members serving on scrutiny and review committees monitor the effectiveness of 

the Council's policies and services, develop policy proposals and examine 

community issues.  

c. Members who serve on other committees and sub-committees collectively 

have delegated responsibilities, for example, deciding quasi-judicial matters that, by 

law, are excluded from the remit of the Cabinet. 

 

Page 148

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 123 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

14. Some members may be appointed to represent the Council on local, regional or national 

bodies. 

 

15. As politicians, members may express the values and aspirations of the party political groups 

to which they belong, recognising that in their role as members they have a duty always to 

act in the public interest. The political party values and aspirations should not be formally 

exercised by a political whip on members undertaking the scrutiny function. 

 

16. Members will endeavour to give responses within a reasonable time, for example, 5 working 

days to enquiries from members of the public. 

 

The rights and duties of members 

 

17.  Members have no authority to instruct officers other than: 

 through the formal decision-making process of Cabinet, the committees and Council; and 

 to request the provision of consumable resources provided by the Council for 

members' use; 

 

18. Unless authorised by this Constitution under the Cabinet system individual members cannot 

authorise nor initiate actions nor certify financial transactions, nor enter into a contract on 

behalf of the Council. However, members who are appointed to certain positions may have to 

sign authorisations as required by secondary legislation or other requirements of this 

Constitution. 

 

19. Members must avoid taking actions, which are unlawful, financially improper or likely to 

amount to maladministration. Members have an obligation under their Code of Conduct to 

have regard, when reaching decisions, to any advice provided by the Monitoring Officer and/or 

the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

20.1 A member should not criticise the conduct or capability of an officer at any meeting of Council 

or committee. Neither should a member write letters or give interviews to the press criticising 

officers. This is because of the long-standing convention in public service that officers do not 

have the same means of responding to such criticisms in public. If a member has a concern 

regarding an officer this should be addressed to a senior officer.   

 

21. Members must respect the impartiality of officers and do nothing to compromise it, e.g. by 

insisting that officers change their professional advice.  Members must respect that the officers 

have a duty to correct information given to Members during the decision-making process.  

 
22. At party group meetings where some of those present are not members of the Council, care 

must be taken not to divulge confidential information relating to Council business.  Persons 

who are not members are not bound by the members' code of conduct.  They do not have 

the same rights to Council information as members. 

 

23. Members have a duty under their code of conduct: 

• To promote equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person, and 

•  To treat others with respect. 

 

24. Under the code, a member must not when acting as a member or in any other capacity: 

Page 149

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 124 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

• Bring the Council or their position as a member into disrepute; or 

• Use their position as a member improperly to gain an advantage or disadvantage for 

themselves or any other person. 

 

The role of officers 

 

25.  Officers should work in partnership with members to deliver the services to the community, 

to the standard set by the Council. Officers should be committed to the Council as a whole 

and must not show any bias, partiality or allegiance to any political group or grouping. Officers 

must always provide advice and information in an impartial and professional manner and in a 

manner that does not compromise their political neutrality.  

 

26. Officers are employed to undertake the functions of the Council (including management 

responsibilities) and to help members attain their policy goals. Where operational decisions are 

delegated to the officers, they must exercise that authority in accordance with the adopted 

policy and values of the Council. Officers are responsible for giving advice to members to 

enable them to fulfil their roles. In doing so, officers will take into account all available 

relevant factors and have a duty to advise members that certain courses of action desired by 

members cannot be adopted. Officers must not enter into a debate during the decision-making 

process unless to correct factual information or in response to a chair’s request for an opinion.  

 

The rights and duties of officers 
 

27. Officers must assist and advise all parts of the Council. They must always act to the best of 

their abilities in the best interests of the authority as expressed in the Council's formal 

decisions. 

 

28. Officers must be alert to issues, which are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically 

sensitive, and be aware of the implications for members, the media or other sections of the 

public. Officers have the right not to support members in any role other than that of 
member, and not to engage in actions incompatible with this protocol. In particular, there 

is a statutory limitation on officers’ involvement in political activities. 

 

30. Officers must also: 

 

a. Respond to members’ requests for information promptly but within 5 working days 

(either with the information or an explanation why the period will be longer). 

b. Act with honesty, respect, dignity, courtesy and integrity at all times. 

c. Provide support and learning and development opportunities for members to assist 

members perform their various roles, and 

d. Respect confidences. 

 

The relationship between members and officers: general 

 

31. Members and officers should inform the Monitoring Officer of any relationship which might 

be perceived as unduly influencing them in their respective roles.  

 

32. It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety. Members and officers should always be open 

about their relationships to avoid any reason for suspicion and any appearance of improper 

Page 150

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 125 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

conduct. Where a personal relationship has been disclosed, those concerned should avoid a 

situation where conflict could be perceived. Specifically, a member should not sit on a body 

or participate in any decision that directly affects the officer on a personal basis, or vice versa. 

33. There are particular characteristics of the use of e-mails, notably its immediacy, which can 

create a greater sense of ‘bombardment’ or ‘harassment’.  Practical guidance for members and 

officers on the use of emails is referred to later in this protocol under the heading 

“Correspondence”. 

 

34. Officers’ work priorities are set and managed by senior managers not individual members. 

It follows that, whilst such officers will always seek to assist a member, they must not be 

unduly disrupted or asked to exceed the bounds of authority they have been given by their 

managers. Meetings should be arranged to a timescale that enables officers to complete tasks 

assigned to them and not at a frequency which disrupts other tasks set by the Council. Except 

when the purpose of an enquiry is purely to seek factual information on day-to-day 

matters, members should normally direct their requests and concerns to a senior officer, at 

least in the first instance.  

 

35. Officers will do their best to give timely responses to members' enquiries within 5 working 

days but should not have an unreasonable volume of requests placed on them.  

 

36. Officers shall not discuss with a member personal matters concerning themselves or 

another individual employee. This does not prevent an officer raising, on a personal basis, and 

in their own time, a matter relevant to a Council function with their ward member. 

 

Relationships between Officers and Cabinet Members, Chair’s of Committees and the Leader 

 

37. It is important to the efficient discharge of the Council’s functions that there should be a 

good working relationship between Members of the Cabinet, Chief Executive and Senior 

Officers  and between the Chair of a committee and officers. However, such relationships 

should never be allowed to become close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into 
question the employee’s ability to deal impartially with other Members and other party 

groups. 

 

38. Officers frequently write reports having undertaken background research and professional 

and technical appraisals of proposals. 

 

39. These reports are then presented by the Cabinet Member with Portfolio, with the 

assistance of officers where necessary. 

 

40. Members must accept that in some situations officers will be under a duty to submit an 

opinion or advice in a report on a particular matter. In those situations the officer will 

always be fully responsible for those elements of a report submitted in the Member’s name. 

 

41. The principles set out in paragraphs 41 and 42 below apply to such elements of the report. 

 

42. Where an officer wishes to consult a Cabinet Member or Chair as part of the preparation 

of a report to a decision-making body under the Council’s constitution, the following 

principles will apply. The Cabinet Member or Chair may ask the report author: 

  (a)  To include particular options; 

Page 151

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 126 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

(b)  To clarify the report by expanding, simplifying or re-phrasing any part of the  

report or including other particular information; 

(c) To check or correct any error or omission of any matter or fact including 

statements of summaries of policy or budget; 

  (d)  To check any estimate of costs or savings. 

 

43. The Cabinet Member or Chair may not ask officers: 

 To exclude any option contained in the draft report; 

 To exclude or alter the substance of any statement in the draft report of any 

officer’s professional opinion; 

 To alter the substance of any recommendation that compromises the officer’s 

integrity or would result in illegality; 

 To exclude any report, comments or representations arising from consultations, 

publicity or supply of information to the community. 
 

44. Certain statutory functions are undertaken by officers. Their reports on such matters are 

then their own full responsibility. 

 

Scrutiny Arrangements 

 

45. Cabinet arrangements raise particular issues for local authority employees because: 

a. The advice which officers have given to the Cabinet, its Members or to any group 

may be subject to scrutiny and examined by the a Scrutiny Committee. 

b. Officers may have written reports for presentation by a Cabinet Member with 

Portfolio or provided advice to the Cabinet. Where such a decision is subject to 

scrutiny by a Scrutiny Committee, or when a decision is called-in, an officer may 

provide information or advice to a Scrutiny Committee.  Members must recognise 

that there is an inherent tension between these two roles.  As circumstances change 

or more information comes to light, advice may reflect the difference. 

c. The Scrutiny Committee’s and their members will need active assistance from 

officers if they are to perform their role of scrutinising the Cabinet effectively. 

 

These factors will require understanding by Members of the role that officers have to 

perform. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 

 

46. The scrutiny role of the Council is performed by three Scrutiny Committees and the Audit 

and Governance Committee.  Senior Officers may need to attend Scrutiny Committees to 

give evidence and assist in its scrutiny. 

 

47. Where an employee /Senior Officer is required to attend before a Scrutiny Committee, to 

report to it or provide evidence for it, it is the employee’s duty to do so, or to explain why 

he or she is unable or unwilling to do so.  If after considering that explanation the 
committee insists on the information being provided the employee must do so. 

 

48. Where a Scrutiny Committee has resolved to undertake a review it is the duty of Senior 

Officers to co-operate fully with the review.  This duty extends beyond merely answering 

the Committee’s questions and involves a requirement to assist the Committee in 

Page 152

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 127 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

addressing the right questions and seeking the information which may be required to help 

them in their work. 

 

Party group meetings and Officers 

 

49. Party Group Meetings play an important role in the political management of the Council. They 

provide a useful forum to keep Members up to date with Council and Group business. They 

can assist in the smooth running of meetings especially in agreeing questions and motions for 

Full Council Meetings.  . 

 

50. Senior officers may properly be asked to provide advice and information on matters 

concerning Council business by party groups but should not contribute to deliberations of the 

group. An officer who is not a senior officer shall not be invited to attend a party group 

meeting, but a senior officer may nominate another officer to attend on their behalf. In their 

dealings with party groups, officers must treat each group in a fair transparent and even-handed 

manner. If one group requests particular support then other groups will be offered the 

opportunity to have similar support. 

 

51. Officers have the right to refuse such requests, and will not attend a meeting of a party group 

where some of those attending are not members of the Council, unless specific authority has 

been given by the Chief Executive who has the discretion to discuss the request with other group 

leaders. 

 

52. Officer support will not extend beyond providing factual information or professional advice 

in relation to matters of Council business.  Officers must not be involved in advising on 

matters of party business, and therefore should not be expected to be present at meetings 

or parts of meetings when such matters are to be discussed. 

 

53. Party group meetings are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council, and 

conclusions reached at such meetings do not rank as formal decisions.  The presence of an 
officer does not confer formal status on such meetings in terms of Council business and must 

not be interpreted as doing so. 

 

54. Where officers provide factual information and advice to a party group in relation to a 

matter of Council business, this will not be a substitute for providing all the necessary 

information and advice when the matter in question is formally considered by the relevant 

part of the Council. 

 

55. It must not be assumed that an officer is supportive of a particular policy or view considered 

at a party group meeting simply because they have attended or provided information to the 

meeting of the group. 

 

56. Officers will respect the confidentiality of any party group discussions at which they are 

present and, unless requested to do so by that party group, will not relay the content of such 

discussions to another party group or to any other members.  This shall not prevent an officer 

providing feedback to other senior officers on a need-to-know basis. 

 

57. Members must not do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise officers' 

impartiality. The duration of an officer's attendance at a party group meeting will be at the 

Page 153

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 128 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

discretion of the group, but an officer may leave at any time if they feel it is no longer 

appropriate to be there 

 

58. An officer should be given the opportunity of verifying comments and advice attributed to 

him/her in any written record of a party group meeting.  

 

Local members and officers 

 

59. To enable them to carry out their ward role effectively, members need to be fully informed 

about matters affecting their ward. Senior officers must ensure that all relevant staff are aware 

of the requirement to keep local members informed, thus allowing members to contribute to 

the decision-making process and develop their representative role. Issues may affect a single 

ward.  Where they have a wider impact, a number of local members will need to be kept 

informed. 

 

60. This requirement is particularly important: 

• during the formative stages of policy development, where practicable; 

• in relation to significant or sensitive operational matters;  

• whenever any form of public consultation exercise is undertaken; and 

• during an overview and scrutiny investigation. 

 

61. Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all the 

members representing the wards affected should be invited to attend the meeting as a matter 

of course. 

 

62. If a local member intends to arrange a public meeting on a matter concerning some aspect of 

the Council's work, they should inform the relevant officer.  Provided the meeting has not 

been arranged on a party political basis: 

• an officer may attend but is not obliged to do so, and 

• the meeting may be held in Council-owned premises. 
 

63. No such meetings should be arranged or held in the immediate four week run-up to 

Council elections, i.e. within the period following a declaration of an election or of a vacancy. 

 

64. Officers must never be asked to attend ward or constituency political party meetings. Whilst 

support for members' ward work is legitimate, care should be taken if staff are asked to 

accompany members to ward surgeries. In such circumstances: 

• the surgeries must be open to the general public, and 

• officers should not be requested to accompany members to surgeries held in the 

offices or premises of political parties. 

 

65. It is acknowledged that some Council staff may receive and handle messages for members on 

topics unrelated to the Council. Whilst these will often concern diary management, care 

should be taken to avoid Council resources being used for private or party political purposes. 

 

66. In seeking to deal with constituents' queries or concerns, members should not seek to jump 

the queue but should respect the Council's procedures. Officers have many pressures on 

their time. They may not be able to carry out the work required by members in the 

requested timescale, and may need to seek instructions from their managers. 

Page 154

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 129 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

 

Members' access to documents and information 

 

67. This part of the protocol should be read in conjunction with the access to information 

rules.  

68. Members may request senior officers to provide them with such information, explanation and 

advice as they may reasonably need to assist them to discharge their roles as members. 

This may range from general information about some aspect of the Council's services to 

specific information on behalf of a constituent.  Where information is requested on behalf of 

a third party, it will only be provided if: 

• it is in the public domain, and 

• it is not barred by the Data Protection Act from being given. 

 

69. It will be the task of senior officers to ensure that adequate systems to communicate 

information etc. are in place and other officers are made aware of the need to provide the 

information. If a member has need of specific information, other advice or particular 

support, this should be channelled through the senior officer. 

 

70. Every member of a committee has a right to inspect documents about the business of that 

committee or subcommittee. 

 

71. A member who is not a member of a specific committee or subcommittee may have access 

to any document of that specific part of the Council provided: 

 the document is in the public domain; or 

 they can demonstrate a reasonable need to see the documents in order to carry out 

their role as a member (the "need to know" principle); or  

 the documents do not contain “confidential” or “exempt” information as defined by 

the law, e.g. personal information covered by the Data Protection Acts, and 

 the subject matter is one in which they do not have a personal or prejudicial interest 

as defined in the members' code of conduct. 

 

72. Disputes as to the validity of a member's request to see a document on a need to know basis 

will be determined by the Monitoring Officer. Officers should seek their advice if in any 

doubt about the reasonableness of a member's request. 

 

73. Members may approach any Senior Officer for information, explanation or advice about 

that group’s functions, as they may reasonably need to know in order to assist them in 

discharging their role as members of Council, being aware that personal information may 

not be disclosed without proper authorisation. 

 

74. Information that is of a sensitive nature, e.g. personal data, commercially confidential, etc. 

which is given to a member or officer must only be used for the purpose for which it was 

requested, i.e. the better performance of Council duties, and should not be used for personal 
benefit, including benefit to family, friends and business. Information, which is restricted in 

circulation, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or exempt, must not be disclosed by 

the member to any other party. Members and officers must not disclose information given to 

them in confidence without the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless 

required by law to do so. 

Page 155

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 130 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

75. When requested to do so, officers will keep confidential from other members advice 

requested by a member, save the Monitoring Officer if the matters involve maladministration but 

in that case the source of the information will be kept confidential. 

 

76. Members and officers must not prevent another person from gaining access to information to 

which that person is entitled by law. 

 

Media relations 

 

77. Press releases or statements issued by the Council will be factual and consistent with Council 

policy.  They cannot be used to promote a party group. Officers will keep relevant members 

informed of media interest in the Council's activities, especially regarding strategic or 

contentious matters. 

 

78. If a member is contacted by, or contacts, the media on an issue, they should: 

 

 never give a commitment in relation to matters which may be subject to claims from 

third parties and/or are likely to be an insurance matter;  

 take particular care in what they say in the run-up to local or national elections to avoid 

giving the impression of electioneering, unless they have been contacted as an election 

candidate or political party activist. 

 Not divulge advice given personally to that member by an officer, and 

 not jeopardise the necessary trust between officers and members by making statements 

apportioning blame to officers for decisions made by members or personally criticise the 

officer for the advice he gave. Qualified privilege may not apply to defamatory statements 

made against officers 

 

Emails 

 

79. Emails between an individual member and an officer should not be copied to another member 

unless there is a genuine need to do so.  Where correspondence is copied, this should 

always be made explicit, i.e. there should be no "blind" copies.  Officers may forward copies to 

other (relevant) officers where specific action is required to be taken or explained. 

 

80. The content of all emails should be checked to ensure that it does not offend in its tone 

and that it is clear and unambiguous.  

 

81. Emails which are capable of creating legally enforceable obligations or which give instructions on 

behalf of the Council should never be sent in the name of a member.  

 

Access to premises 

 

82. Members and officers have a right of access to Council owned land and premises to fulfil 

their duties.  Members have no right of access to any other private land, save that they own. 
 

83. When invited to attend at any premises, members should: 

 comply with health and safety, security and other workplace rules; 

 not interfere with the services or activities being provided at the time of the visit; 

and 

Page 156

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 131 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 take special care at schools and establishments serving vulnerable sections of 

society to avoid giving any impression of improper or inappropriate behaviour. 

 

Use of Council resources 

 

84. Officers and members must comply with the Information Security Policy and Use of 

Resources Policy. 

 

Interpretation, complaints and allegations of breaches 

 

85.  Members or officers with questions about the implementation or interpretation of any part of 

this protocol should seek the guidance of the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or Deputy 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

86. Members must not criticise, personally attack, or abuse officers in a public forum.  A member 

who is unhappy about the actions taken by, or conduct of, an officer should follow the adopted 

internal procedures. 

 
87. The Chief Executive is responsible for the disciplining of retained staff and processes have been 

agreed with the trade unions, which allow a fair and thorough review of conduct. It is important 

that these procedures are adhered to in cases where an officer’s conduct gives cause for 

concern. Publica has its own arrangements in place for the disciplining of Publica employees 

which will be applied when required.  

 

88. Officers who have concerns about a member’s conduct should initially refer the issue to 

their line manager, the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or a Senior Officer who will 

(where appropriate) attempt to resolve the matter informally.  If the issue remains 

unresolved, or informal action is not suitable, the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or 

Senior Officer will take appropriate action via the Council’s internal processes, including 

the Member Code of Conduct and this Protocol.  

  

Page 157

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 132 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

6C: Appointments of Members to Outside Bodies 

There may be occasion where members are appointed to outside bodies.   

Where such appointments are made the member appointed is required to provide an annual 

written report to Council setting out the work undertaken by the organisation.  The report may 

include items such as; the continuing benefit of personal representation, an analysis (not 

necessarily a financial assessment) of the achievements of the organisation, and its effectiveness in 

delivering the outcomes/outputs required by the Council.  

This report should be submitted to Democratic Services in March each year and will be circulated 

to all members of the Council.  

 

Any member may refer these reports, or issues raised by the reports, to the appropriate overview 

and scrutiny committee if further consideration is felt necessary.  

  

Page 158

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 133 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

6D: Protocol on the Use of Council Facilities and Resources by Councillors 

1.  Introduction 

 

1.1 The Council provides facilities and resources to assist members in carrying out their duties 

as councillors or as holders of an office within the Council. 

 

1.2 The Members Code of Conduct makes some provision regarding the use of resources.  
 

1.3 This protocol seeks to build on the Code of Conduct and explain the limitations placed on 

the use by Members, of the Council’s facilities and resources 

 

2. Use of facilities and resources 

 

2.1 Members may use Council facilities and resources for political purposes, in connection with 

the following business; 

  

 (a) holding ward surgeries; 

 (b) dealing with correspondence from constituents; 

 (c) communication group activities; 

 (d) meetings between group members 

 

2.2 The Council is prohibited from publishing any material of a party political nature and 

Members should ensure that when using or authorising the use by others of the Council’s 

facilities and resources, that such facilities and resources are not used for purely political 

purposes and that the use of Council premises is restricted to premises available to the 

public generally and paid for at the full hire costs. 

 

2.3 A Member’s use of Council facilities and resources must not extend to political parties 

more generally. Use of Council owned premises for party political purposes (where such 

meetings are used to further the political aims and objectives of the party concerned) must 
be restricted to premises available to the public generally and paid for at the full hire costs.  

 

2.4 In cases where 2.3 does not apply, such as political group meetings where the purpose 

includes Council business and is not solely to further political aims and objectives, then 

Members can make use of rooms available at the Council Offices, without charge provided 

that: 

  

 (a) rooms are available for the required time; 

 

(b) meetings are restricted to the facilities opening hours.  If Members want to hold 

meetings outside of these days/times then it must be agreed in advance with the 

Chief Executive and any expenses incurred must be met by the political party’s 

funds and not Council funds; 

 

(c) Third parties may attend political group meetings held in the Council’s offices, 

provided that the primary purpose of the meeting is the consideration of business 

relevant to West Oxfordshire District Council and not the political party. 

Page 159

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 134 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

2.5  Members must not use any Council facilities and/or resources for purely  political 

purposes, including designing and distributing party political material produced for publicity 

purposes and support of any political party or group activity or elections and campaigning.   

 

3.  Private/Personal Use 

 

3.1 As a general rule, facilities and resources paid for by the public purse and provided for use 

in Council business should only be used for Council business.  

 

3.2 Members are required to adhere to the Council’s Information Security Policies 

 

4.  Complaints and allegations of breaches of this protocol  

 

4.1 Allegations of any failure to meet this Protocol must be made in writing, to the Monitoring 

Officer. The Monitoring Officer will consider how the complaint or allegation should be 

dealt with.  

 

5.  Further Guidance  

 

5.1 Further advice or clarification can be sought from the Monitoring Officer 

 

 

  

Page 160

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 135 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

6E: Local Petition Scheme 

Petitions 

 

The council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in which people can let 

us know their concerns.  All petitions sent or presented to the council will receive an 

acknowledgement from the council within 10 working days of receipt. This acknowledgement will 

set out what we plan to do with the petition.  We will treat something as a petition if it is 

identified as being a petition, or if it seems to us that it is intended to be a petition. 

 

Paper petitions can be sent to: 

 

Democratic Services 

Council Offices 

Woodgreen 

Witney 

Oxfordshire 

OX28 1NB 

 

Petitions can also be created, signed and submitted online to 

democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk.   

 

Petitions can also be presented to a meeting of the council. These meetings take place throughout 

the year, dates and times can be found at www.westoxon.gov.uk.  If you would like to present 

your petition to the council, or would like your councillor or someone else to present it on your 

behalf, please contact Democratic Services on 01993 861522 at least 10 working days before the 

meeting and they will talk you through the process.   Only if your petition has received 800 

signatures or more will it be scheduled for a council debate. 

 

What are the guidelines for submitting a petition? 

 
Petitions submitted to the council must include: 

 

 a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition.  It should state what 

action the petitioners wish the council to take 

 

 the name, address and signature of any person supporting the petition 

 
Petitions should be accompanied by contact details, including an address, for the petition 

organiser.  This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to the petition. 

 

The contact details of the petition organiser will not be placed on the website.  If the petition does 

not identify a petition organiser, we will contact signatories to the petition to agree who should 

act as the petition organiser. 

 

Petitions which are considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate will not be 

accepted and the organiser will be informed of the reasons.   In the period immediately before an 

election or referendum we may need to deal with your petition differently – if this is the case we 

will explain the reasons and discuss the revised timescale which will apply. If a petition does not 

Page 161

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 136 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

follow the guidelines set out above, the council may decide not to do anything further with it.  In 

that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 

 

What will the council do when it receives my petition? 

 

An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 working days of receiving the 

petition, it will let them know what we plan to do with the petition and when they can expect to 

hear from us again.  It will also be published on our website. 

 

If we can do what your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm that we have taken 

the action requested and the petition will be closed.  If the petition has enough signatures to 

trigger a council debate, then the acknowledgment will confirm this and tell you when and where 

the meeting will take place.  If the petition needs more investigation, we will tell you the steps we 

plan to take. 

 

If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory petition (for example 

requesting a referendum on having an elected mayor), or is on a matter where there is already an 

existing right of appeal, such as council tax banding and non-domestic rates, other procedures 

apply. Further information on all these procedures and how you can express your views is 

available at www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the petitions we receive the details 

of all the petitions submitted to us will be published on our website.  Whenever possible we will 

also publish all correspondence relating to the petition (all personal details will be removed).   

 

How will the council respond to petitions? 

 

Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many people have 

signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 

 

 taking the action requested in the petition 

 

 considering the petition at a council meeting 

 

 holding an inquiry into the matter 

 

 undertaking research into the matter 

 

 holding a public meeting 

 

 holding a consultation 

 

 holding a meeting with petitioners 

 

 referring the petition for consideration to one of our Scrutiny Committees 

 

 calling a referendum 

 

 writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request in the petition 

Page 162

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 137 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

 

In addition to these steps, the council will consider all the specific actions it can potentially take on 

the issues highlighted in a petition.   

 

If your petition is about something over which the council has no direct control we will consider 

making representations on behalf of the community to the relevant body.  The council works with 

a large number of local partners and where possible will work with these partners to respond to 

your petition.  If we are not able to do this for any reason (for example if what the petition calls 

for conflicts with council policy), then we will set out the reasons for this to you.  You can find 

more information on the services for which the council is responsible at www.westoxon.gov.uk. 

 

If your petition is about something that a different council is responsible for we will give 

consideration to what the best method is for responding to it.  This might consist of simply 

forwarding the petition to the other council, but could involve other steps.  In any event we will 

always notify you of the action we have taken. 

 

Full Council debates 

 

If a petition contains more than 800 signatures it will be debated by the full council unless it is a 

petition asking for a senior council officer to give evidence at a public meeting.  This means that 

the issue raised in the petition will be discussed at a meeting  which all councillors can attend.  The 

council will endeavour to consider the petition at its next meeting, although on some occasions 

this may not be possible and consideration will then take place at the following meeting.   

 

The petition organiser will be given five minutes to present the petition at the meeting and the 

petition will then be discussed by councillors.  The council will decide how to respond to the 

petition at this meeting.  They may decide to take the action the petition requests, not to take the 

action requested for reasons put forward in the debate, or to commission further investigation 

into the matter, for example by a relevant committee.  Where the issue is one on which the 

council executive are required to make the final decision, the council will decide whether to make 
recommendations to inform that decision.  The petition organiser will receive written 

confirmation of this decision.  This confirmation will also be published on our website. 

 

Officer’s evidence 

 

Your petition may ask for a senior council officer to give evidence at a public meeting about 

something for which the officer is responsible as part of their job.  For example your petition may 

ask a senior council officer to explain progress on an issue, or to explain the advice given to 

elected members to enable them to make a particular decision. 

 

If your petition contains at least 400 signatures, the relevant senior officer will give evidence at 

one of the public meetings of the council’s Scrutiny Committees.  You should be aware that the 

Scrutiny Committee may decide that it would be more appropriate for another officer to give 

evidence instead of any officer to give evidence named in the petition- for instance if the named 

officer has changed jobs.  The committee may also decide to call the relevant councillor to attend 

the meeting.  Committee members will ask the questions at this meeting, but you will be able to 

suggest questions to the chair of the committee by contacting 

democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk up to three working days before the meeting. 

 

Page 163

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk


West Oxfordshire District Council Page 138 of 138 www.westoxon.gov.uk   

 

E-petitions 

 

E-petitions can be accessed and submitted via our website www.westoxon.gov.uk  

 

What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly? 

 

If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition organiser has the right 

to request that one of the Scrutiny Committees review the steps that the council has taken in 

response to your petition.  It is helpful to everyone, and can improve the prospects for a review if 

the petition organiser gives a short explanation of the reasons why the council’s response is not 

considered to be adequate. 

 

The committee will endeavour to consider your request at its next meeting, although on some 

occasions this may not be possible and consideration will take place at the following meeting. 

Should the committee determine we have not dealt with your petition adequately, it may use any 

of its powers to deal with the matter.  These powers include instigating an investigation, making 

recommendations to the council executive and arranging for the matter to be considered at a 

meeting of the full council. 

 

Once the appeal has been considered the petition organiser will be informed of the results within 

5 working days.  The results of the review will also be published on our website. 

 

 

Page 164

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


Page 1 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

            
 

 

 

 

 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

 

 

1.0 Introduction 

The Council has a duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members 

and co-opted members of the Council, and formally adopt a code of conduct, in 

accordance with the Localism Act 2011. 

 

2.0 Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Councillor, in modelling 

the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and 

to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is 

also to protect you, the public, fellow Councillors, local authority officers and the 

reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of 

all Councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct.  The 

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role 

of the Councillor and in Local Government. 

 

3.0 Definitions 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “Councillor” means a member or co-

opted member of the local authority. A “co-opted member” is defined in the 

Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of the authority 

but who 

3.1  is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 
3.2  is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or 

joint sub- committee of the authority; 

Page 165



Page 2 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of 
that committee or sub-committee”. 

 

4.0 General Principles of Councillor Conduct 

Everyone in public office and all who serve the public or deliver public services, 

including Councillors and local authority officers, should uphold the Seven Principles 

of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles, (see Appendix A). 

Building on these principles of selflessness, objectivity, accountability, openness, 

honesty and integrity and leadership, the following general principles have been 

developed specifically for the role of Councillor. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in Councillors, on all occasions a Councillor 

shall: 

 act with integrity and honesty 

 act lawfully 

 treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role 
of Councillor. 

 impartially exercise their responsibilities in the interests of the local 
community 

 not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person 

 avoid conflicts of interest 

 exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with the 
local authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 
These general principles have been incorporated into the obligations of the Code of 

Conduct as set out below. 

 

5.0 Application of the Code of Conduct 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance 

of the office of Councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and 

continues to apply to you until you cease to be a Councillor. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 

Councillor which may include when: 

• you misuse your position as a  Councillor 

• Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 

with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Councillor; 

 

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including at face-to-

face meetings, at online or telephone meetings, in written communication, in verbal 

communication, in non-verbal communication and in electronic and social media 

communication, posts, statements and comments. 

Page 166

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


Page 3 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the 

Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring 

Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish 

Councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters 

to the Monitoring Officer. 

 

6.0 Standards of Councillor Conduct 

 

This section sets out the obligations (in bold below), which are the minimum standards of 

conduct required of a Councillor. Should a Councillor’s conduct fall short of these 

standards, a complaint may be made against them, which may result in action being taken. 

Guidance is also included below each obligation to help explain the reasons for the 

obligations and how they should be followed. 

 

6.1 Respect 

A Councillor: 

6.1.1 Shall treat everyone, including other Councillors and members of the public 

with respect. 

 

6.1.2  Shall treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 

partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with 

respect and respect the role they play. 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. 

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a Councillor, 

you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and 

policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, 

groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 

 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. 

Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 

Councillors. 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from everyone. If members 

of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop 

any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the relevant 

social media provider and/or the police. This also applies to fellow councillors, where 

action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local 

authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 

authority’s councillor- officer protocol. 

 

6.2 Bullying, Harassment and Discrimination  

A Councillor: 

Page 167



Page 4 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

6.2.1 Shall not bully any person. 
 

6.2.2 Shall not harass any person. 

 

6.2.3 Shall promote equalities and not discriminate against any 

person. 

Bullying is offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or 
misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure 
the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off 
incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in emails or phone calls, happen 
in the workplace or at work social events and may not always be obvious or 
noticed by others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes 

alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on 

at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted 

communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to 

cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

Discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's 

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender 

reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 

religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

Legislation places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a central role 

to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance 

and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality 

across public services. 

 

6.3 Impartiality of Officers of the Council  

A Councillor: 

6.3.1 Shall not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the 

impartiality of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the 

local authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral, (other 

than political assistants where applicable). They should not be coerced or persuaded to 

act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. A Councillor may question officers 

in order to understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular 

way, or the content of a report that they have written. However, a Councillor must 

not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of 

that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional integrity. 

 

6.4  Confidentiality and access to information  

A Councillor: 

6.4.1 Shall not disclose information either given to them in confidence by anyone 

Page 168



Page 5 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

or acquired by them which they believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is 
of a confidential nature, unless 

i. They have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; or 

ii. They are required by law to do so; or 

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third 

party agrees not to disclose the information to any other 

person; or 

iv. the disclosure is reasonable and in the public interest; and 

also made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the local authority and 

consultation with the Monitoring Officer has taken place 

prior to its release. 

 

6.4.2 Shall not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of their 

role as a Councillor for the advancement of themselves, their friends, 

family members, employer or business interests. 

 

6.4.3 Shall not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled 

to by law. 

 

6.4.4 When making decisions on behalf of, or as part of, the Council shall have 

due regard to any professional advice provided by the Council’s Officers. 

 

 

6.5 Disrepute  

A 

Councillor: 

 

6.5.1 Shall not bring their role or local authority into disrepute. 

 

As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 

your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 

members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse 

impact on you, other Councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the 

public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/its 

functions.  

 

6.6 Use of position  

A Councillor: 

6.6.1 Shall not use, or attempt to use, their position improperly to the 

advantage or disadvantage of anyone. 

A Councillor should not take advantage of opportunities, responsibilities and 

privileges to further their own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage 

Page 169



Page 6 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

anyone unfairly. 

 

6.7 Local authority Resources and Facilities  

A Councillor: 

6.7.1 Shall not misuse council resources. 
 

6.7.2 Shall, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising their 

use by others, act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; 

and ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless 

that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be 

conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of 

the office to which they have been elected or appointed. 

A Councillor may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority 

to assist them in carrying out their duties as a Councillor. Examples may include 

office support, stationery, equipment such as phones, computers and transport 

and access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 

6.8 Compliance with the Code of Conduct  

A Councillor: 

6.8.1 Shall undertake Code of Conduct training as required by the local authority. 
 

6.8.2 Shall cooperate with any Code of Conduct assessment, investigation, hearing 

and/or determination. 

 

6.8.3 Shall not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is 

likely to be involved with the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings. 

 

6.8.4 Shall comply with any sanction imposed on them following a finding 

that they   have breached the Code of Conduct. 

It is extremely important for a Councillor to demonstrate high standards, to have 

your actions open to scrutiny and not to undermine public trust in the local authority 

or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local 

authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with the 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

7.0 Registering and Declaring Interests 

 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 

fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of 

interest. The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an 

issue arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness 

Page 170



Page 7 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

and a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding 

whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for 

you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also 

important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by 

you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 

making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public 

confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

 

7.1 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 

A Councillor must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, 
notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest as 
defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State (see Appendix B), where the 
pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the pecuniary 
interest of somebody with whom you are living with as a husband or wife, or as if 
you were civil partners. Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring 
Officer to establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the authority. 
 
You must disclose the interest at any meeting of the Council at which you are present, 

where you have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and where the 

matter is not a ‘sensitive interest’. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you must disclose the 

fact that you have an interest but do not have to disclose the nature of it. (A sensitive 

interest is an interest which, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, if disclosed, 

could lead to the Councillor, or a person connected with them, being subjected to 

violence or intimidation.) You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not 

you should disclose an interest in a meeting. 

 

Following any disclosure of an interest not on the Council’s register, or the 

subject of pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest within 28 days beginning with the date of disclosure.  

 

Unless dispensation has been granted, by the Monitoring Officer, you may not 

participate in any discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 

matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. You must withdraw from 

the room or chamber when the meeting discusses and votes on the matter. 

 

Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or 

being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive 

function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take 

any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 

deal with it . 

 

You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up to date and within 28 

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered 

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary 

interest as set out in Appendix B is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 

Page 171



Page 8 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

2011. 

 

 

7.2 Other Registerable Interests 

 

You must also register your other registerable interests with the Monitoring Officer 

within 28 days of taking office and ensure these are kept up to date by notifying any 

changes within 28 days. 

 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 

wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Appendix C), you 

must disclose the interest. Wellbeing can be described as a condition of contentedness, 

healthiness and happiness; anything that could be said to affect a person’s quality of life, 

either positively or negatively, is likely to affect their wellbeing. You may speak on the 

matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 

otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 

Where you have an Other Registerable Interest on a matter to be considered or is 
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or 
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

  
 

7.3 Non-Registerable Interests 

 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 

wellbeing (and does not fall under disclosable pecuniary interests at 7.1 above), or the 

financial interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the 

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed 

to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 

the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. If it is a sensitive interest you do not have to disclose the nature of the 

interest. 

 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects your own financial interest or wellbeing, 
a financial interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate or a financial interest or 
wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests as set out at 7.2 above 
and appendix C you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can 
remain in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied: 

 

Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being: 
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 
b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

Page 172



Page 9 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at 

the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter 

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 

‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 

Where you have a Non-Registerable Interest on a matter to be considered or is being 
considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you 
must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or 
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 

8.0 Gifts and Hospitality  

A Councillor: 

8.1 Shall not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which 

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion 

of influence to show favour from persons seeking to acquire, develop or do 

business with the local authority or from persons who may apply to the 

local authority for any permission, licence or other significant advantage. 

 

8.2 Shall register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality 

with an estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt. 

 

8.3 Shall register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or 

hospitality that they have been offered but have refused to 

accept. 

 

The presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality but 

there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 

which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered.  

You do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as 

a Councillor. 

It is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with your duties 

as a Councillor. 

Page 173



Page 10 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

 

The principles are: 

 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 

organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should 

not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 

themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and 

relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 

using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and 

must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. 

Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful 

reasons for so doing. 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 

poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 174



Page 11 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

Appendix B: Discloseable Pecuniary Interests 

 

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 

aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below. 

 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 

or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 

 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in 

the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

 

Subject 

 

 

Description 

 

 Employment, office, trade, profession 

or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 

vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the council) made to 
the councillor during the previous 12-month 
period for expenses incurred by him/her in 
carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or 
towards his/her election expenses. 

 

This includes any payment or financial benefit 

from a trade union within the meaning of the 

Trade Union and Labour Relations 

(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

 

Page 175

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


Page 12 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

 Contracts Any contract made between the councillor or 

his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 

whom the councillor is living as if they were 

spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which such 

person is a partner, or an incorporated body of 
which such person is a director* or a body that 

such person has a beneficial interest in the 

securities of*) and the council — 

(a) under which goods or services are to be 

provided or works are to be executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of the council. 
 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest 

or right in or over land which does not give the 

councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or 

the person with whom the councillor is living as if 

they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly 

with another) a right to occupy  or to receive 

income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy 
land in the area of the council for a month or 
longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or 
his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/ civil partners is a partner of or a 
director* of or has a beneficial interest in the 
securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body 
where— 
(a) that body (to the councillor’s knowledge) 

has a place of business or land in the area of 

the council; and 

(b) either— 

(i) ) the total nominal value of the 

securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital 

of that body; or 

(ii) if  the  share  capital  of  that  body  is  of 
more than one class, the  total  nominal value of the 

shares of any one class in  which the councillor, or 

his/ her spouse or civil partner or the person with 

whom the councillor is living as if they were 

spouses/civil partners have a beneficial interest 

exceeds one hundredth of the total issues share 

capital of that class.  

Page 176



Page 13 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

    

Page 177



Page 14 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

 

 

* ‘Director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an 

industrial and provident society. 

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 

Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 

building society. 

 

  

Page 178



Page 15 of 16 
SCS/Standards/Documents 

Approved by Standards Sub-Committee 

 
 
 

Annex B 

 

Appendix C: Disclosure of Other Registrable Interests 
 

You must register as an Other Registrable Interest: 

 

a) any unpaid directorships 

 

b) any Body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority 

 

c) any Body 
(i) exercising functions of a public nature 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes or 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 

or policy (including any political party or trade union) of which you are a 
member or in a position of general control or management 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
1 

 

 
 

 

WEST OXON DISTRICT COUNCIL:  

AUDIT & GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 

 

STANDARDS SUB COMMITTEE:  

LOCAL HEARING PANEL PROCEDURE RULES 

 

 

1.0 DEFINITIONS 

 

Complainant(s) The person/people making the complaint. 

Subject Councillor The Councillor, co-optee, or Town or Parish Councillor against 

whom an allegation has been made. 

Appointed 

representative 

The Subject Councillor may be represented or accompanied during 

the meeting by a Solicitor, Counsel or, with the permission of the 

Local Hearing Panel Members, another person. 

Standards 

Sub-Committee 

A Sub-Committee of the Audit and General Purposes Committee in 

accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Local Hearing Panel A meeting of a panel of three members of the Standards Sub-

Committee at which they consider whether the “Subject 

Councillor” has breached the Code of Conduct. IIn itself, a Sub-

Committee of the Audit and General Purposes Committee in 

accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Independent Person An Independent Person will be invited by the Monitoring Officer to 

attend a Local Hearing Panel as a Member of the Sub-Committee. 

Their views are sought and taken into consideration before the 

Local Hearing Panel takes any decision on whether the Subject 

Councillor’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code 

of Conduct, in accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 

2011, and as to any action to be taken following a finding of failure 

to comply with the Code of Conduct 

Investigating Officer The person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to undertake a 

formal investigation on behalf of the Monitoring Officer. This 

person may be another Officer of the Council, an Officer of 

another Council or an external third party investigator appointed 

Page 181



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
2 

for the purpose. 

Investigating Officer’s 

report 

The report of the Investigating Officer to the Monitoring Officer, 

setting out their findings and recommendations in respect of the 

allegation. 

Legal Advisor The Officer responsible for providing legal advice to the Local 

Hearing Panel. This may be the Monitoring Officer, another legally 

qualified Officer, or an external third party legal advisor appointed 

for the purpose. 

Chair The Chairperson of the Local Hearing Panel, elected by the Local 

Hearing Panel to chair a specific meeting. 

Code The Members’ Code of Conduct for the relevant Authority formally 

adopted by it at the relevant time. 

The Monitoring Officer The Officer designated as such by West Oxfordshire District 

Council in accordance with section 5 of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989. 

Exempt Information As defined in Section 100A and Schedule 12A to the Local 

Government Act 1972 

 

 

 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

Where the Monitoring Officer considers that it is in the public interest for a complaint to be 

considered by the Standards Sub-Committee, a further Sub-Committee will be convened as a 

Local Hearing Panel, to determine whether the Subject Councillor has failed to comply with 

the Code of Conduct. 

 

The Monitoring Officer will seek to convene the Local Hearing Panel within 25 working days of 

receipt of the final Investigator’s report or as soon as practicably possible thereafter. 

 

The Local Hearing Panel will comprise a minimum of three elected members of the Standards 

Sub-Committee plus an Independent Person. The Monitoring Officer will select the 

membership of each Local Hearing Panel. Whilst there is no legal requirement for the Sub-

Committee to be politically balanced, its composition will, where possible, take into account 

political, demographic and equality issues and be representative, where Members’ availability 

permits.  

 

3.0 PRE-HEARING PROCESS 

 

The Monitoring Officer will invite the Subject Councillor to give a response in writing to the 

Investigator’s report.  This is done to establish what is likely to be agreed and what is likely to 

be in dispute at the hearing. 

Page 182



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
3 

 

The Local Hearing Panel, taking account of the advice of the Monitoring Officer, may issue 

directions about the way in which the Local Hearing Panel will be conducted, for example 

agreeing the number and identity of witnesses. Such directions may be given either before or at 

the Local Hearing Panel, and may be decided at a pre-meeting or by correspondence involving 

all members of the Local Hearing Panel. 

 

Any pre-meeting to deal with pre-hearing process issues will be held in private without the 

Complainant or the Subject Councillor present. 

 

 

4.0 DOCUMENTATION 

 

Local Hearing Panel meetings are subject to the normal rules for publication of Council 

Agendas and Access to Information.  

 

The Agenda papers for the Local Hearing Panel will include: 

 Complaint form and documentation 

 Subject Councillor’s written response 

 Investigating Officer’s report 

 Monitoring Officer report 

 For reference: Code of Conduct, Standards Committee Local Hearing Panel Procedure 

Rules 

 

The Agenda and documents will be published under the Council’s rules for exempt 

information. Prior to the Local Hearing Panel, any documentation issued or exchanged during 

the process must be treated by all recipients as confidential unless and until the Local Hearing 

Panel resolves that the press and public should be excluded from the meeting at which the 

allegations are going to be heard. 

 

If the Local Hearing Panel agrees that the meeting should be held in public, the Investigating 

Officer’s report will be made available to the press and public in attendance at the meeting. 

The Chair may, at their discretion, allow a short adjournment of the meeting to enable them to 

read the report. 

 

5.0 LOCAL HEARING PANEL PROCEDURE 

 

5.1 The Local Hearing Panel will follow usual Committee procedures for apologies, 

selection of a Chair for that meeting and declarations of interests.  

 

5.2 The quorum for a Local Hearing Panel will be 2 elected Members from the Standards 

Sub-Committee. Substitute Members are allowed only from the membership of the 

Page 183



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
4 

Standards Sub-Committee. Members will only be able to sit on the Local Hearing Panel 

if they have undertaken standards training within the preceeding two years. 

 

5.3 The Local Hearing Panel will be assisted on matters of law and procedure by the Legal 

Advisor. The Local Hearing Panel may take legal advice, in private if necessary, from the 

Legal Advisor at any time during the hearing or while they are considering the 

outcome.  The substance of any legal advice given should be shared with the Subject 

Councillor and the Investigating Officer.   

 

  

5.4 The hearing will normally be held in public. However, the Local Hearing Panel will 

consider, having regard to any representations made by the Investigating Officer and / 

or by the Subject Councillor and advice from the Legal Advisor as to the public interest, 

whether to hear the matter, after the passing of a resolution to exclude the press and 

public from the meeting.  Any such resolution may only be passed on the grounds set 

out in Section 100A and Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.  

 

5.5 The Subject Councillor may be represented or accompanied by Counsel or a Solicitor 

or, with the permission of the Local Hearing Panel, any other person.  

 

5.6 Normal hearing rules will apply in terms of providing opportunities to question 

witnesses and test evidence, subject to the principles of natural justice and the Human 

Rights Act 1998. 

 

5.7 If the Subject Councillor (or their appointed representative) is not present, then the 

Local Hearing Panel will consider whether to proceed and hear the case and make a 

decision in absence, or whether to adjourn the hearing to another time or date. If the 

Subject Councillor has indicated that the hearing should continue in the absence of the 

Subject Councillor, this will normally happen. 

 

5.8 The Chair will introduce the Members of the Local Hearing Panel, the Independent 

Person, the Legal Advisor, the Investigating Officer, the Subject Councillor and any 

other persons present.  

 

5.9 The Legal Advisor will give a brief outline of the allegation before the Local Hearing 

Panel, namely that the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, 

and outline the procedure to be followed and confirm that those present understand it. 

 

5.10 The Investigating Officer will present the report into the allegation against the Subject 

Councillor including any findings of fact and make representations to substantiate the 

conclusion that the Subject Councillor has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 

5.11 The Subject Councillor (or their representative) may question the Investigating Officer. 

Page 184



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
5 

 

5.12 The Local Hearing Panel Members may question the Investigating Officer. 

 

5.13 The Investigating Officer may call such witnesses as necessary (which may or may not 

include the Complainant). 

 

5.14  The Subject Councillor (or their appointed representative) may question any witnesses 

called by the Investigating Officer. 

 

5.15 The Local Hearing Panel Members may question any witnesses called by the 

Investigating Officer. 

 

5.16 The Investigaing Officer may ask further questions of any witnesses in order to clarify 

any point brought out in questioning of the witness by the Subject Councillor or the 

Local Hearing Panel. 

 

5.17 The Subject Councillor (or their appointed representative) will present the case in 

relation to the Investigating Officer's findings and make representations about why The 

Subject Councillor considers that they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

If the Subject Councillor admits that they breached the Code of Conduct the Local 

Hearing Panel may move to paragraph 5.32 below.  

 

5.18 The Investigating Officer may question the Subject Councillor. 

 

5.19 The Local Hearing Panel may question the Subject Councillor. 

 

5.20 The Subject Councillor may call any witnesses. 

 

5.21 The Investigating Officer may question any witness called by the Subject Councillor. 

 

5.22 The Local Hearing Panel may question any witness called by the Subject Councillor. 

 

5.23 The Subject Councillor may ask further questions of any witness in order to clarify any 

point brought out in questioning of the witness by the Investigating Officer or the Local 

Hearing Panel. 

 

5.24 The Independent Person may ask questions of the Investigating Officer, the Subject 

Councillor and any witness called by either of them, after such persons have been 

questioned by the Local Hearing Panel. 

 

5.25 The Investigating Officer will sum up the case in relation to the findings in their report. 

 

Page 185



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
6 

5.26 The Subject Councillor (or their appointed representative) will sum up the case in 

relation to the findings in the Investigating Officer’s report of whether there has been a 

breach of the Code. 

 

5.27 The Independent Person will give views to the Local Hearing Panel and these will be 

recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. 

 

5.28 The Local Hearing Panel will then retire with the Legal Advisor. If the hearing has been 

in public the Committee will need to pass a resolution under Section 100A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting.  The Panel must take 

into account the views of the Independent Person before reaching a decision. Decisions 

will be determined by a simple majority of those Members present and voting. Where 

there are equal numbers of votes for and against the Chair will have a second casting 

vote and there is no restriction on how the Chairman chooses to exercise a casting 

vote. 

 

5.29 The Local Hearing Panel will announce their decision as to whether there has been a 

breach of the Code in the presence of all parties, and this will normally be after passing 

a resolution that the public should no longer be excluded from the meeting. The Local 

Hearing Panel will provide reasons for their decision and will explain any reasons why 

any advice from the Independent Person has or has not been followed in giving its 

decision. 

 

5.30 If the Local Hearing Panel decide that the Subject Councillor has not breached the 

Code, the Local Hearing Panel will dismiss the complaint and take no further action. 

However, they may still make general recommendations to the Council, its Standards 

Sub-Committee or the Monitoring Officer or Town or Parish Council on any remedial 

actions if it considers necessary to address the issues raised. 

 

5.31 If the Local Hearing Panel decide that the Subject Member has breached the Code then 

the following paragraphs will apply. 

 

5.32     The Local Hearing Panel may request, or allow, the Complainant, whether or not called 

as a witness, to make a statement in relation to the effect on the Complainant of any 

conduct of the Subject Councillor which is the subject of the breach. Such a statement 

may be made in person to the Local Hearing Panel or may be submitted in writing, but 

if submitted in writing, will be shown to both the Investigating Officer, the Subject 

Councillor and the Independent Person. A Complainant who makes such a statement 

may be questioned by the Local Hearing Panel, but may not be questioned in relation to 

the statement by the Investigating Officer or the Subject Councillor without the 

consent of the Local Hearing Panel.     

 

Page 186



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
7 

5.33    The Investigating Officer may make representations as to whether the Local Hearing 

Panel should impose a sanction and what form any sanction should take. 

 

5.34 The Local Hearing Panel may question the Investigating Officer in relation to any such 

representations. 

 

5.35 The Subject Councillor (or their appointed representative) may make representations 

as to whether the Local Hearing Panel should impose a sanction and what form any 

sanction should take and may make representations as to mitigation. 

 

5.36 The Local Hearing Panel may question the Subject Councillor in relation to any such 

representations. 

 

5.37 The Legal Advisor will then raise any points that need to be addressed before the 

matter is determined. 

 

5.38 The Independent Person will then give their views on the appropriate sanction, if any, 

to be imposed and their views will be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. 

 

5.39 The Local Hearing Panel will then retire with the Legal Advisor. If the hearing has been 

in public the Committee will need to pass a resolution under Section 100A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting. 

 

5.40 The Local Hearing Panel will come to a decision as to sanctions. Any sanction imposed 

must be reasonable and proportionate to the breach found and the Legal Advisor may 

advise the Committee in this regard. The Local Hearing Panel has no power to suspend 

or disqualify the member or to withdraw or suspend allowances. The Local Hearing 

Panel may:  

 Censure or reprimand the Subject Councillor; 

 Recommend to the Subject Councillor’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 

members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed from any 

or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council; 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the Subject Councillor be removed from 

the Cabinet or removed from particular Cabinet Portfolio responsibilities; 

 Recommend to Council that the Subject Councillor be replaced as Executive Leader of 

the Council; 

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to, or recommend that a Town or Parish Council, 

arrange training for the Subject Councllor; 

 Publish its findings in respect of the Subject Councillor’s conduct; 

 Report its findings to Council, or to a Town or Parish Council, for information. 

 

5.41 The Local Hearing Panel will announce its decision in the presence of all parties, and 

this will normally be after passing a resolution that the public should no longer be 

Page 187



SCS/Standards/Documents/Standards Procedure Rules 

Approved by Standards Sub Committee 23 March 22 
8 

excluded from the meeting. The Local Hearing Panel will give reasons for its decision 

and will explain the reasons why any advice from the Independent Person has or has 

not been followed in giving its decision. 

 

5.42 The Monitoring Officer will, within 10 working days of the Local Hearing Panel prepare 

a formal Decision Notice, in consultation with the Chair of the Local Hearing Panel, and 

send a copy to the Complainant, to the Investigating Officer and to the Subject 

Councillor (and to the Town or Parish Council if appropriate).  The Decision Notice 

will be published as part of the Minutes of the Local Hearing Panel meeting and will be 

placed on the Council’s website unless the Monitoring Officer determines that it should 

remain confidential.  

 

5.43 The findings and recommendations of the Local Hearing Panel are final and there is no 

right of appeal against the decision of the Local Hearing Panel. 

 

5.44 The Chair of the Local Hearing Panel has the right to depart from this procedure, in 

consultation with the Monitoring Officer, or Legal Advisor, at any hearing where it is 

considered it is sensible to do so, to deal with the case fairly, effectively and in the 

public interest, provided that the principles of natural justice are upheld. 

 
 

Page 188



 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date Council: Wednesday, 27th April 2022 

Report Number Agenda Item No. 9 

Subject Emergency / Urgency Delegations Decisions 

Wards affected All 

Accountable 

member 

Councillor Michele Mead, Leader;  

Email: Michele.mead@westoxon.gov.uk 

Accountable officer Giles Hughes, Chief Executive 

Email: giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk 

Summary/Purpose To note decisions taken under the emergency and urgency delegation 

arrangements approved by Council on 13 May 2020. 

Appendices None  

Recommendations That the report be noted. 

Corporate priorities  Delivering excellent modern services whilst ensuring the financial 

sustainability of the Council 

Facilitating healthy lifestyles and better wellbeing for everyone 

Key Decision 1.1. N/A 

Exempt 1.2. No  

Consultees/ 

Consultation 
1.3. Leader 

 

 

  

Page 189

Agenda Item 9



 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1. At its meeting on 13 May 2020, the Council approved Emergency and Urgency delegations to 

the Chief Executive to enable decisions to be taken which were either an emergency, or 

where there was urgency such that the matter could not reasonably await the next meeting 

of whichever body would otherwise take that decision. 

1.2. The report on the matter included the statement that: “Any decision under the above 
provisions shall be recorded and published, and reported to Council, Cabinet or the 
appropriate Committee or Sub-Committee, such report to include the reasons that the 
powers needed to be used”. 

2. £150 COUNCIL TAX REBATE AND HOMES FOR UKRAINE HOSTING ALLOWANCE 

2.1. The Chief Executive used his delegated powers on 22nd March 2022 to approve the following 

changes to the Council’s Section 13A Policy. 

That the:  

a)  £150 Council Tax Rebate be fully disregarded from the assessment of Council Tax 
Support;  

b) monthly allowance for Hosting Ukrainian Refugees be fully disregarded; and 

c) The 2022/2023 Council Tax Support scheme be amended to reflect this additional 
disregard 

2.2. The Council implemented a local Council Tax Support Scheme on 1 April 2013. 

2.3. Each year the Council has to decide whether to make changes to its Council Tax Support 

scheme (CTS) for working age customers. The current scheme was adopted in 2020/2021, 

which was supported by Citizens Advice, west Oxfordshire and delivered an increase in 

support to the most vulnerable residents within the District. 

2.4. On 23 February 2022, the Council approved that the CTS scheme would remain unchanged 

for 2022/2023 in order for it to continue to support the Council’s key priority to facilitate 

healthy lifestyles and better wellbeing for its residents. The only changes required to the 

scheme were the annual uplift of allowances (which provides an increase in financial support) 

and non-dependent deductions. 

2.5. Since then the Government has published its guidance to local Authorities on the delivery of 

the Council Tax Rebate scheme, which would see those households in council tax bands A 

to D and those more vulnerable residents in council tax bands E to H receive a payment of 

up to £150.00 per household. 

2.6. In its response to the refugee crisis caused by the Russian war on Ukraine, the Government 

has also decided to give a monthly allowance of £350.00 to households who come forward 

and host a Ukrainian refugee for at least 6 months rent free.  

2.7. The Council’s CTS scheme is based on income bands with certain disregards on some 

income, such as child maintenance payments and disability payments.  This means that these 

payments are totally disregarded when assessing a household’s income. 

2.8. Other income not already allocated within the ‘disregarded group’ in the CTS scheme would 

qualify as ‘income’ and be considered when calculating a person’s income assessment. 

Page 190



2.9. The £150 Council Tax Rebate is currently not disregarded. However for other statutory 

benefit schemes; such as Housing Benefit, it will be treated as a local welfare provision and 

disregarded in full within any calculation.  The Department for Work and Pensions will 

legislate to ensure payments are also fully disregarded within the calculation of Universal 

Credit. 

2.10. A one off payment of £150.00 could result in households moving into a higher income band 

and therefore being charged a higher level of Council Tax for a one-month period. 

2.11. The intention of this additional financial support is to assist households with their energy bills 

and not penalise them through a reduction of benefits and/or support, such as CTS. 

2.12. The Government is implementing a scheme to award a monthly payment to households who 

host a Ukrainian refugee; and if that household is in receipt of CTS, the current CTS scheme 

would not allow this award to be disregarded. 

2.13. The additional payment would significantly increase a household’s income, which would 

result in a higher income band for the assessment of CTS; and in some cases move the 

household off CTS altogether.  

2.14. The intention of this additional financial support will be to host Ukrainians; to support the 

refugee crisis and by way of a ‘thank-you’ for doing so from Government. 

2.15. Therefore, a slight amendment was required to the Council’s 2022/2023 CTS scheme to 

ensure that both payments are fully disregarded in the assessment of CTS claims. 

3. REASONS FOR USE OF URGENCY POWERS 

3.1. Use of urgency powers enabled these decisions to be made ahead of the 2022/23 financial 

year allowing the Council to deliver these Government initiatives in a smooth and efficient 

manner, and ensure that West Oxfordshire residents are not disadvantaged.    

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. There will be no financial impact on the collection fund; this is a cost neutral process. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished Council Tax Benefit and instead required each 

authority to design a scheme specifying the reductions, which are to apply to amounts of 

Council Tax.  

5.2. This is a small change to the Council’s CTS scheme that will not negatively affect its 

collection fund or its residents.  There is no requirement for consultation. 

6. ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 

6.1. None, as the report is for noting. 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

7.1. None 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Held in the Committee Room 1, Woodgreen, Witney at 2.00 pm on Thursday, 3 February 

2022 

PRESENT 

Councillors:  Alaa Al-Yousuf (Chairman),  Andrew Coles (Vice-Chair),  Mike Cahill, Maxine 

Crossland, Rupert Dent, Duncan Enright, Ted Fenton, Andy Goodwin, Liz Leffman, Alex 

Postan, Carl Rylett and Harry St John 

Officers:  Philip Measures (Service Leader), Bill Oddy (Group Manager - Commercial 

Development) and Frank Wilson (Group Finance Director - Publica) Michelle Ouzman 

(Secretary), and Amy Bridgewater-Carnall (Democratic Services Manager). 

35 Minutes of Previous meeting  

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 December 2021 were approved and signed by the 

Chairman as a correct record, with the following amendment to the wording on page one of 

the minutes under item 31, paragraph five, last sentence insert the word waste: “ .. As for the 

recycle bins, these were not being issued anymore as they were not properly used, and were 

mixed waste contaminated.  

36 Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Harry Eaglestone. 

Councillor Maxine Crossland substituted for Councillor McBride, and Councillor Duncan 

Enright substituted for Councillor Owen Collins. 

37 Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest received. 

38 Participation of the Public  

The following members of the public had registered to attend the meeting and address 

Members on Item 5. WP1 and WP2 – Review Witney Flood Investigation Report: 

 

 Mr Tony Stark – Witney resident 

 Mr William Wareing – Witney Flood Mitigation Group 

 Councillor Andrew Prosser – Ward Councillor by discretion of the Chair 

 

Mr Stark addressed the Committee and a copy of his speech is attached to the original copy of 

these minutes. Mr Stark concluded that he was encouraged by the report and he wanted to 

work collaboratively with whomever took ownership to progress the recommendations.  

Mr William Wareing addressed the Committee on behalf of the Witney Flood Mitigation 

Group and a copy of Mr Wareing’s submission is attached to the original copy of these 

minutes. 

Mr Wareing concluded that he looked forward to continued collaboration and expected to 

see substantial coordination amongst the groups involved, and he reminded Members that 

flood risk management and the delivery of appropriate mitigation action was in the Council’s 

ability. 

 

Page 193

Agenda Item 10



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

03/February2022 

Councillor Andrew Prosser addressed Members under the Committee Work Programme as 

agreed by the Chairman’s discretion. 

 

39 Committee Work Programme 2020/2021  

The Chairman announced that he was going to bring forward the Work Programme 3 item 

(WP3), Presentation from Ubico, so that the guest presenters could have the opportunity to 

leave the meeting before the review of the Witney Flood Investigation Report, as this was 

likely to be a lengthy item. He explained that he would then return to Item 4  Participation of 

the Public and the Flood Report. 

 

WP3 – Ubico 22/23 Business Plan. 

 

The Chairman introduced Mr Chris Urwin, Ubico’s Finance Director and Rob Heath,  Ubico’s 

Operations Director. 

Mr Urwin and Mr Heath addressed the Committee and shared a presentation on Ubico’s 

Business Plan for 2022/2023.  The presentation focussed on the business Plan timeline and 

their five year vision. 

The Chairman thanked both presenters and invited Councillors to comment or ask questions, 

remembering to focus on the Ubico Business Plan and not local issues. 

Councillor Postan asked if Ubico took Gloucester City on board, what compensation West 

Oxfordshire would gain. 

Mr Urwin explained that the Council had been consulted about Gloucester City joining Ubico, 

all parties would have an equal share and felt it would give a business benefit by strengthening 

the depth of the contract with the geography being more progressive. The Group Manager – 

Commercial Development, Bill Oddy clarified that the Ubico contract had started in 2012 with 
only Cotswold and Cheltenham District Council’s being members, followed by West 

Oxfordshire. Each Council is costed separately. The data journey with collaborating, means no 

risk to one Council, but all Councils see the benefits. Councillor Postan suggested that a 

mechanical engineer on board would be a good asset on deciding the specification of vehicles 

to be used. Mr Heath confirmed that they had a Fleet Engineer who was an expert in this field.  

Councillor Dent asked if there were any figures that determined the value of the contract. Mr 

Heath stated that 7million was a snapshot in time, with the most costly items being vehicles 

and staff. Mr Oddy clarified that this was the biggest contract the Council had and covered: 

 Waste and recycling 

 Grounds maintenance 

 Street cleansing 

 

Mr Oddy also confirmed that the breakdown in figures were now in the Council Budget and 

could be shared with the Councillors. 

The Chairman asked why the contract had increased by so much. 

Following a question from the Chairman, Mr Urwin explained that the costs had increased so 

much despite them trying to contain costs as much as possible and staff costs had seen a 

significant rise. He advised that Ubico linked their people costs to the governments pay 

Page 194



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

03/February2022 

structure, which was still being worked through at the moment, with at least a 1.8% increase 

plus a plan for a further 2% increase but it could potentially be more. Mr Unwin advised that 

driver retention was a priority, with Ubico utilising a pay increase, plus soft local staff benefits, 

as a way to retain drivers. It was noted that driver shortage was a national issue, as well as the 

increased in fuel costs. Mr Oddy also explained that supply chain issues were a global problem.  

Following a question from Councillor Fenton relating to a branding review, Mr Urwin 

explained that this was about simplifying the branding so that residents from all the Council 

partners could recognise vehicles.  The website was also being looked at with a view to 

simplifying the user experience.  

Councillor Postan suggested adding personalisation to the trucks. Mr Urwin thought this could 

be good idea, would enhance community spirit and agreed to take the idea away and 

investigate further. 

Councillor Goodwin advised that he would like to see figures, measures and outcomes for the 

end customers as well as the management of the land taking climate change into account, a 

reduction of waste and a focus on outcomes. 

In response, Mr Urwin explained that there were contractual KPI’s in place, and Ubico were 

embarking on the climate action journey. The ‘In-cab’ technology would help inform on 

outcomes.  

Councillor Coles asked if Ubico had gathered customer thoughts and asked if they made the 

effort to engage with residents. Mr Urwin explained that they needed to be careful not to 

encroach on the Councils Communications Customer Service Teams, as Ubico were in 

partnership with the Council.  

Mr Oddy explained that the Councils depot transferred to Ubico but the customer interface 

and engagement remained with the Council. He advised that the Council worked closely with 

Ubico, working together to resolve issues such as a missed collection. In addition, the Council 

was embarking on a trade and green waste review. 

Councillor Crossland remarked that as she was the Councils Age Champion she thought that 

a large part of the local population were missing out if they were unable to use the current 

technology of services on line. Mr Oddy assured Councillor Crossland that the telephone 

contact line remained open for all queries and services. 

The Chairman thanked Mr Urwin and Mr Heath for attending and answering the Committees 

questions. He also took the opportunity to thank Ubico for the 99% plus bin collection rate, 

especially during the challenging past two years, through lockdowns. 

The Committee noted the presentation. 

 

WP1 and WP2 – Review Witney Flood Investigation Report 

 

The Chairman confirmed that the report had been circulated and asked Mr Laurence the 

Shared Principle Engineer, to introduce it. 

Mr Laurence felt that the report contained positive actions and comments and confirmed that 

within the next two weeks the first multi-agency meeting for more than two years was due to 

take place. The Multi-Agency group would include Thames Water, the District Council, 

Oxfordshire County Council and the Environment Agency. This would be the first meeting of 

many meetings aimed at resolving issues and working in partnership to seek funding to enable 

future works and maintenance.  

Page 195



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

03/February2022 

The Chairman confirmed that the report centred on the Witney Floods and did not cover the 

whole District. 

Councillor Enright commented on the emergency response on the night of the floods and 

hoped the report would address the response issues highlighted.  He applauded the huge 

response from local residents on the night, and the blue light services. He wanted to know 

what role the Council and the Witney Flood Mitigation Group (WFMG) could take in the 

future to help make the recommendations happen. He also asked if Planners and Developers 

would be talking to Thames Water before planning applications were submitted.  

The Chairman referred to paragraph 5.7 of the report regarding the Council’s role, and asked 

Frank Wilson the Group Finance Director (Publica) to comment regarding planning. 

Mr Wilson confirmed that the Planning Department always took note of flood plains and 

sought Thames Water advice when necessary.  

Amy Bridgewater-Carnall the Democratic Services Manager advised that the Planners also use 

the Sustainability Checklist, and that new developers are also encouraged to use this tool.  

Mr King confirmed that the Council’s Emergency Plan and Emergency Response Plan were also 

being reviewed. 

The Chairman invited Councillor Prosser the Ward Councillor for North Witney to address 

the meeting 

Councillor Prosser welcomed the report, queried who was responsible for following up on 

the action plan and asked if the Emergency Plan was created by the Council with the Town 

Council’s input. In addition, he welcomed more planning of housing but only if they were not 

in a flood risk area. Councillor Prosser went on to query why there were no timings against 

the actions and highlighted that the Environment Agency needed to update their modelling to 

enable residents and the town council to be more prepared. 

The Chairman thanked Councillor Prosser for his comments. 

Councillor Coles commented that since 2013 there had been no risk modelling completed, 

and queried the funding mentioned on page 3 of the report.  He asked if the level of silt was 

part of the problem, as he believed that regular de silt work could be completed to stop this. 

Councillor Coles went on to advise that annual maintenance had been completed at Emma’s 

Dyke and, having visited the area, the maintenance has not been completed. He was frustrated 

that there was no mention in the report that residents had been unable to get through on the 

24 hour line. He noted that once he had got through to a senior member of staff, sand bags 

had been delivered immediately but unfortunately this was too late for some residents.. In 

conclusion, Councillor Coles queried the Outsourcing decision of the service and asked when 

this decision had been taken. 

Councillor Postan thought that the report should be renamed Part 1 as there were two water 

courses. Whilst he noted that Mr King had been helpful, and he thought the report was 

excellent, there was no mention of the Shill Brook flooding that took place at the same time. 

Councillor Postan advised that in his ward people were prepared to contribute to help get 

these actions done. He felt that that had been administration of our water courses, and 

requested a part 2 of the report. Frank Wilson confirmed this this report was the most urgent 

and other reports would be produced, within the next few months. Councillor Leffman 

enquired if the Multi- Agency meeting would be discussing the River Windrush and the 

problems experienced in 2007 at Bourton-on-the-Water when flooding came down to 

Witney. Mr Laurence confirmed that all parties were already in dialogue about the effects of 

the Cotswolds on Witney. But he noted that the Council could not tell the Environmental 

Agency or Thames Water how to do their modelling. Mr King advised that the EA was 

Page 196



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

03/February2022 

producing new modelling for Witney and could include questions relating to whether  the 

bridge was big enough for its current use.  

Councillor Fenton asked why OCC/LLFA were noted in the table for action, queried the 

specific flood responsibility, and asked if the de-silting was going to happen. 

Mr King informed the Committee that at the Multi-Agency meeting, comments and views from 

everyone should clarify the effects of de-silting, actions would be looked at however 

timescales would not be decided upon. 

Councillor Fenton queried the existence of an engineering solution to stop the silt build up. 

Councillor Postan reminded the Committee that Riparian owners had responsibility and a duty 

to maintain the banks and could be open to being taken to court if they did not do this. He 

queried if leaflets could be produced to advise on Riparian responsibilities.. 

Councillor StJohn asked who was going to take ownership of actions with the review of the 

early warning system being one of these actions.   He also queried which fields were not acting 

as a flood plain and could these fields be referenced. 

Mr King commented that following analysis on the effect of the alarm system, it was agreed 

that a dedicated person to answer the phone was required. 

Councillor Dent asked if the EA could clarify if updated information or data of assets could be 

done at a moment’s notice, and the timeframe of delivery of report actions. 

The Chairman asked Mr Laurence if the Committee could be updated of the progress and 

thanked the Witney Flood Mitigation Group for their contribution. 

 

The Chairman then called for a 10 minute comfort break at 15:52 and the meeting resumed at 

16:02. 

 

WP4 Service Performance Report 2021 Q2 

 

Mr Bill Oddy the Group Manager - Commercial Development attended the Committee and 

said he was happy to receive questions from Councillors. He explained that the report was for 

period July – September of 2021, and that it was hoped in future that data collection would be 

quicker so that reports could be produced to reflect quarters just gone. He went on to 

explain that there was a point in time when all three of the narrow collection vehicles were 

out of service, resulting in missed collections. This was due to a supply issue of spare parts 

which were affecting global users at the time. 

Councillor Dent hoped that lessons had been learned and that Ubico carried a stock of spares 

now. Mr Oddy was able to confirm that their Business continuity Plans were being reviewed. 

Mr Oddy explained that the Council was actively trying to improve the abandoned call rate 

and calls not answered within 20 seconds. The call handlers were asking residents if they had 

tried to use the internet pages to resolve their query. Most calls could be resolved on line, 

leaving more time and quick call pickup for those residents that had an unusual requirement, 

or those residents that unable to use the on line services.  

Councillor Enright referred to Page 98 of the report relating to Parking, the number of 

enforcements and the massive reduction during 2020/2021, Mr Oddy concurred that this was 

a typical Covid related statistic. 

Page 197



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

03/February2022 

Councillor Goodwin stated his thanks to the staff and enquired if there was a delay on getting 

replacement bins. 

Mr Oddy was able to confirm that there had been a delay, however, this had been reduced to 

three weeks, with two staff working on replacement bins, and if staff had to isolate, these staff 

were drafted in to cover the refuse collection service.  At present there were around 900 

replacement requests per month with the number at Cotswold District Council being about 

the same. 

Councillor Postan asked if a compact crusher could be used to compact the waste. Mr Oddy 

replied that they were encouraging re-use rather than throwing away. 

The Chairman thanked Mr Oddy for his input and thanked the staff for their continued good 

work. 

 

WP5 Air Quality Update. 

The Chairman introduced Philip Measures, the Councils Service Leader for Environmental 

Regulatory Services. 

Mr Measures gave a brief presentation on the current Air Quality Management Areas. Two 

areas had been monitored at the A44 at Chipping Norton and Bridge Street Witney and the 

current position was that WODC were failing the Annual Average Objective for Nitrogen, but 

were not failing on the hourly measurement. An action Plan in Chipping Norton required a full 

review With the Witney Action Plan still in draft. Mr Measures noted that resources were 

required to get these plans up to date and funding had been agreed to engage a consultant to 

review both plans. 

The Chairman enquired what data was being measured and Mr Measures confirmed that data 

continued to be collected each month, with Defra displaying the latest data on their website. 

Following the presentation, Councillors had a discussion with Mr Measures about the 
equipment used to measure the air quality and the effects of the weather. Mr Measures 

concluded that the money requested was £25k which would be used on soft testing, modelling 

against existing data, but mostly on the consultancy to review and compose the Air Quality 

Plan.  

The Chairman thanked Mr Measures for his input and it was agreed that he would return in 

six months with an update. 

The Chairman then updated the Committee on the Climate Action Working Group (CAWG) 

and advised that the meeting held that morning was the last meeting of the Group. The initial 

meetings had revolved around setting up the Team and a brief of the work needed to be done, 

but lately this had morphed into briefings on what had been achieved since the last time the 

group had met. Now the Team had established itself, it was thought that the Climate Change 

Manager, Vanessa Scott could attend the Committee and give an update from now on. Most 

Councillors were sad to see the CAWG not continuing and asked if the decision had already 

been made. The Chairman confirmed that as there was only one more Committee sitting 

before the May elections, it was wise to raise the topic again after the elections. In the 

meantime, Vanessa Scott would be invited to the next Committee meeting. All Councillors 

agreed that a lot had been achieved since the group had been formed and wanted it noted that 

they were pleased with the current results of the Team and the future plans. Councillor Coles 

concurred and didn’t want the pressure to fall on Climate Action, but reminded the 

Committee that they still had a Cabinet member, who’s responsibility was Climate Action. 

Page 198



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

03/February2022 

It was agreed to circulate the CAWG latest update documentation to all Committee 

members. 

40 Local Plan Annual Monitoring Report 2020-2021  

Resolved that the Local Plan annual Monitoring Report 2020 - 2021 be noted. 

41 Cabinet Work Programme  

Resolved that the Cabinet Work Programme be noted. 

42 Members' Questions  

Councillor Coles announced the sad passing of former District Councillor Eve Coles and who 

had been a member of this Committee.  

The Chairman wanted to pass on the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

sincere condolences.  

 

The Meeting closed at 5.08 pm 

 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Finance and Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Held in the Council Chamber at 2.00 pm on Wednesday, 9 February 2022 

PRESENT 

Councillors: Derek Cotterill (Chairman), Geoff Saul (Vice-Chair), Joy Aitman, Alaa Al-Yousuf, 

Julian Cooper, Rupert Dent, Harry Eaglestone, Gill Hill, Mathew Parkinson, Elizabeth Poskitt, 

Alex Postan and Andrew Prosser. 

Officers:  Jon Dearlng (Group Manager - Resident Services) and Elizabeth Griffiths (Chief 

Finance Officer, Deputy Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer) 

31 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 December 2021were approved and signed by the 

Chairman as a correct record. 

32 Apologies for Absence  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Steve Good. 

Councillor Elizabeth Poskitt substituted for Councillor Dan Levy. 

33 Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest received. 

34 Participation of the Public  

There was none. 

35 Cabinet report - Draft 2022/23 Budget  

The Committee received the Cabinet report dated 19 January 2022 which had asked Members 

to consider the initial draft base budgets for 2022/23, fees and charges for 2022/23, adoption 

of the Council Tax base and the submission of the business rates return. 

 
The Finance and Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee were asked to consider the 

Cabinet report, along with an update from the Chief Finance Officer and decided on any 

comments to be passed to Cabinet, prior to consideration of the final report in February. 

 

The Chief Finance Officer introduced the report and provided Members with a number of 

updates including Treasury Income and additional growth items. 

 

The Chairman referred to paragraph 1.4 of the report which related to the annual budget 

consultation and commented on the amount of written text received at the end of the 

submissions.  He felt this was interesting feedback and highlighted that the public were not 

always clear on the role of the District Council. 

 

Officers provided clarification on the requests for growth and discussed the Future 

Oxfordshire Partnership costs.  The Chief Finance Officer explained that additional years’ 

funding was required to enable the administrative support needed to deliver projects. 

 

In addition, further details were provided about the Air Quality work referred to in 

paragraphs 2.4 and 3.13.  The funding for this was required on a rolling basis to produce plans, 

which was being outsourced due to a lack of capacity with the ERS department. 

Page 201



Finance and Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

09/February2022 

 

Councillor Al-Yousuf advised that this topic had been scrutinised by the Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee who had received a presentation at their last meeting from 

officers.  He also referred to the joint report with the County Council and explained that this 

work was currently in a draft form. 

 

Councillor Prosser agreed that the plan needed to be followed up and a decision made as to 

what would happen next.  Members noted that monitoring had been taking place over a 

number of years and discussed the potential measures to reduce air pollution. 

 

Councillor Cooper expressed his disappointment that this was the only scrutiny committee 

considering the budget which he felt demonstrated a lack of process.  He asked that the 

Management Team and Cabinet consider the process in the future.  He had a concern that the 

first time some Members would see the budget report would be at the Council meeting. 

 

The Chief Finance Officer explained that many budget requests had been received along with 

requests for funding from officers.  Members were reminded that the Cabinet reports were 

available to all Members, along with the opportunity to attend Cabinet and/or approach 

officers directly to ask questions.   It was confirmed that a number of Councillors had 

submitted questions to the finance team and had been responded to directly. 

With regards to the Air Quality concerns, officers advised that this was the role of the 

Environment Scrutiny Committee to consider and amend their work plan accordingly, should 

they wish to do so. 

 

Councillor Saul asked for clarification on the Medium Term outlook and whether the Local 
Government Association were pushing for a three or five year settlement.  He noted that 

every year Councils were warned of a financial ‘cliff edge’ and he recognised the difficulty for 

officers to make strong commitments. Councillor Saul felt that in order to serve residents 

better, a greater period of certainty was required. 

 

Officers agreed that this was massively frustrating and explained the impact of this on the rates 

re-set, the phasing out of the New Homes Bonus and the magnitude of the swings in the 

finance being provided by Central Government. 

 

In response to a number of comments made relating to more visibility and information in the 

report, Members were reminded that the papers were extensive but could not cover every 

aspect in detail.  It was noted that the Built Facilities Strategy would be coming forwards, 

enabling the Council to unlock more S106 contributions. 

 

Further discussions were had relating to the economic state of leisure facilities and in 

particular the ability for GLL to pay their management fees.  Members noted that this was a 

sector that had been hit hard during the pandemic and revenue had not been generated. 

 

The Levelling Up agenda was debated and officers confirmed that webinars were due to take 

place in due course.   

 

Councillor Cooper proposed moving an amendment to the budget to include £250,000 

funding in the Capital Programme to install solar panels on all Council owned buildings.  This 

was seconded by Councillor Poskitt. 

 

Page 202



Finance and Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

09/February2022 

The Chief Finance Officer reiterated her comments that funding for energy efficiency 

measures had already been included in the budget, and advised that she had given this 

response to Councillor Cooper twice in previous meetings. 

 

On being put to the vote, the motion was lost. 

 

Following a query from Councillor Dent relating to the formula used for calculating precepts, 

the Chief Accountant agreed to go through the setting of the Council Tax Base and Precepts 

with any interested Members. 

 

Councillor Prosser received clarification on the raise to Council Tax which was limited to 2% 

or £5.  It was noted that to increase Council Tax by any more would need a referendum to be 

called. 

 

Members were advised that next year’s budget would be more granular and would include the 

increases to wages and National Insurance contributions, along with the respective increases 

in utility costs. 

Having considered the report and having heard from the Members present, the Scrutiny 

Committee  

 

Resolved that the recommendations to Cabinet and Council be supported. 

36 Performance Monitoring Q2  

Members received a report from the Chief Executive which provided details of service 

performance during Q2.  

 

The Council monitors service performance each quarter, and a report on progress towards 

achieving the aim and priorities set out in the Corporate Plan is produced at the end of Q2 

and Q4.  The Q2 update on progress on the priorities will be encompassed within the Annual 

Monitoring Report and presented to Cabinet in December 2021 followed by the Overview 

and Scrutiny committees. 

The Group Manager for Resident Services introduced the report which drew attention to a 

number of key issues including the lifting of Covid-19 restrictions, the Agile Working Strategy, 

the leisure industry, customer satisfaction rates and website usage. 

 

The fall in average waiting time for calls to be responded to was noted, along with the increase 

in staff numbers within the Planning Department and the impact this was having on workload.  

It was noted that the Revenue and Benefits team had been affected by a number of staff being 

diverted onto Covid Business Grants and Test and Trace processes.   

 

Councillor Dent queried the processes for dealing with fly tipping and in response Mr Dearing 

outlined the digital reporting system which allowed a caller to provide greater information and 

upload photographs where possible.  It was noted that Ubico would report information back 

to Environmental Services if they found evidence. 

 

Councillor Al-Yousuf commented that he had used the web facility but it was not always clear 

if the fly tipping had occurred on private or public land.  He also referred to the map which 

showed mostly red, indicating wide spread instances of fly tipping. 

 

Page 203



Finance and Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

09/February2022 

The Chief Finance Officer explained that the next iteration of this report would be an 

overhaul of the existing design and would include helpful dashboards, providing more visual 

graphs, trends and statistics.   

 

Having considered the report and having heard from the Members and Officers present, it was 

 

Resolved that the report be noted. 

37 Committee Work Programme  

Members received the Committee’s work programme detailing the items to be considered at 

forthcoming meetings. 

 

Councillor Saul provided an update to Members on the progress of the Investment Policy Task 

and Finish Group.  It was noted that there had been many discussions between officers and 

Members since the last meeting but due to the pressures of producing the Budget papers, the 

group had been unable to meet.  A decision had therefore been taken to reconvene post 

Budget setting. 

 

Councillor Saul explained that the renewal of the Arlingclose contract was being looked at and 

the group was mindful to narrow their focus to what the Council wanted from them or any 

potential alternative providers.  He advised that officers were also working alongside the 

group on this and a further update would be provided in due course. 

 

Having considered the report, it was 

 

Resolved that the work programme be noted. 

38 Cabinet Work Programme  

Members received the Cabinet Work Programme and were advised of a number of changes 

since the publication of papers. 

 

Having considered the report, it was 

 

Resolved that the report be noted. 

39 Members Questions  

There were no Member Questions submitted however the Chairman took the opportunity to 

thank all Members of the Committee for their assistance and thanked the officers present for 

their work on this year’s budget. 

 

 

The Meeting closed at 3.27 pm 

 

 

 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 204



 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Cabinet 

Held in the Council Chamber at 2.00 pm on Wednesday, 16 February 2022 

PRESENT 

Councillors:  Michele Mead (Leader), David Harvey (Deputy Leader), Suzi Coul, Merilyn 

Davies, Jane Doughty, Jeff Haine and Norman MacRae MBE. 

Also present, Councillors: Joy Aitman, Alaa Al-Yousuf, Julian Cooper, Derek Cotterill, Colin 

Dingwall, Duncan Enright, Andy Graham, Dan Levy, Mark Johnson and Alex Postan. 

Officers:  Amy Bridgewater-Carnall (Senior Strategic Support Officer), Georgina Dyer (Chief 

Accountant), Mandy Fathers (Business Manager for Operations and Enabling), Elizabeth 

Griffiths (Chief Finance Officer, Deputy Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer), Giles 

Hughes (Chief Executive), Bill Oddy (Group Manager - Commercial Development) and Frank 

Wilson (Group Finance Director - Publica). 

77 Notice of Decisions  

The notice of decisions taken at the meeting held on 19 January 2022 were agreed. 

78 Apologies for Absence  

There were no apologies for absence. 

79 Declarations of Interest  

Councillor Harvey declared an interest in Agenda Item 8 – Discretionary Rate Relief – 

Business Rates because he was a retailer. 

80 Participation of the Public  

There was none. 

81 Receipt of Announcements  

Passing of former Councillor Eve Coles 

Councillor Mead announced the sad death of former District Councillor Eve Coles who had 
recently passed away.  A formal eulogy would be given at the Council meeting next week but 

Members were asked to hold a moments silence in memory of Eve. 

 

Ice Skating in Witney and Carterton 

Councillor Coul was pleased to update Members on the successful take up of the ice skating 

provision in Witney and Carterton.  This had been made possible using funds from the 

Welcome Back fund.  Of the four thousand places available, all but half a dozen had been 

booked, just in time for the half term holidays. 

 

Hedgehog Highways 

Councillor Harvey was delighted to advise that the roll out of the Hedgehog Highway scheme 

had been well received and applications were being received from households hoping to 

receive one of the 250 plaques available. 

 

Page 205



Cabinet 

16/February2022 

 

Consultation on Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

Councillor Haine advised that the Economic & Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee had 

considered the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 : Summary of Consultation report at their meeting last 

week.  The report had been well received with comments made on the housing numbers and 

a member of the public addressing the meeting from the Need not Greed group.   

82 Budget 2022/23  

Members received a report from the Section 151 Officer which asked them to consider the 

revenue budget proposals for 2022/23, the Councils Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 

2030/31, and the level of Council Tax for 2022/23. 

 

The report fulfilled the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 relating to the 

Council’s Treasury Management function, and implementation of the Prudential Code Capital 

Finance System arrangements. Cabinet would recommend the Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Strategy, Capital Programme, Capital Strategy, Investment Strategy and Treasury 

Management Strategy to Council for approval. The report also included the Chief Finance 

Officer’s report on the robustness of estimates and the adequacy of the Council’s reserves. 

 

The report advised that the draft base budget had been considered by Cabinet on 19 January 

and Council on 26 January 2022.  This report updated Members on the proposed changes to 

any expenditure budgets and funding streams and outlined the feedback received from public 

consultation.  In addition, the Council’s suite of financial documents for 2022/23 were also 

included. 

 

The report highlighted the main points including a number of late updates and notifications from 

Central Government.  Whilst the revenue budget remained mainly unchanged, there were 

increased income expectations, an amendment to funding calculated as part of the NNDR I 

submission and adjustments to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and interest on borrowing.  

The budget changes were detailed on page 14 of the document pack. 

 

The report concluded with a summary advising that overall the Council was in a strong position 

this year but funding cuts were expected to pose challenges from next year onwards. The healthy 

reserves cushion the Council from the immediate impact of that, while plans were in place to 

mitigate it by generating further income to reduce the reliance on government funding streams 

beyond our control. All of this was discussed in detail in the Strategy papers and CFOs report 

attached at Annex K to the report. 

 

Councillor Coul introduced the report and reminded Members that this budget had been 

discussed at length at Cabinet and Scrutiny.  Councillor Coul reiterated that the Council was 

in a strong position overall with healthy reserves to help mitigate future funding cuts.  She 

therefore proposed the recommendations as laid out and this was seconded by Councillor 

Mead.  In seconding the proposal, the Leader expressed her thanks to all of the officers 

involved in collating the report which had not been an easy task with a lot of late information 

and additions from government. 

 

Councillor Postan addressed the meeting and reminded Members of the work that the Finance 

Team had undertaken in processing over £100 million in grants to local communities, whilst 

also administering the budget process. 

 

Page 206



Cabinet 

16/February2022 

 

Councillor MacRae added his support and applauded the work of the Finance Team, who had 

worked hard to present this budget, under difficult circumstances. 

 

In response to a query from Councillor Cooper, the Chief Accountant provided clarification 

on the Business Rates pool, administered by Cherwell District Council and explained that the 

budget did not contain details of any potential gain.  She advised that the amount was difficult 

to predict but could be in the region of £300k to £600k.  Mrs Dyer assured the meeting that 

an estimate would be forthcoming in March with a view to the final results being received 

towards the end of May. 

 

Councillor Graham queried how the figure relating to interest on long term loans had been 

reached in paragraph 2.6 of the report.  Mrs Griffiths advised that the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy was a forecast, it had been agreed in the Capital Investment Strategy that the Council 

would make £10 million investment, with the assumption that £10 million would be borrowed 

to achieve this. 

 

Councillor Coul reminded the meeting that the Capital Investment Strategy had been agreed 

and would be reviewed in due course but any potential future investments would undergo full 

scrutiny and could include the provision of solar energy amongst other opportunities. 

 

Having read the report and having heard from the Members present, Cabinet 

 

Resolved that  

 

a) The following be recommended to Council for approval: 
 

(i) The updated Medium Term Financial Strategy in Annex A;  

(ii) General Fund revenue budgets as summarised in Annex B;  

(iii) The Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2030/31 set out in Annex E; 

(iv) Fees and Charges for 2022/23 as set out in Annex D; 

(v) The Council’s Pay Policy Statement as set out in Annex F; 

(vi) The Council’s Capital Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Annex G; 

(vii) The Council’s Investment Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Annex H; 

(viii) The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Annex I; 

(ix) The level of District Council Tax for 2022/23 for a Band D property of £114.38; and 

 

b) the estimate of Business Rates income for 2022/23, as set out in the excerpt from the 

government return NNDR1, in Annex L, and the Parish Precepts and Tax Levels set out in 

Annex M be noted.  

 

83 Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) 

  

Members received a report from the Business Manager for Operations and Enabling which 

sought approval for the Council’s Covid19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) Discretionary Relief 

to local business ratepayers guidelines. 

 

The report advised that on 15 December 2021, the Government announced details of a 

£1.5bn scheme providing Local Authorities with additional funding to help businesses with 

their business rates liabilities to further offset the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.  

Guidance was also issued advising that billing authorities would be responsible for designing 

Page 207



Cabinet 

16/February2022 

 

the scheme that was to operate in their areas.  There were set guidelines that authorities had 

to adhere to and these were outlined at section 1.3 of the report. 

 

Section 2 of the report detailed the qualifying criteria of businesses, ineligible organisations and 

advised that the funding would be awarded to eligible business rate accounts before the 

Council started its annual billing processes for 2022/2023 and would be automatically awarded 

to business rate accounts for the financial year 2021/2022. 

 

Section 3 of the report explained the financial implications and the methodology used to 

recommend that 15% relief was chosen to provide capacity to award relief to any businesses 

that were not identified within the modelling but whom might be eligible. 

 

An alternative option was that Members could consider an alternative percentage rate of 

award to that being recommended. 

 

Councillor Coul introduced the report and highlighted the monumental volume of grants that 

Council officers had been managing and processing.  She reminded Members of the complexity 

of many of the schemes and applauded the accuracy and timeliness of the officers.  Councillor 

Coul requested that her thanks be expressed to all officers involved in administering these 

grants over the past few years.  In proposing the report, Councillor Coul outlined that this 

relief was proposed to help those eligible businesses affected by Covid and would be 

automatically applied to business rate accounts.   

 

This was seconded by Councillor Doughty. 

 
In response to a query from Councillor Graham, officers confirmed that this scheme was not 

the latest one to be referred to in the Business Matters newsletter.  

 

Having read the report and having heard from the Members present, Cabinet 

 

Resolved that 

 

a) the scheme that awarded 15% relief to all eligible businesses in respect of Covid 19 

Additional Relief Funding, be approved; and 

 

b) the Group Manager for Resident Services be requested to implement the scheme. 

 

84 Discretionary Rate Relief - Business Rates (Expanded Retail Discount)  

 

Members received a report from the Business Manager of Operations and Enabling, Mandy 

Fathers which asked them to consider a scheme of rate relief for retail premises as outlined by 

Government in the Autumn Statement 2021. 

 

The report advised that the Government were introducing a new temporary relief for eligible 

retail, hospitality and leisure businesses in England, to support local high street as they adapted 

and recovered for 2022/23.  The report noted that the government recognised that ongoing 

difficulties as well as longer-term challenges continued to face the retail, leisure and hospitality 

sectors. 

 

Therefore, the Chancellor announced in his Autumn Budget that eligible hereditaments would 

receive 50% business rate relief up to a cash cap of £110,000 per business.  Local authorities 

Page 208



Cabinet 

16/February2022 

 

were expected to use their discretionary relief powers (under section 47 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant these discounts in line with the relevant 

edibility criteria as detailed within Annex A to the report. 

 

There were no alternative options available. 

 

Councillor Coul introduced the report and highlighted that this scheme was aimed at assisting 

those businesses mainly affected by the Omicron strain of Covid-19.  She proposed the 

recommendations as laid out and this was seconded by Councillor MacRae who expressed his 

support. 

 

In response to a query from Councillor Levy, the Chief Accountant, Georgina Dyer advised 

that the Council expected to be reimbursed by Government, in line with previous schemes. 

 

Having read the report and having heard from the Members present, Cabinet 

 

Resolved that 

 

a) the Expanded Retail Discount scheme granting 50% relief to eligible businesses as set out 

in Annex A (up to a £110,000 cap), be approved; and 

 

b) the Group Manager for Resident Services be requested to implement the scheme as part 

of the annual billing processes. 

 

85 Planned Expenditure of the Homelessness Prevention Grant 2022/23  
 

Members received a report from the Group Manager for Resident Services which asked them 

to consider the planned expenditure of the Homelessness Prevention Grant for 2022/23. 

 

The report advised that the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Local Communities 

(DLUHC) increased the level of funding allocated to homelessness services in 2021/22 and this 

had continued into 2022/23.  This included an additional small uplift to ensure that local 

authorities were able to meet any new burdens following the implementation of the Domestic 

Abuse Act 2021. 

 

The funding allocated to West Oxfordshire District Council for 2022/23 was £253,328 plus 

the Domestic Abuse New Burdens uplift of £6,828, giving a total of £260,156.  The DLUHC 

had set out its expectations on how this fund was to be spent in a letter to Chief Executives 

dated 21st December 2021. A copy of this was attached at Annex A to the report. 

Section 2.2 of the report outlined how the Council proposed to meet the expectation set by 

DLUHC and further detail on each area was provided in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.10.   

Members were asked to approve the expenditure, along with the delegation of any 

amendments to the allocations, further uplifts or grants to the Housing Manager, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Homelessness and the Chief Finance 

Officer.   

There were no alternative options considered as the allocation was ring fenced to specific 

outcomes, however, Members may want to consider other options that had not been referred 

to within the report  

 

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Homelessness, Councillor Davies, introduced the 

report and signposted members to paragraph 2.2 of the report which outlined where the 

Page 209



Cabinet 

16/February2022 

 

money would be spent.  She reiterated the importance of flexibility when implementing the 

grants, to enable the funds to reach those in need.  Councillor Davies therefore proposed the 

recommendations as laid out and this was seconded by Councillor Harvey. 

 

Councillor Enright addressed the meeting and applauded the progress made in this area over 

the past three to four years.  He expressed his thanks to Councillor Davies and the officers 

involved. 

 

Following a question from Councillor Cooper, the Business Manager for Operational Services 

explained that the allocation of funding displayed in Annex A differed from area to area as a 

result of the different demographics.  The Chief Executive added that this criteria was set by 

Government and was included in the letter from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 

Local Communities.  

 

Councillor Graham added his support to the document and asked that the issue of 

sustainability be brought back to the attention of the minister responsible.  The Leader agreed 

to put the issue back on his radar. 

 

Having read the report and having heard from the Members present, Cabinet 

 

Resolved that 

 

a) the expenditure detailed within paragraphs 2.1 to 2.10 of this report, is approved 

b) the delegation of any amendments to these allocations to the Housing Manager, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Homelessness and the Chief 
Finance Officer, is approved, subject to compliance with the ring fenced grant conditions; 

and  

c) the delegation of any other uplifts or grants that may be given over the financial year to 

contain Covid outbreaks or address increased demands on the Housing Service be given to 

the Housing Manager, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and 

Homelessness and Chief Finance Officer, is approved, subject to compliance with the ring 

fenced grant conditions as set out in 3.1 to 3.5. 
 

 

 

The Meeting closed at 2.27 pm 

 

 

 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 210



WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Audit and General Purposes Committee 

Held in the Committee Room 1, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney at 6.00 pm on 

Thursday, 17 February 2022 

PRESENT 

Councillors:  Alex Postan (Chairman), Dan Levy (Vice-Chair),  Joy Aitman, Andrew Beaney, 

Julian Cooper, Rupert Dent, Colin Dingwall, Harry Eaglestone, Gill Hill, Richard Langridge, 

Martin McBride and Elizabeth Poskitt. 

Officers:  Elizabeth Griffiths (Chief Finance Officer, Deputy Chief Executive and Section 151 

Officer), Lucy Cater (SWAP) and Amy Bridgewater-Carnall (Democratic Services Manager). 

27 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2022 were approved and signed by the 

Chairman as a correct record. 

28 Apologies for Absence  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jake Acock, Duncan Enright and Alex 

Wilson. 

29 Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest received. 

30 Participation of the Public  

There was none. 

31 External Audit Contract  

 

Members received a report from the Section 151 Officer which asked them to consider the 

options for procuring the Council’s external audit services for the period from 2023/24 and to 
make a recommendation to Council. 

 

The report advised that the process for re-tendering for External Audit in Local Authorities in 

England, for contracts due to start from 2023/24, was now underway and the Council needed 

to decide whether to procure its own External Auditor or opt into the National Procurement 

Framework.   

 

The procurement process and contract management presented an administrative burden to 

the Council, however, this was currently performed by PSAA.  PSAA has now built up 

considerable expertise and has been working hard to address the issue that has arisen with the 

Contracts over the last couple of years.  The PSAA Prospectus is included at Annex A and 

included a proposed timescale for the procurement which was due to commence in February 

2022 and award contracts in August 2022. 

 

An alternative option was that the Council could procure its own contract for External Audit 

services.   However, this option lacked the benefits of economies of scale offered by the PSAA 

route and crystallises the risks in the External Audit market as set out in paragraphs 1.4 to 1.6 

of the report. 

 

The Chief Finance Officer introduced the report and advised that it was the framework 

agreement that was up for renewal.  West Oxfordshire District Council would retain the 

Page 211



Audit and General Purposes Committee 

17/February2022 

service from Grant Thornton for another year and having spoken to other S151 officers, many 

authorities were struggling with their external audit service. 

 

Mrs Griffiths reiterated the difficulties experienced in finishing the audits, citing Covid, staff 

sickness and shortages at Grant Thornton as the main issues.  This had resulted in 

replacement officers approaching Council officers for further information, despite assurances 

that they were nearing the end of their enquiries.  This had added to the pressure on Council 

officers. 

 

Members discussed the potential pitfalls of procuring a contract outside of PSAA, which could 

involve greater scrutiny, officer time and money in the long run.  In response to a query from 

Councillor Dent, Mrs Griffiths could not say for definite which firms were on the PSAA list 

but thought it would probably include Grant Thornton. 

 

Councillor McBride noted the instability of the sector nationally and felt it would be beneficial 

to stay with the stability of PSAA.   

 

Councillor Cooper queried if Grant Thornton’s delay in finishing the audit of the accounts 

would result in reduction in costs for the Council.  He also asked if the LGA had done 

anything with government departments to address the issue.  In response to his query relating 

to the Council working with bordering authorities such as Warwickshire, officers advised that 

Warwick District had also agreed to continue with PSAA and had not procured their own 

contracts. 

 

Mrs Griffiths felt that the fee set by Grant Thornton originally had likely been surpassed a 
while ago, considering the level of work and length of time it had taken to progress the audit. 

 

The Chairman suggested that the Committee write to the LGA expressing their concerns and 

asking if they could progress the issue. 

 

Having considered the report, and having discussed the options with the officers present, the 

Committee 

 

Resolved that 

a) the options for procuring the Council’s external audit service for the period from 2023/24 

are noted; and 

b) Recommends to Council procurement through the National Procurement Framework 

using Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd. 

 

32 Annual Governance Statement - Action Plan  

 

Members received a report from the Chief Executive which presented an update on the 

Governance Action Plan for /. 

 

Members were asked to note progress against items in the Governance Action Plan for 

2021/22. 

 

The Committee discussed various aspects of the report along with the presentation or 

progress.  Councillor Levy queried if the document covered everything and asked if there 

were any other ‘unknowns’.  Officers confirmed that service areas and Management Teams 

Page 212



Audit and General Purposes Committee 

17/February2022 

questioned and flagged issues during the Risk Register process.  This meant that operational 

risks flowed upwards to a strategic level. 

 

Councillor Postan felt that the flow of information to Publica was not as flexible as it could be.  

He outlined the issue of the responsibility of a recent flooding report falling to one individual. 

 

The issue of how Publica operated and how this was communicated to Members was raised, 

and whether responsibility sat with the Leader to disseminate the information.  The Chief 

Finance Officer highlighted the Group Leader meeting where information was passed on and 

the new process which involved bi-monthly meetings where risks and issues were raised and 

managers could feed back any blockers. 

 

Following a suggestion from the Chairman, it was highlighted that political attendance at 

operational officer meetings was not appropriate but Members could encourage Cabinet to 

look at the communication methods currently being used. 

 

Councillor Cooper reiterated his concerns in relation to the set up and communication 

involved with Ubico.   

 

In summary, it was noted that Cabinet should be more involved in the flow of communication 

between Publica and Members, and vice versa. 

 

Resolved that progress against items in the Governance Action Plan for 2021/22 is noted. 

 

33 Corporate Risk Register Updates and Updated Risk and Opportunity Management Strategy  
 

The Committee received a report from the Chief Executive which updated Members on the 

changes to the Council’s corporate risk register at the end of Quarter Two of 2020/21 and 

put before them a revised Risk and Opportunity Management Strategy for approval. 

 

The Corporate Risk Register 2021/22 was attached at Annex A along with the Proposed Risk 

and Opportunity Management Strategy at Annex B. 

 

The report highlighted that Risk and Opportunity Management was the process used to 

identify, evaluate and manage the whole range of business risks and opportunities facing an 

organisation.  This process was vital to ensure the effective operation of the Council and 

delivery of its Corporate Plan.  

 

The Risk Register had been reviewed with a number of risk removed as either no longer 

relevant, or managed to a sufficient level of risk and passed back to the appropriate Business 

Manager as an operational risk.  It was noted that further to the new Risk and Opportunity 

Management Strategy, there would need to be further work to ensure significant risks and 

opportunities identified by Group and Business Managers were escalated for inclusion in the 

Corporate Register.  This work was on-going and would be reflected in future registers 

reported to the Committee. 

 

A number of specific risks were discussed and officers explained that some descriptions had 

changed because it had been felt that the Strategic Risk Register was too generic.  Mrs 

Griffiths advised that the document should be highlighting the biggest risks being recognised 

now, with actions to chase up mitigation or resolution of the issues.  She used the Salt Cross 

roundabout as an example and highlighted the need for the document to be specific. 

Page 213



Audit and General Purposes Committee 

17/February2022 

 

Councillor Langridge raised an issue relating to risk WO-016 which he felt should be ‘beefed 

up’ to include lines of reporting and wished to see it expanded. 

 

Councillor Levy reminded the meeting that when the Council did anything, it created a new 

risk but the document needed to be constantly updated to include the latest projects. 

 

The issue of lines of communication from Publica to Members was raised again with 

Councillors querying how some issues would be reported back.  However, there was a 

division of opinion with the Committee with some Members feeling that long term risks 

should be included, and this document was too short to mid-term.   

 

Clarification was provided on the work being carried out to the revision of the Local Plan and 

how the Local Management Team highlighted risks to scrutiny committees for discussion. 

 

Having considered the report it was  

 

Resolved that  

(a) the corporate risk register be noted; and  

(b) the Risk and Opportunity Management Strategy at Annex B be approved. 

 

34 Internal Audit Progress Report  

 

Members received a report from the Chief Finance Officer which presented a summary of the 

audit work concluded since the last meeting of this Committee as outlined in the Report of 
Internal Activity 2021/22, attached as Annex A to the report. 

 

The report advised that the Internal Audit Service was provided to the Council by SWAP 

Internal Audit Services (SWAP), a local authority-controlled company. 

The report attached at Annex A set out the work undertaken by SWAP for the Council since 

the last meeting of this Committee. It followed the risk-based auditing principles and, 

therefore, this was an opportunity for the Committee to be aware of emerging issues which 

had resulted from SWAP involvement. 

 

Mrs Cater from SWAP was in attendance, outlined the report and answered queries from the 

Committee. 

 

Councillor Langridge noted that there was a lot of detail in the report but felt it was a struggle 

to pick out the key issues and asked if this could be presented differently.  Mrs Cater 

confirmed that officers were looking at introducing a ‘dashboard’ style, similar to other 

Council reports. 

 

The Chief Finance Officer outlined the changes that had been made to the style of reports 

reducing it from 30 pages to six. 

 

Councillor Dingwall signposted Members to the fact that with emergency planning, some 

‘Gold Officers’ had not been trained for three years.  The issues relating to the non-delivery of 

reports from Grant Thornton was discussed along with the impact this had had on Council 

officers. 

 

Having read the report, it was 

Page 214



Audit and General Purposes Committee 

17/February2022 

 

Resolved the report is noted. 

 

 

 

The Meeting closed at 7.22 pm 

 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No. 11 

  

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Schedule of documents sealed out of meeting by the Chairman and the Head of Democratic 

Services, since the last meeting of the Council. 

 

Registration 

Number 

Description of documents Parties in addition to the 

Council 

11948 

 

11948A 

Licence to Alter – Units 3 & 4 at Talisman 

Business Centre, London Road, Bicester 

Duplicate 

SRD Engineering Ltd (2) 

11949 Deed of Extension of Contract – to provide 

intensive housing and employment support to 

rough sleepers and people affected by 

Homelessness 

Cottsway Housing 

Association Ltd (2) Aspire 

Oxfordshire Community 

Enterprise Ltd (3) 

11950 

 

 

11950A 

Contract to Install and Operate Electric Vehicle 

Charging Points and Equipment across 5 

WODC Car parks. Plus plan 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) 

11951 

 

 

11951A 

Deed of Guarantee – Installation and operation 

of electric vehicle charging points in 5 WODC 

Car parks 

Duplicate 

Zeta Specialist Lighting Ltd 

(1) 

11952 

 

11952A 

11952B 

11952C 

Section 106 Agreement – Land East of 

Swinbrook, Carterton plus plans 

Duplicate 

Triplicate 

Quaduplicate 

Robert James Brickell (1) 

Burrington Estates 

(Midlands) Ltd (2) The 

Oxfordshire County 

Council (4) 

11953 Temporary Road Closure – Burford 

Remembrance Service on Sunday 14 November 

2021 plus plan 

Burford Town Council (2) 

11954 Temporary Road Closure – Two Minute Silence 

at London Road War Memorial, Chipping 

Norton on Thursday 11 November 2021plus 

plan 

Chipping Norton Town 

Council (1) 

11955 Temporary Road Closure – Carterton 

Remembrance Day Service on Sunday 14 

November 2021 plus plan 

Carterton Town Council 

(1) 

11956 Temporary Road Closure – Chipping Norton 

Remembrance Service on Sunday 14 November 

2021 plus plan 

Chipping Norton Town 

Council (1) 

11957 Temporary Road Closure – Witney 

Remembrance Day Service on Sunday 14 

November 2021 plus plan 

Witney Town Council (1) 

11958 Contract for Provision of Support Services for 

Homelessness 

Aspire Oxfordshire 

Community Enterprice 

Ltd (2) 

11959 Temporary Road Closure – Woodstock 

Remembrance Day Service on Sunday 14 

November 2021 plus plan 

Woodstock Town Council 

(1) 

11960 Licence for Alterations – Units 3, 4 & 5 at the 

Woolgate Centre, Witney 

Universites 

Superannuation Scheme 

Page 217

Agenda Item 11



Ltd (2) Superdrug Stores 

PLC (3) 

11961 

 

11961A 

11961B 

S106 Deed of Variation – Land West of Quarhill 

Close, Over Norton  

Duplicate 

Triplicate 

Jayacee Developments Ltd 

(2) Builders Ede Ltd (3) 

11962 

 

11962A 

Licence to Alter – Part of Land in New Street 

Car Park, Chipping Norton 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11963 

 

11963A 

Licence to Alter – Part Land in Hensington Road 

Car Park, Woodstock 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11964 

 

11964A 

Licence to Alter – Part Land in Black Bourton 

Road Car Park, Carterton  

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11965 

 

11965A 

Licence to Alter – Part Land in Woodford Way 

Car Park, Witney 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11966 

 

11966A 

Licence to Alter – Part Land in Back Lane Car 

Park, Eynsham 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11967 

 

11967A 

Lease – Part Land in New Street Car Park, 

Chipping Norton - Plus Plans 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11968 

 

11968A 

Lease – Part Land in Hensington Road Car Park, 

Woodstock - Plus Plans 

Duplicate  

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11969 

 

11969A 

Lease – Part Land in Black Bourton Road Car 

Park, Carterton – Plus Plans 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11970 

 

11970A 

Lease – Part Land in Woodford Way Car Park, 

Witney – Plus Plans 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11971 

 

11971A 

Lease – Park Land in Back Lane Car Park, 

Eynsham – Plus Plans 

Duplicate 

EZ Charge Ltd (2) Zeta 

Specialist Lighting Ltd (3) 

11972 Temporary Road Closure – Carterton 

Christmas Lights and Street Fair on Friday 3 

December 2021 1600 to 2030 hours – plus plan 

Carterton Town Council 

(1) 

11973 Temporary Road Closure – Witney Christmas 

Lights on Friday 26 November 2021 1400 to 

2130 hours – plus plan 

Ron Spurs (1) 

11974 

 

11974A 

Tenancy at Will – North Leigh Play Area, 

Windmill Road, Norton Leigh plus plan 

Duplicate  

North Leigh Paris Council 

(2)  

11975 Temporary Road Closure – Eynsham Christmas 

Lights on Friday 3 December 2021 1600 to 2030 

hours  

Rebecca Coyne (1) 

11976 

 

11976A 

JCT Minor Works Building Contract 2016 – The 

Old Court House, 28 Bridge Street, Witney 

Duplicate 

Inside Out Developments 

Ltd (2) 

11977 Rent Review Memorandum – Unit D Swain 

Court, Downs Road, Witney 

Simon Bloxham (2)  

Page 218



11978 Lease – Unit E Swain Court, Downs Road, 

Witney 

Simon Bloxham (2) 

11979 

 

 

11979A 

Deed of Release of Restrictive Covenant – 

Routing Agreement at Marriots Close 

playground, Witney Plus Plan 

Duplicate 

Oxfordshire County 

Council (1) 

11980 TP1 Transfer of Part – Unterhaching Park and 

Woodland, Woodford Park, Witney Plus Plan 

Witney Town Council (2) 

11981 

 

11981A 

11981B 

Deed of Covernant – Overage Clause – 

Unterhaching Park, Woodford Way, Witney 

Duplicate 

Triplicate 

Witney Town Council (2) 

The Charities Aid 

Foundation (3) 

11982 Rent Review Memorandum – Unit C Swain 

Court Industrial Estate , Witney 

Daniel Dixon (2) 

11983 

 

 

11983A 

11983B 

11983C 

11983D 

11983e 

Deed of Variation to a Partnering Agreement 

Relating to a Pooled Budget for the 

Commissioning of Domestic Abuse Services 

Duplicate 

Triplicate 

Qauduplicate 

Quintuplicate 

Sextuplicate 

Cherwell District Council 

(1) Oxford City Council 

(2) Oxfordshire County 

Council (3) South 

Oxfordshire District 

Council (4) Off of the 

Police and Crime 

Commissioner for Thames 

Valley (6) 

11984 Licence to Alter – Land at Downs Road (known 

as Plot G), Witney 

Coopers Property 

Holdings Ltd (1) Ubico Ltd 

(3) 

11985 

 

 

11985A 

11985B 

11985C 

Deed of Easement – Easement strip forming 

part of land at Kilkenny Country Park, 

Carterton Plus plan 

Duplicate 

Triplicate 

Quadruplicate 

TH Carterton Ltd (2) 

Paragon Development 

Finance Ltd (3) BK 

Development Group Ltd 

(4) 

11986 

 

11986A 

Section 106 Agreement – Land at Units 2-3 

Stanton Harcourt Road, Eynsham plus plan 

Duplicate 

SDC (Anglia) Ltd (2) 

11987 Lease – Ground Floor Room & First Floor 

Rooms at The Guildhall, Middle Row, Chipping 

Norton Plus Plans 

Make Space Oxford C.I.C 

(1)  

11988 

 

11988A 

Deed of Variation – Land East of Nethercote 

Road, Tackley Plus Plans 

Duplicate 

BH Tackley LLP (2) 

11989 Form DS1 – 86 Main Road, Long Hanborough  

11990 Form DS1 – 48 The Sands, Milton-Under-

Wychwood 

 

11991 

11991A 

11991B 

11991C 

11991D 

11991E 

Partnering Agreement – Homelessness 

Duplicate 

Triplicate 

Quaduplicate 

Quintuplicate 

Sextuplicate 

Cherwell District Council 

(1) Oxford City Council 

(2) Oxfordshire County 

Council (3) South 

Oxfordshire District 

Council (4) Vale of White 

Horse (5) 

Page 219



11992 

 

 

11992A 

Rent Reivew Memorandum – Plot 1, Phase 2A, 

Carterton Industrial Estate , Black Bourton, 

Carterton 

Duplicate 

R Oakey & Sons (1)  

11993 

 

11993A 

11993B 

11993C 

11993D 

11993E 

11993F 

11993G 

 

Section 106 Agreement – Land South of 

Milestone Road, Carterton plus plans 

Duplicate 

Triplicate 

Quaduplicate 

Quintuplicate 

Sextuplicate 

Septuplicate 

Octuplicate 

Ibis Health Care Ltd (in 

capacity as First Owner) 

(1) Christopher Rhodes 

Watts & Joseph Thomas 

Watts (in capacity as 

Second Owner) (2) RJ & 

EA Matthews & Daughters 

Ltd (in capacity as First 

Charge) (3) Vanessa Susan 

Watts (in capacity as 

Second Charge (4) 

Vanessa Susan Watts & 

Joseph Thomas Watts (in 

capacity as Third Charge) 

(5) Platform Housing Ltd 

(6) Oxfordshire County 

Council (8) 

 

Page 220


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Recommendations from the Executive and the Council's Committees or Sub-Committees
	7 Constitution of the Council
	Item 7 - Annex A - Constitution April 2022
	Item 7 - Annex B - WODC Code of Conduct
	Item 7 - Annex C - Local Hearing Panel Procedure Rules

	9 Emergency / Urgency Delegated Decisions
	10 Report of the Cabinet and the Council's Committees
	c) FMOS Mins - 09.02.22
	e) Cabinet mins - 16.02.22
	f) A&GP Mins - 17 Feb 2022

	11 Sealing of Documents

